
LEGISLATIVE OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Tuesday, October 23, 2018 
 
 
 

 
 

Contents 
Agenda ......................................................................................................... 2 

Minutes from Previous Meeting…………………………………………………………….3 

Subcommittee Studies…………………………………………………………………. 14 

South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs……………14 

South Carolina Department of Revenue .............................................. 103 

Committee Contact Information ............................................................ 162 

 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 1



AGENDA 
 

South Carolina 

House of Representatives  
 

 
 

Legislative Oversight Committee 
 

Tuesday, October 23, 2018 

Room 110 - Blatt Building  

10:00 a.m.* 

Pursuant to Committee Rule 4.9, S.C. ETV shall be allowed access for internet 

streaming whenever technologically feasible. 
 

AGENDA 
 

 I. Approval of minutes  

 

 II. Discussion of studies of agencies, if notice is received on or before October 23,   

   2018, in accordance with Standard Practice 12.5 

 

  There are currently four subcommittee studies in the drafting phase:  

 

• Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee’s Study of the Department of 
 Disabilities and Special Needs;  

• Economic Development, Transportation, and Natural Resources Subcommittee’s 
 Study of Department of Revenue;   

• Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice Subcommittee’s Study of the Commission 
 on Prosecution Coordination; and 

• Executive Subcommittee’s Study of the Department of Parks, Recreation, and 
 Tourism. 

 

Additional subcommittee studies of agencies may move to the drafting phase as various 
subcommittees continue to meet.  
 

III. Discussion of Committee administrative matters 

     

 IV. Adjournment 

 

*It is anticipated the Committee will break for lunch. 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 2



MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETING 
  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 3



 

Legislative Oversight Committee Meeting  

Tuesday, June 26, 2018 

Blatt Building Room 110 

1:00 p.m. 

 

Archived Video Available 

 

I. Pursuant to House Legislative Oversight Committee Rule 6.8, South Carolina ETV 

was allowed access for streaming the meeting.  You may access an archived video 

of this meeting by visiting the South Carolina General Assembly’s website 

(http://www.scstatehouse.gov) and clicking on Committee Postings and Reports, 

then under House Standing Committees click on Legislative Oversight.  Then, click 

on Video Archives for a listing of archived videos for the Committee. 

 

Attendance 

 

I. The House Legislative Oversight Committee is called to order by Chair Wm. 

Weston J. Newton on Tuesday, June 26, 2018, in Room 110 of the Blatt Building.  

All members of the Committee are present for all or a portion of the meeting, 

except: Representative Katherine E. “Katie” Arrington, Representative Jeffrey E. 

Johnson, Representative Tommy M. Stringer, and Representative Neal A. Collins.  

Minutes 

 

 Chair Wm. Weston J. Newton  
First Vice-Chair: 

Laurie Slade Funderburk   
Legislative Oversight Committee 

Katherine E. “Katie” Arrington 

Gary E. Clary 

Chandra E. Dillard 

MaryGail K. Douglas 

Phyllis J. Henderson 

Joseph H. Jefferson Jr. 

Robert L. Ridgeway, III 

Tommy M. Stringer 

Bill Taylor 
 

Bruce W. Bannister 

William K. “Bill” Bowers 

Neal Collins 

William M. “Bill” Hixon 

Jeffrey E. “Jeff” Johnson 

Mandy Powers Norrell 

Edward R. Tallon Sr. 

Robert Q. Williams 

John Taliaferro “Jay” West, IV 

South Carolina House of Representatives 
Jennifer L. Dobson 

Research Director 

 

 

Post Office Box 11867 

Columbia, South Carolina 29211 

Telephone: (803) 212-6810 • Fax: (803) 212-6811 
 

Room 228 Blatt Building 

Charles L. Appleby IV 

Legal Counsel 

Cathy A. Greer 

Administration Coordinator 
Carmen J. McCutcheon Simon 

Research Analyst/Auditor 

 

 Kendra H. Wilkerson 

Fiscal/Research Analyst 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 4



I. House Rule 4.5 requires standing committees to prepare and make available to the 

public the minutes of committee meetings, but the minutes do not have to be 

verbatim accounts of meetings.   

II. Chairman Newton calls the meeting to order.  

III. Representative Robert Q. Williams moves to approve the minutes from the 

Committee’s meeting on May 3, 2018.  A roll call vote is held, and the motion  

passes. 

 

 

Discussion of the Study of Department of Natural Resources  

 

I. Representative Edward R. Tallon, Sr., presents an overview of the study of the 

Department of Natural Resources.  Representative Tallon’s presentation includes an 

Representative Williams’ motion to approve 

the minutes from the May 3, 2018 meeting: Yea Nay 
Not Voting: 

Present 

Not Voting: 

Absent 

Katherine E. Arrington     

Bruce W. Bannister     

William K. Bowers     

Gary E. Clary     

Neal Collins     

Chandra E. Dillard     

MaryGail Douglas     

Laurie Slade Funderburk     

Phyllis Henderson     

Bill Hixon     

Joseph H. Jefferson, Jr.     

Jeffery E. Johnson     

Mandy Powers Norrell     

Robert L. Ridgeway, III     

Tommy Stringer     

Edward R. Tallon     

Bill Taylor     

John T. West     

Robert Q. Williams     

Wm. Weston J. Newton     

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 5



overview of the agency’s history, organizational structure, legal directives, and 

organizational units.    

 

Representative Tallon presents the Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice 

Subcommittee’s finding and 114 recommendations for the Department of Natural 

Resources.  The recommendations are categorized according to (1) agency strategic 

planning and performance; (2) agency policies; (3) state resources; and (4) consumer 

services. 

 

II. Mr. Mike Caston (member of the public) provides testimony regarding the advisory 

committee for the state water plan.  Chairman Newton reminds Mr. Caston that he is 

under oath. 

 

III. Mr. Norman Pulliam (Chairman of the DNR Board) provides remarks about the agency. 

Chairman Newton reminds Mr. Pulliam that is under oath.  

 

IV. Director Alvin Taylor provides remarks and answers questions from committee 

members.  Chairman Newton reminds Director Taylor that he is under oath.  

  

V. Representative Tallon moves that the Committee adopt the Subcommittee Study in full, 

with corrections to any scrivener’s errors and revising the wording of Recommendation 

#24 which relates to the annual statistics on law enforcement agencies across the state.  

Recommendation #24 is on page 141 of the meeting packet.  The revisions requested are 

based on communication with the Criminal Justice Academy regarding information they 

have readily available that would allow production of the report without incurring 

additional costs.  The specific revisions requested are to eliminate part (2) of the 

recommendation, number of advanced hours of training, since the Criminal Justice 

Academy only collects data on whether the training is completed, not the number of 

hours; and eliminate part (6) retention rate for past ten years, since the Criminal Justice 

Academy currently collects that information, but has not collected it for at least ten 

years.  A roll call vote is held, and the motion passes. 

 

Representative Tallon’s motion that the Committee 

adopt the Subcommittee Study in full, with 

corrections to any scrivener’s errors and revising 

the wording of Recommendation #24 which relates 

to the annual statistics on law enforcement agencies 

across the state.  Recommendation #24 is on page 

141 of the meeting packet.  The revisions requested 

are based on communication with the Criminal 

Justice Academy regarding information they have 

readily available that would allow production of the 

report without incurring additional costs.  The 

specific revisions requested are to eliminate part (2) 

of the recommendation, number of advanced hours 

of training, since the Criminal Justice Academy 

Yea Nay 

Not 

Voting: 

Present 

Not 

Voting: 

Absent 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 6



only collects data on whether the training is 

completed, not the number of hours; and eliminate 

part (6) retention rate for past ten years, since the 

Criminal Justice Academy currently collects that 

information, but has not collected it for at least ten 

years. 

 

Katherine E. Arrington     

Bruce W. Bannister     

William K. Bowers     

Gary E. Clary     

Neal Collins     

Chandra E. Dillard     

MaryGail Douglas     

Laurie Slade Funderburk     

Phyllis Henderson     

Bill Hixon     

Joseph H. Jefferson, Jr.     

Jeffery E. Johnson     

Mandy Powers Norrell     

Robert L. Ridgeway, III     

Tommy Stringer     

Edward R. Tallon     

Bill Taylor     

John T. West     

Robert Q. Williams     

Wm. Weston J. Newton     

 

Discussion of the Study of the Adjutant General’s Office 

 

I. Representative Gary E. Clary provides an overview of the study of the Adjutant 

General’s office, including an overview of the agency’s history and organizational 

structure.  

 

II. Representative Clary presents 16 recommendations from the Executive 

Subcommittee’s study of the agency. Recommendation topics include: (1) S.C. Youth 

ChalleNGe Academy (SCYCA) and STARBASE Swampfox (STARBASE); (2) S.C. 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 7



Military Museum; (3) S.C. Emergency Management Division; (4) agency processes; 

(5) real property; and (6) laws. 

 

III. Major General R. Van McCarty, the Assistant Adjutant General, answers questions 

from Committee members.  Chairman Newton reminds Major General Van McCarty 

that he is under oath.  

 

IV. Representative Clary moves that the Committee adopt the Subcommittee Study in 

full, with the addition of the proposed appendix.  A copy of the proposed appendix is 

in each member’s meeting packet.  It was not included in the Subcommittee study 

report because it was not received until after the report was drafted.  However, 

Representative Clary believe this summary of information the agency provided about 

the differences in the military artifacts and exhibits at various state agencies, would 

be a valuable addition to the full committee study report.  A roll call vote is held, and 

the motion passes. 

 

Representative Clary moves that the Committee 

adopt the Subcommittee Study in full, with the 

addition of the proposed appendix.  A copy of the 

proposed appendix is in each member’s meeting 

packet.  It was not included in the Subcommittee 

study report because it was not received until after 

the report was drafted.  However, Representative 

Clary believes that this summary of information the 

agency provided about the differences in the 

military artifacts and exhibits at various state 

agencies, would be a valuable addition to the full 

committee study report. 

 

Yea Nay 

Not 

Voting: 

Present 

Not 

Voting: 

Absent 

Katherine E. Arrington     

Bruce W. Bannister     

William K. Bowers     

Gary E. Clary     

Neal Collins     

Chandra E. Dillard     

MaryGail Douglas     

Laurie Slade Funderburk     

Phyllis Henderson     

Bill Hixon     

Joseph H. Jefferson, Jr.     

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 8



Jeffery E. Johnson     

Mandy Powers Norrell     

Robert L. Ridgeway, III     

Tommy Stringer     

Edward R. Tallon     

Bill Taylor     

John T. West     

Robert Q. Williams     

Wm. Weston J. Newton     

 

Discussion of the Study of Patriot’s Point Development Authority   

 

I. Representative Joseph H. Jefferson, Jr., provides an overview of the Education and 

Cultural Subcommittee’s study of the Patriot’s Point Development Authority, 

including an overview of the agency’s history and organizational structure.  

 

II. Representative Jefferson presents the Education and Cultural Subcommittee’s finding 

and four recommendations.  These recommendations fall into three categories: 

recommendations for the General Assembly; recommendations for PPDA; and 

recommendations for the State Fiscal Accountability Authority and/or the General 

Assembly.  

 

III. Representative Jefferson moves that the Committee approve the Subcommittee's 

study and incorporate in the study report a notation that the agency has started to 

transfer records to the Department of Archives and History.  A roll call vote is held, 

and the motion passes.  

 

Representative Jefferson moves that the 

Committee approve the Subcommittee's study and 

incorporate in the study report a notation that the 

agency has started to transfer records to the 

Department of Archives and History. 

  

Yea Nay 

Not 

Voting: 

Present 

Not 

Voting: 

Absent 

Katherine E. Arrington     

Bruce W. Bannister     

William K. Bowers     

Gary E. Clary     

Neal Collins     

Chandra E. Dillard     

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 9



MaryGail Douglas     

Laurie Slade Funderburk     

Phyllis Henderson     

Bill Hixon     

Joseph H. Jefferson, Jr.     

Jeffery E. Johnson     

Mandy Powers Norrell     

Robert L. Ridgeway, III     

Tommy Stringer     

Edward R. Tallon     

Bill Taylor     

John T. West     

Robert Q. Williams     

Wm. Weston J. Newton     

 

Discussion of the Study of John de la Howe School 

 

I. State Inspector General Brian Lamkin presents an overview of the Inspector General 

Office’s recent review of the John de la Howe School.  Chairman Newton reminds 

the Inspector General that he is under oath.  

 

II. Representative Jefferson presents an overview of the Education and Cultural 

Subcommittee’s study of John de la Howe School. 

 

Representative Jefferson presents the subcommittee’s finding and four 

recommendations.  The subcommittee’s recommendations fall into four categories: 

(1) wilderness program; (2) governance; (3) marketing and partner relationships; and 

(4) records management.  

 

III. Representative Jefferson moves that the Committee approve the Subcommittee's 

study and incorporate in the study report the following: (1) amend recommendation 

#5 to remove reference to changing the title of the chief administrator; (2) have full 

study report reflect the new membership of the board of the John de la Howe School; 

(3) include the Inspector General's Limited Review of the John de la Howe School 

Operations and 2017 Feasibility Report as an appendix to the report; (4) follow up 

with the agency at the end of the calendar year to obtain an update on the agency's 

implementation of recommendations from the committee and the Inspector General; 

and (5) recommend that the school and its foundation operate separately, which 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 10



includes prohibiting the school's president from having single signature authority on 

checks.  A roll call vote is held, and the motion passes.  

 

Representative Jefferson moves that the Committee 

approve the Subcommittee's study and incorporate 

in the study report the following: (1) amend 

recommendation #5 to remove reference to changing 

the title of the chief administrator; (2) have full 

study report reflect the new membership of the 

board of the John de la Howe School; (3) include 

the Inspector General's Limited Review of the John 

de la Howe School Operations and 2017 Feasibility 

Report as an appendix to the report; (4) follow up 

with the agency at the end of the calendar year to 

obtain an update on the agency's implementation of 

recommendations from the committee and the 

Inspector General; and (5) recommend that the 

school and its foundation operate separately, which 

includes prohibiting the school's president from 

having single signature authority on checks.  

Yea Nay 

Not 

Voting: 

Present 

Not 

Voting: 

Absent 

Katherine E. Arrington     

Bruce W. Bannister     

William K. Bowers     

Gary E. Clary     

Neal Collins     

Chandra E. Dillard     

MaryGail Douglas     

Laurie Slade Funderburk     

Phyllis Henderson     

Bill Hixon     

Joseph H. Jefferson, Jr.     

Jeffery E. Johnson     

Mandy Powers Norrell     

Robert L. Ridgeway, III     

Tommy Stringer     

Edward R. Tallon     

Bill Taylor     

John T. West     

Robert Q. Williams     

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 11



Wm. Weston J. Newton     

Discussion of the Study of Commission for Minority Affairs 

 

I. Representative Bruce W. Bannister presents an overview of the Economic 

Development, Transportation, and Natural Resources Subcommittee’s study on the 

Commission for Minority Affairs, including the Subcommittee’s “no confidence” 

finding regarding the agency.  

 

II. CMA Director Thomas J. Smith answers questions from committee members.  

Chairman Newton reminds Director Smith that he is under oath.  

  

III. Committee members discuss the study of the Commission for Minority Affairs, 

including a discussion of Representative Mandy Powers Norrell’s member statement.  

 

IV. Representative Bannister moves that the Committee approve the Subcommittee's 

study and incorporate in the study report the update to reflect that H. 3177 has now 

been enacted, as well as the recommendation from Rep. Powers Norrell's member 

statement, that the Governor consider replacing the agency board members.  A roll 

call vote is held, and the motion passes.  

 

Representative Bannister moves that the Committee 

approve the Subcommittee's study and incorporate 

in the study report the update to reflect that H. 

3177 has now been enacted, as well as the 

recommendation from Rep. Powers Norrell's 

member statement, that the Governor consider 

replacing the agency board members. 

Yea Nay 

Not 

Voting: 

Present 

Not 

Voting: 

Absent 

Katherine E. Arrington     

Bruce W. Bannister     

William K. Bowers     

Gary E. Clary     

Neal Collins     

Chandra E. Dillard     

MaryGail Douglas     

Laurie Slade Funderburk     

Phyllis Henderson     

Bill Hixon     

Joseph H. Jefferson, Jr.     

Jeffery E. Johnson     

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 12



Mandy Powers Norrell     

Robert L. Ridgeway, III     

Tommy Stringer     

Edward R. Tallon     

Bill Taylor     

John T. West     

Robert Q. Williams     

Wm. Weston J. Newton     

Administrative Matters 

I. Chairman Newton thanks the members for their time and contributions to this 

Committee.  He reminds members that Subcommittee member statements are not 

included in the full committee study unless the statement is re-submitted for the 

purpose of inclusion in the full committee study.  He further reminds members 

that the adoption of a study does not preclude the committee from making further 

inquiries of the agency in the future. 

  

II. Chairman Newton discusses a proposed revision of the committee’s standard 

practices as it relates to granting extensions to agencies under study.  The revision 

does not require approval form the committee, and the Chairman asks for any 

comments or concerns to be presented now.  There are no questions or comments 

and the revision is adopted.  

 

III. There being no further business, the meeting is adjourned.  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 13



Mandy Powers Norrell     

Robert L. Ridgeway, III     

Tommy Stringer     

Edward R. Tallon     

Bill Taylor     

John T. West     

Robert Q. Williams     

Wm. Weston J. Newton     

Administrative Matters 

I. Chairman Newton thanks the members for their time and contributions to this 

Committee.  He reminds members that Subcommittee member statements are not 

included in the full committee study unless the statement is re-submitted for the 

purpose of inclusion in the full committee study.  He further reminds members 

that the adoption of a study does not preclude the committee from making further 

inquiries of the agency in the future. 

  

II. Chairman Newton discusses a proposed revision of the committee’s standard 

practices as it relates to granting extensions to agencies under study.  The revision 

does not require approval form the committee, and the Chairman asks for any 

comments or concerns to be presented now.  There are no questions or comments 

and the revision is adopted.  

 

III. There being no further business, the meeting is adjourned.  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 14



SUBCOMMITTEE STUDY OF DEPARTMENT OF 
DISABILITIES AND SPECIAL NEEDS 

 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 15



Legislative Oversight Committee 
South Carolina House of Representatives 
Post Office Box 11867 
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
Telephone: (803) 212-6810   
Email: HCommLegov@schouse.gov 

 
 

 
 

Notification of the 
Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee’s 

Study of the 
Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 

 October 5, 2018 
 
 
In accordance with Standard Practice 12.5, notice is hereby provided that the Healthcare and Regulatory 
Subcommittee’s oversight study of the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs is available for 
consideration by the full Committee. 
 
 
 
The Honorable Phyllis J. Henderson 
Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee Chair 
 
cc: The Honorable William K. “Bill” Bowers  
 The Honorable MaryGail K. Douglas 
 The Honorable Bill Taylor 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 16



Legislative Oversight Committee 
Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 

Study of the 
Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 

October 5, 2018 

FULL COMMITTEE OPTIONS 
STANDARD PRACTICE 13 

FULL COMMITTEE ACTION(S) DATE(S) OF FULL 
COMMITTEE ACTION(S) 

(1) Refer the study and investigation 
back to the Subcommittee or an ad 
hoc committee for further 
evaluation;  
(2) Approve the Subcommittee’s 
study; or  
(3) Further evaluate the agency as a 
full Committee, utilizing any of the 
available tools of legislative 
oversight 

1 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 17



CONTENTS 
Agency Snapshot 4

Figure 1.  Snapshot of agency that includes its history, mission, resources, successes, challenges, 
and emerging issues. Challenges, successes, and emerging issues presented are identified by the 
agency. 4 

Executive Summary 5
Purpose of Oversight Study 5 

Study Process 5 

Figure 2.  Summary of key dates and actions of the study process. 5 

Recommendations 6 

Table 1.  Summary of recommendations arising from the study process. 6 

Agency Overview 7
History 7 

Legal Obligations 9 

Purpose, Mission, and Vision 10 

Agency Organization 11 

Table 2.  Agency commission members (current as of September 20, 2018). 11 

Table 3.  DDSN organizational units (current as of May 2017). 12 

Figure 3.  Organizational chart provided by the agency.  (Current as of October 5, 2018). 16 

Table 4.  Characteristics of county-based local DSN boards and private qualified providers. 17 

Figure 4.  System organization. 19 

Strategic Resource Allocation and Performance 20 

Table 5.  Goal one (Prevent disabilities and ameliorate impact of disabilities) 2015-16 consumers 
served, FTEs, and amount spent; 2016-17 FTEs and amount budgeted. 20 

Table 6.  Goal one associated performance measures. 21 

Table 7.  Goal two (Provide services in community integrated and least restrictive settings and 
promote individual independence) 2015-16 consumers served, FTEs, and amount spent; 2016-17 
FTEs and amount budgeted. 22 

Table 8.  Goal two associated performance measures. 23 

Table 9.  Goal three (Protect health, safety, and welfare of individuals served) 2015-16 consumers 
served, FTEs, and amount spent; 2016-17 FTEs and amount budgeted. 24 

Table 10.  Goal three associated performance measures. 25 

Table 11.  Goal 4 (Meet the needs of the maximum number of eligible individuals through efficient 
and effective use of available resources) 2015-16 consumers served, FTEs, and amount spent; 2016-
17 FTEs and amount budgeted. 26 

2 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 18



Table 12.  Goal 4 associated performance measures. 27 

Table 13.  DDSN Authorized FTE Positions (FY 2013-FY 2017). 28 

Table 14.  DDSN Actual FTE Positions (FY 2013-FY 2017). 28 

Table 15.  DDSN Filled FTE Positions (FY 2013-FY 2017). 28 

Figure 5.  Total Authorized and Filled FTEs (FY 2013-FY 2017). 28 

Figure 6.  Total Filled FTEs and Total Salary Associated with FTEs (FY 2013-FY 2017). 28 

Study Process 29
Agency Selection 29 

Subcommittee Membership 29 

Agency Reports to Legislative Oversight Committee 29 

Information from the Public 30 

Figure 7.  Public opinion of DDSN from public survey. 31 

Meetings Regarding the Agency 32 

Study Process Completion 34 

Recommendations 36
Table 16.  Recommendation to the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs. 36 

Table 17.  Recommendation to the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs. 37 

Table 19. Recommendation to the Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee. 38 

Table 20.  Recommendation to the General Assembly. 38 

Table 21.  Recommendation to clarify entities providing services. 39 

Table 22.  Recommendations to repeal Self-Sufficiency and Disability Trust Funds. 39 

Table 23.  Recommendations to make definitions of “intellectual disability” consistent. 40 

Table 24.  Recommendation to be in compliance with federal fair housing laws. 40 

Table 25.  Recommendation to adjust priority of people/entities making healthcare decisions. 40 

Table 26.  Recommendations related to the Omnibus Adult Protection Act. 41 

Selected Agency Information 42
Appendices 43

Appendix A.  Statutory Change Recommendations 44 

Appendix B.  Agency Recommendations Received for Information Purposes Only 49 

Contact Information 81

Endnotes 81 
Member Statement 87

3 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 19



AGENCY SNAPSHOT 

Figure 1.  Snapshot of agency that includes its history, mission, resources, successes, challenges, and emerging issues. Challenges, successes, and emerging issues presented are 
identified by the agency.1 

4 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 20



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Purpose of Oversight Study 
As stated in S.C. Code of Laws § 2-2-20(B), “[t]he 
purpose of these oversight studies and investigations 
is to determine if agency laws and programs within 
the subject matter jurisdiction of a standing 
committee: (1) are being implemented and carried 
out in accordance with the intent of the General 
Assembly; and (2) should be continued, curtailed, or 
eliminated.”  In making these determinations, the 
Subcommittee evaluates (1) the application, 
administration, execution, and effectiveness of the 
agency’s laws and programs, (2) the organization and 
operation of the agency, and (3) any conditions or 

circumstances that may indicate the necessity or 
desirability of enacting new or additional legislation 
pertaining to the agency.2 
 
Study Process 
The House Legislative Oversight Committee’s 
(Committee) process for studying the Department of 
Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN, agency, or 
Department) includes actions by the full Committee; 
Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 
(Subcommittee); the agency; and the public.  A 
summary of the key dates and actions are listed 
below in Figure 2.

• January 10, 2017 - Prioritizes the agency for study 
• January 18, 2017 - Provides agency with notice about the oversight process  
• February 9, 2017-March 13, 2017 - Solicits input from the public about the agency in the form of an online public survey 
• March 2, 2017 - Holds Meeting  1 to obtain public input about the agency 

• September 18, 2017 - Subcommittee holds Meeting 2 to discuss agency history, governance, services, and customers 
• October 10, 2017 - Subcommittee holds Meeting 3 to discuss agency finances and responses to questions from September 

18, 2017 meeting 
• October 24, 2017 - Subcommittee holds Meeting 4 to continue to discuss agency finances and responses to questions from 

the September 18, 2017, and October 10, 2017 meetings 
• November 6, 2017 - Subcommittee holds Meeting 5 to discuss human resources and responses to questions from the 

October 24, 2017 meeting 
• November 30, 2017 - Subcommittee holds Meeting 6 to receive testimony from the Department of Health and Human 

Services, Vocational Rehabilitation Department, and directors of Disabilities and Special Needs Boards and other providers 
• February 1, 2018 - Subcommittee holds Meeting 7 to receive testimony about an internal review of the provider payment 

system 
• July 30, 2018 - Subcommittee holds Meeting 8 to receive testimony about the agency's performance management  
• August 30, 2018 - Subcommittee holds Meeting 9 to discuss study recommendations 

 

• March 2015 - Submits its Annual Restructuring and Seven-Year Plan Report 
• September 2016 and 2017 - Submits its Annual Accountability Reports, which serve as its Annual Restructuring Reports 
• May 1, 2017 - Submits its Program Evaluation Report 
• September 2017 - August 2018 - Meets with and responds to Subcommittee’s inquiries 

• February 9, 2017-March 13, 2017 - Provides input about agency via online public survey 
• March 2, 2017 - Provides testimony to the full Committee 
• Ongoing - Submits written comments on the Oversight Committee's webpage on the General Assembly's website 

(www.scstatehouse.gov)  
Figure 2.  Summary of key dates and actions of the study process. 
 
 
 

Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee Actions 

Department of Disabilities and Special Needs Actions 

Public’s Actions 

Legislative Oversight Committee Actions 

5 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 21

http://www.scstatehouse.gov/


Recommendations 
The Subcommittee has 14 recommendations arising from its study of the agency.  These recommendations fall into 
four categories: (1) recommendations to the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs; (2) recommendations to 
the Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs; (3) recommendations to the Healthcare and Regulatory 
Subcommittee; and (4) recommendations to the General Assembly. 
Table 1.  Summary of recommendations arising from the study process. 

Recommendations to the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 
Direct Care 
Professionals 

1.) The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs seek funding to create a grant program or incentives 
for providers to expand the pool of direct care professionals through shadowing programs, recognition 
programs, grassroots campaigns and training efforts designed to expand awareness about the profession 
and encourage greater participation by potential employees, specifically students preparing to graduate 
high school. 

Agency 
Progress 
Report  

2.) The State Director should report to the Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee in six months 
regarding changes implemented as a result of the Legislative Oversight process and the agency’s internal 
improvement processes. 

Recommendation to the Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs 
Regulations 3.) The Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs should undertake a complete review of the agency’s 

regulatory environment, including existing and needed regulations.  If that review reveals regulations that 
should be promulgated, amended, or repealed, the Commission should proceed through the procedures 
in Title 1, Chapter 23 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, related to state agency rulemaking. 

Recommendation to the Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee of the House Legislative Oversight Committee 
Regulations 4.) The Subcommittee should formally communicate to the House Regulations and Administrative 

Procedures Committee that the Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs has reviewed some 
regulations, and determined they should be amended.  This study will be available as a resource 
whenever the Commission promulgates new regulations or proposes amendments to existing 
regulations. 

Recommendations to the General Assembly 
Commission  5.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code Ann. § 44-20-210 to establish knowledge 

and expertise criteria for membership on the Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs. 
Service 
Providers  

6.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code Ann. § 44-20-370(A) to reflect that 
services are offered through private qualified providers as well as county Disabilities and Special Needs 
(DSN) boards.  In addition, the Subcommittee recommends the agency develop a definition of “qualified 
provider,” for inclusion in Title 44, Chapter 20 of the S.C. Code of Laws.  

Self-
Sufficiency 
Fund 

7.) The General Assembly should consider repealing S.C. Code Ann. § 44-28-10 through § 44-28-80 
because the fund was not established and in 2016, the General Assembly established the South Carolina 
ABLE savings program, which serves the same purpose, and is made possible by the federal Achieving a 
Better Life Experience Act. 

Disability 
Trust Fund 

8.) The General Assembly should consider repealing S.C. Code Ann. § 44-28-310 through § 44-28-370 
because the fund was never established and in 2016, the General Assembly established the South 
Carolina ABLE savings program, which serves the same purpose.  

Intellectual 
Disability 
Definition 
  

9.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code Ann § 44-23-10(22) so that the definition 
of intellectual disability is consistent with the definition in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-20-30(12).34 
10.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code Ann. § 44-25-20(g), to replace “mental 
deficiency” and its definition with “intellectual disability,” as defined in S.C. Code Ann § 44-20-30(12).  In 
addition, the Subcommittee recommends that “mental deficiency” be replaced with “intellectual 
disability” through Title 44, Chapter 25.  

Federal Fair 
Housing Law 

11.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-770 to remove the 
requirement that notice be given for a home for persons with disabilities, as it violates federal Fair 
Housing Laws.5 

Healthcare 
Decision 
Priority List  

12.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A) to give DDSN last 
priority in health care decisions for persons unable to consent, as “a person given authority to make 
health care decisions for the patient by another statutory provision.”  Section 44-26-40, § 44-26-50, and § 
44-26-60(C) should all be amended to refer to the correct priority number in § 44-66-30. 

Day 
Programs 

13.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-10(4) to include day 
programs in the definition of “facility” in the Omnibus Adult Protection Act. 

Case 
Dispositions 

14.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-60 to require investigating 
agencies to share specific abuse, neglect, or exploitation case dispositions with the relevant state agency. 

 
There are no specific recommendations with regards to continuance of agency programs or elimination of 
agency programs.   
 6 

 
LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 22



AGENCY OVERVIEW 
 
History 
 
The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs provides the Committee with an overview of the agency’s 
history.6  In addition, Committee staff confirms the accuracy of assertions of legislative action. 
   
1916 – 1917 South Carolina conducts a survey of people who were considered "feebleminded."  The 
survey results recommend establishing a residential institution for people with mental retardation.   
 
1918 The General Assembly authorizes construction of the S.C. State Training School for the 
Feebleminded in Clinton.  The institution is operated as a corporate body under direction of the Board of 
Regents at the State Hospital.7  It has separate management and location from the State Hospital and 
serves people with only mental retardation. 
  
1952 The State Board of Regents becomes the South Carolina Mental Health Commission.  The State 
Training School falls under the commission's jurisdiction.  The General Assembly authorizes construction 
of Pineland State Training School and Hospital near Columbia.  Pineland is an institution for black people 
with mental retardation operated by the Mental Health Commission. 
   
1954 – 1963 The State Training School in Clinton is renamed Whitten Village in honor of its founder, Dr. 
Benjamin Whitten.8  The General Assembly removes Whitten Village from the jurisdiction of the Mental 
Health Commission.  The institution is governed by its own board of trustees.9 
 
1963 The General Assembly authorizes construction of a third institution, the South Carolina Retarded 
Children's Habilitation Center, in Ladson, just outside Charleston.10 
  
President John F. Kennedy's administration earmarks federal funds for each state to develop a plan for 
serving people with mental retardation.  Governor Donald Russell appoints an advisory council to plan 
long-term mental retardation services.  The council later becomes the Governor's Interagency Council on 
Mental Retardation Planning.  Its work continues into the administration of Governor Robert E. McNair. 
  
1967 The S.C. Department of Mental 
Retardation is created in May.  Governor 
Robert McNair appoints the members of 
DMR's first commission.11 
  
At that time, approximately 3,700 people 
with mental retardation receive care in the 
state's institutions, and nearly 1,300 people are on a waiting list to receive care. 
  
1969 The state is divided into four regions for efficient service delivery in the Coastal, Midlands, 
Piedmont, and Pee Dee areas of the state.  Dr. Charles D. Barnett becomes the State Director. 
  

The General Assembly authorizes construction of the S.C. State Training 
School for the Feebleminded in Clinton.  The institution is operated as a 
corporate body under direction of the Board of Regents at the State 
Hospital.  It has separate management and location from the State 
Hospital and serves people with only mental retardation. 

7 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 23



1970 On April 16, Governor John C. West signs the Mentally Retarded Persons Act into law.  The law 
defines DMR's function and provides structure for delivering a full range of programs for people with 
intellectual disabilities. 

  
The names of the state's institutions are changed to 
reflect the new regional administration.  Pineland 
State Training School is transferred from the S.C. 
Department of Mental Health to the new S.C. 
Department of Mental Retardation and becomes 
Midlands Center, and the S.C. Retarded Children's 
Habilitation Center becomes Coastal Center.12 

  
1972 – 1973 Coastal Center establishes the first office of legal advocacy for people with mental 
retardation.  The office is established to share responsibility for safeguarding individuals' rights with 
parents and members of the community.  When Protection and Advocacy for the Handicapped is 
established in 1977, the office is no longer needed. 
  
DMR purchases Live Oak Village, a nursing home in Summerville.  Live Oak Village becomes a satellite 
skilled-nursing facility of Coastal Center. 
  
1974 – 1975 Governor John C. West signs Act 1127 into law.  The new law sets forth guidelines for the 
establishment and membership of county mental retardation boards.  Laurens and Greenville counties 
establish the first mental retardation boards.  South Carolina developed mental retardation boards to 
serve all 46 counties.  Services provided in the community through the local mental retardation boards 
offer families an alternative to regional center services.13 
  
DMR purchases the Hartsville Nursing Home.  The facility is renovated and renamed the Thad E. Saleeby 
Developmental Center, after former state Representative Thad E. Saleeby. 
  
1988 Dr. Phillip S. Massey becomes the State Director. 
 
1993 The Restructuring Act of 1993 creates the new Department of Disabilities and Special Needs.  Three 
divisions are created within the agency:  Mental Retardation Division, Head and Spinal Cord Injury Division 
and the Autism Division.  Mental retardation boards became disabilities and special needs boards.  The 
Program for Individuals with Autism is transferred from the Department of Mental Health to 
DDSN.  DDSN’s mission is expanded to serve individuals with brain injury, spinal cord injury or similar 
disabilities.14  
 
1996 Dr. Stan Butkus becomes the State Director. 
  
1998 Person-centered services are implemented to increase self-determination and choice of services 
and service providers.  
  
2002 Committed to offering individuals and families additional choices of qualified providers, DDSN works 
with the State Budget and Control Board’s Material and Management office to issue a nationwide 
recruitment of new providers of disability services.  Some disabilities and special needs boards expand 
services into other counties and numerous private providers began offering services.   
 

The Restructuring Act of 1993 creates the new 
Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN).  
DDSN’s mission is expanded to serve individuals with brain 
injury, spinal cord injury, or similar disabilities. 

8 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 24



2006 The General Assembly creates the Pervasive Developmental Disorder Program via special proviso to 
provide Early Intensive Behavioral Intervention to young children on the Autism Spectrum.15 

2009 Dr. Eugene A. Laurent becomes the Interim State Director.  Dr. Beverly A.H. Buscemi becomes the 
State Director. 

2011 Governor Nikki Haley signs Act 47 which removed the “R” (Retardation) word in South Carolina.16 

2017 -2018 Mr. Pat Maley becomes the Interim State Director.  Ms. Mary Poole becomes the State 
Director. 

Legal Obligations 

Statute 
The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs is primarily governed by Title 44, Chapter 20 of the S.C. 
Code of Laws.  In addition, Title 44, Chapters 38, 21, 23, 26, 28, 44, 66, 28, 25, and 7; Title 6, Chapter 9; 
Title 40, Chapter 35; Title 43, Chapter 35; and Title 63, Chapter 7 all impact the operations of the 
Department.  In addition, federal statutes related to disabilities, housing, insurance, and education also 
govern the operations of the department. 

In its program evaluation report, the agency provides a list of statutes that impact it.17  Those statutes are 
categorized as follows: 

• South Carolina Intellectual Disability, Related Disabilities, Head Injuries, and Spinal Cord Injuries
Act; 

• Head and Spinal Cord Injuries;
• Family Support Services;
• Provisions Applicable to both Mentally Ill Persons and Persons with Intellectual Disability;
• Rights of Clients with Intellectual Disability;
• Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund, Disability Trust Fund, Aid for Developmentally Disabled;
• South Carolina Birth Defects Act;
• Adult Health Care Consent Act;
• Interstate Compact on Mental Health;
• Hospitals, Tuberculosis Camps, and Health Service Districts;
• South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act;
• Long Term Health Care Administrators;
• Omnibus Adult Protection Act;
• Child Protection and Permanency;
• Fair Housing Act (Federal);
• American with Disabilities Act (Federal) ;
• Rehabilitation Act (Federal);
• Medicaid (Federal);
• Health Insurance Portability and Accounting Act (HIPPA) (Federal); and
• Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) (Federal).

9 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 25



Regulation 
The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs is governed by Section 88 of the S.C. Code of 
Regulations.  In its program evaluation report, the Department provides a list of regulations governing it.  
Those regulations address license requirements for facilities and programs, recreational camps for 
persons with intellectual disability, day programs for persons with intellectual disability, and unclassified 
facilities and programs. 
 
   
Purpose, Mission, and Vision 
 
Purpose 
S.C. Code Ann. § 44-20-20 provides the legislative purpose for creating the Department of Disabilities and 
Special Needs: 

The State of South Carolina recognizes that a person with intellectual disability, a related disability, head injury, 
or spinal cord injury is a person who experiences the benefits of family, education, employment, and 
community as do all citizens. It is the purpose of this chapter to assist persons with intellectual disability, related 
disabilities, head injuries, or spinal cord injuries by providing services to enable them to participate as valued 
members of their communities to the maximum extent practical and to live with their families or in family 
settings in the community in the least restrictive environment available. 
 
When persons with intellectual disability, related disabilities, head injuries, or spinal cord injuries cannot live 
in communities or with their families, the State shall provide quality care and treatment in the least restrictive 
environment practical. 
 
In order to plan and coordinate state and locally funded services for persons with intellectual disability, related 
disabilities, head injuries, or spinal cord injuries, a statewide network of local boards of disabilities and special 
needs is established. Services will be delivered to clients in their homes or communities through these boards 
and other local providers. 
 
It is recognized that persons with intellectual disability, related disabilities, head injuries, or spinal cord injuries 
have the right to receive services from public and other agencies that provide services to South Carolina citizens 
and to have those services coordinated with the services needed because of their disabilities. 
 
South Carolina recognizes the value of preventing intellectual disability, related disabilities, head injuries, and 
spinal cord injuries through education and research and supports efforts to this end. 
 
The State recognizes the importance of the role of parents and families in shaping services for persons with 
intellectual disability, related disabilities, head injuries, or spinal cord injuries as well as the importance of 
providing services to families to enable them to care for a family member with these disabilities. 
 
 Admission to services of the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs does not terminate 
or reduce the rights and responsibilities of parents. Parental involvement and participation in mutual 
planning with the department to meet the needs of the client facilitates decisions and treatment plans that 
serve the best interest and welfare of the client. 

 
Mission 
The agency’s mission is to “[a]ssist people with disabilities and their families through choice in meeting 
needs, pursuing possibilities and achieving life goals; and minimize the occurrence and reduce the 
severity of disabilities through prevention.”18 
 
Vision 
The agency’s vision is “to provide the very best services to assist all persons with disabilities and their 
families in South Carolina.”19 

10 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 26



 
Agency Organization 
 
Governing Body 
Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-20-210, DDSN is governed by a seven member commission.  Each 
Commissioner represents a congressional district.  Commissioners are appointed by the Governor with 
the advice and consent of the Senate.  The appointments are for four year terms; however, a 
commissioner may serve until a successor is appointed.  Commissioners can be removed by the Governor, 
and the Governor may appoint a new commissioner to the unexpired term.  The Commission appoints 
the State Director.20 
 
The Commission meets approximately twelve times each year.  The meetings are broadcast via video 
conference technology to three regional centers and several community provider locations.  Recent 
minutes of the meetings and accompanying documentation are posted on the agency website.  The 
Commission has three standing committees — Finance and Audit, Policy, and Legislative.  These three 
standing committees meet a minimum of twice a year, but usually more frequently.21   
 
Table 2 lists the current commissioners, congressional district represented, and date the member’s term 
expires. 
 
Table 2.  Agency commission members (current as of September 20, 2018). 

Congressional 
District 

Position  Current Members Appointed By Appointed 
Date 

Expiration 
Date 

1st  Chair Eva Ravenel* Governor Nikki R. Haley 8/31/2012 6/30/2016 
2nd  Member Lorri S. Unumb Governor Henry McMaster 2/8/2018 6/30/2020 
3rd  Member Vicki A. Thompson* Governor Nikki R. Haley 5/19/2015 6/30/2017 
4th  Member Christopher G. Neeley Governor Henry McMaster 2/8/2018 6/30/2021 
5th  Member Gary C. Lemel* Governor Nikki R. Haley 5/19/2015 6/30/2018 
6th  Member VACANT Governor Nikki R. Haley   

7th  Member Samuel F. Broughton Jr.*  Governor Nikki R. Haley 4/7/2016 6/30/2018 
Table Note: An asterick (*) indicates commissioner is serving in a holdover capacity. 

 
Agency Organizational Units 
Every agency has an organization or hierarchy that is reflected in the agency’s organizational chart.  
Within the organization are separate units.  An agency may refer to these units as departments, divisions, 
functional areas, cost centers, etc.  Each unit is responsible for contributing to the agency’s ability to 
provide services and products.   
 
During the study process the Subcommittee asks the agency about its organization and major operating 
programs.22  The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs informs the Committee it is comprised of 
26 major organizational units, which are described in Table 3.  The organization of the agency is shown in 
Figure 3. 
 

11 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 27



Table 3.  DDSN organizational units (current as of May 2017). 
Organizational Unit 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 

 U
ni

t 
Tu

rn
ov

er
  

Re
qu

ire
d 

Ce
rt

ifi
ca

tio
n 

The AGENCY HEAD - EXECUTIVE SUITE organizational unit provides key leadership 
so agency personnel may deliver the established mission of the agency. 

2013-14 0% X 
2014-15 0% X 
2015-16 0% X 

The OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL is legal counsel for the agency. Duties include 
representing the agency in state courts, monitoring cases handled by outside 
counsel, and offering legal advice on various agency issues. 

2013-14 0%  
2014-15 0%  
2015-16 0%  

The GOVERNMENT AND COMMUNITY RELATIONS organizational unit is the 
agency’s liaison and representative before the Governor’s Office, General 
Assembly, legislative staff, media, stakeholders, and the general public. 
Responsible for managing constituent concerns, Freedom of Information Act 
requests, and general inquiries. Advises the State Director and executive staff with 
regard to policies, regulations, legislation, media communication, and community 
education. 

2013-14 0% X 

2014-15 0% X 

2015-16 0% X 

The ADMINISTRATION office consists of the division of the chief financial officer, 
and the division directors of the units created to ensure fiscal accountability of the 
agency. 

2013-14 0% X 
2014-15 0% X 
2015-16 0% X 

The BUDGET office is responsible for the oversight, planning, development, 
organization and maintenance of the agency's complete budgetary system, 
totaling approximately $740M.   The division evaluates policies, plans and 
programs for cost effectiveness and overall fiscal impact.  The budget division 
conducts research and analyses to support decision making and monitors agency 
expenditures and revenues.  The division is responsible for external budgetary 
policy interpretation and participation in development of internal procedures. The 
division coordinates with staff outside the agency concerning budgetary and 
planning requirements.   

2013-14 0% 
 

X 

2014-15 0% X 

2015-16 14.3% X 

The FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING organizational unit ensures revenues and 
expenditures for the agency are properly processed and accounted for according 
to generally accepted accounting principles, state laws, and regulations.  The 
division is also responsible for processing all Medicaid claims for eligible services 
provided to consumers in our network. 

2013-14 0% X 
2014-15 14.3% X 
2015-16 50% X 

The COST ANALYSIS organizational unit is responsible for developing and 
maintaining rates paid to providers; developing and reconciling contracts with 
providers; filing cost reports for the department; and ensuring that providers are 
paid timely. Also, the unit performs analyses to track expenditures, trends, and 
contract compliance. 

2013-14 40% X 
2014-15 16.7% X 
2015-16 33.3% X 

The ENGINEERING AND PLANNING organizational unit ensures that buildings 
owned by the Department are constructed, renovated, and life cycle maintained 
in good condition for the health and safety of clients, staff, and others, and in 
accordance with state laws and regulations.  The division is also responsible for 
procurement of professional design services, procurement and contract 

2013-14 0%  

2014-15 0%  

12 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 28



Organizational Unit 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 

 U
ni

t 
Tu

rn
ov

er
  

Re
qu

ire
d 

Ce
rt

ifi
ca

tio
n 

administration for construction contracts, and procurement of inspection services 
related to building systems.  The division assists other DDSN divisions and provider 
organizations with various capital and construction projects related to DDSN’s 
mission. 

2015-16 0%  

The INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY organizational unit directs and manages the 
agency's information technology program. This includes planning, policy 
development, technology procurement, program management, systems 
development, design and operation of the agency information technology 
systems. This division is responsible for the agencies office automation, 
information technology architecture, information technology infrastructure, and 
records management systems.  

2013-14 0% 
 

X 

2014-15 13.3% X 

2015-16 8.9% X 

The PROCUREMENT organizational unit oversees the following functions agency 
wide:  procurement services, fixed assets, vehicle management, nutrition services, 
mail services, laundry services, housekeeping services, ground maintenance, 
regional inventories, drug and alcohol testing for CDL drivers, surplus property, 
contract administration, copier management, SCEMIS (State Fleet) coordinator, 
building card access system, recycle program, building maintenance and services, 
state contracts, p-card administration, and gas card security. 

2013-14 91.7% 
 

 

2014-15 0%  

2015-16 50%  

The OFFICE OF POLICY develops and maintains agency policies. The following 
divisions are contained within the supervision of the Office of Policy: Autism 
Division, Eligibility Division, Head and Spinal Cord Injury Division, Intellectual 
Disability/Related Disabilities Division, Quality Management Division and Waiver 
Administration Division. 

2013-14 0% X 
2014-15 0% X 
2015-16 0% X 

The INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES AND RELATED DISABILITIES organizational unit 
develops policies, procedures and standards that govern the delivery of services 
provided through the agency; operates two Medicaid Home and Community 
Based Waivers; facilitate the coordination of DDSN services with services provided 
by other state agencies; assist in the qualification of providers of agency 
services; provide training, assistance and support to the agency's qualified 
providers. 

2013-14 0% X 

2014-15 0% X 

2015-16 15.4% X 

The AUTISM division is responsible for providing training and consultation to 
parents and professionals on matters pertinent to Autism Spectrum Disorder 
(ASD), and for conducting evaluations to determine the presence of ASD. 

2013-14 22.05% X 
2014-15 5.06%  X 
2015-16 16.34% X 

The HEAD AND SPINAL CORD INJURY division oversees the delivery of services 
provided through DDSN, operates the Head and Spinal Cord Injury Waiver, 
provides training and technical support to DDSN qualified providers, and supports 
and implements prevention and awareness initiatives. 

2013-14 50% X 
2014-15 0% X 
2015-16 66.7% X 

The QUALITY MANAGEMENT division works to improve the health, safety, and 
welfare of DDSN's service recipients and monitors compliance with state and 
federal regulations and Medicaid requirements. 

2013-14 0% X 
2014-15 0% X 
2015-16 16.7% X 

The ELIGIBILITY division determines DDSN eligibility based on set criteria and 
completes administrative duties such as determining Level of Care for Medicaid 
Waivers and Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act eligibility. 

2013-14 20% X 
2014-15 8.3% X 

13 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 29



Organizational Unit 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 

 U
ni

t 
Tu

rn
ov

er
  

Re
qu

ire
d 

Ce
rt

ifi
ca

tio
n 

2015-16 0% X 
The OPERATIONS office provides oversight and leadership to the District I and 
District II Offices, four Intermediate Care Facilities for Individuals with Intellectual 
Disability (ICF/IID) Residential Regional Centers, the Office of Clinical Services and 
the Office of Children’s Services.  Most areas are directly involved in serving 
individuals directly or training and monitoring DSN Boards and private providers 
serving eligible individuals. 

2013-14 0% X 
2014-15 0% X 
2015-16 0% X 

CHILDREN'S SERVICES is responsible for monitoring and training the DSN Board 
and private early intervention providers delivering early intervention services to 
children birth to six years old.  Staff serve on numerous interagency committees. 

2013-14 0% X 
2014-15 25% X 
2015-16 25% X 

CLINICAL SERVICES is responsible for conducting psychological evaluations of 
individuals charged with a crime who are thought to be unable to competently 
stand trial. Staff in this unit arrange in-home and residential services for judicially 
admitted individuals; arrange in-home and residential services for children with 
dual developmental and psychiatric disabilities; and are involved in numerous 
interagency initiatives. 

2013-14 45%  

2014-15 0%  

2015-16 58.3%  

DISTRICT OFFICES I AND II provide training to the DSN Boards and private 
providers delivering community services to individuals residing in the western 
(District I) and eastern (District II) halves of the state.  Staff respond to individuals 
who are in crisis.  The District I Director supervises the Midlands Regional Center 
and Whitten Regional Center facility administrators.  The District I Office is located 
on the grounds of Whitten Center.  The District II Director supervises the Coastal 
Regional Center and Pee Dee/Saleeby Regional Center facility administrators.  The 
District II Office is located on the grounds of Coastal Center.   

2013-14 0% 
 
 

X 

2014-15 6.7% X 

2015-16 0% X 

The MIDLANDS REGIONAL CENTER is a residential ICF/IID facility in Columbia.  Staff 
at this center provide a broad array of medical, therapeutic, recreational, and 
personal care to individuals with some of the most severe disabilities of any 
served by DDSN.  Services are provided 24 hours per day all year.   

2013-14 25.11%  
2014-15 26.91%  
2015-16 32.72%  

The PIEDMONT (WHITTEN) REGIONAL CENTER is a residential ICF/IID facility in 
Clinton. Staff at this center provide a broad array of medical, therapeutic, 
recreational, and personal care to individuals with some of the most severe 
disabilities of any served by DDSN.  Services are provided 24 hours per day all 
year.   

2013-14 43.86%  
2014-15 39.16%  
2015-16 36.14%  

The COASTAL REGIONAL CENTER is a residential ICF/IID facility located in 
Summerville. Staff at this center provide a broad array of medical, therapeutic, 
recreational, and personal care to individuals with some of the most severe 
disabilities of any served by DDSN.  Services are provided 24 hours per day all 
year.   

2013-14 20.79%  
2014-15 27.59%  
2015-16 29.45%  

The PEE DEE/SALEEBY REGIONAL CENTER is a residential ICF/IID facility in Florence 
and Hartsville. Staff at this center provide a broad array of medical, therapeutic, 
recreational, and personal care to individuals with some of the most severe 
disabilities of any served by DDSN.  Services are provided 24 hours per day all 
year.   

2013-14 16.65%  
2014-15 26.11%  

2015-16 27.15%  
2013-14 14.29% X 

14 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 30



Organizational Unit 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 

 U
ni

t 
Tu

rn
ov

er
 

Re
qu

ire
d 

Ce
rt

ifi
ca

tio
n 

The INTERNAL AUDIT organizational unit performs audits of the agency and its 
contractors' processes and business practices.  This unit reports to the DSN 
Commission. 

2014-15 14.29% X 
2015-16 0% X 

The HUMAN RESOURCES organizational unit designs, implements, and monitors 
the administration and coordination of the agency's human resources programs. 
It anticipates and plans for long-term HR needs and trends. 

2013-14 20.03% X 
2014-15 9.76% X 
2015-16 4.55% X 

15 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 31



Organizational Chart 

 
Figure 3.  Organizational chart provided by the agency.  (Current as of October 5, 2018).23  
 

16 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 32



Internal Audit Process 
In the Program Evaluation Report, the Committee asks the agency to provide information about its 
internal audit process, if it has one.  The agency provides the information below.24   
 
Currently, the agency has an Internal Audit Division (IAD) which employs eight FTEs and one temporary 
employee.  Based on documentation on file within the Division, the first audit report was issued in August 
1978.  The IAD Director reports administratively to the agency’s State Director and functionally to the DDSN 
Commission. 
 
The IAD audit universe includes the DDSN provider network, DDSN regional centers, as well as DDSN 
operations.  The vast majority of DDSN funding flows to the provider network and as such the majority of 
audit resources are devoted to this area.  The IAD conducts a systemic risk assessment and based on 
these results, the IAD Director in consultation with Internal Audit staff determine when an entity is 
audited.  A total of 115 audits are published in fiscal years 2012 through 2016.  The IAD recently conducts 
a self-assessment, the documentation of which is housed in the IAD and is available for review.  In 2018, 
IAD redirects some resources from community contract audits to agency internal operational audits. 
 
Provider Network Structure  
Primarily, services to DDSN clients are provided by county-based disabilities and special needs boards and 
private qualified providers.  During the September 18, 2017, Subcommittee meeting, agency staff 
differentiate between the two types of providers, as described in Table 4. 
 
Table 4.  Characteristics of county-based local DSN boards and private qualified providers. 

Dimension County-Based Local DSN Boards Private Qualified Providers 
Legal 
Structure 

 Public (Must comply with the 
Freedom of Information Act and 
other aspects of local government) 

 Independent legal entities from the 
State Agency 

 For Profit  
 Not for Profit  
 Independent legal entities from the 

State Agency 

Accountability  Through public board appointments, 
contracts, standards, and state law 
with state level oversight provided by 
DDSN 

 Through contractual arrangements, 
quality assurance reviews, and 
licensing inspections to ensure quality 
and strict compliance with standards 

 Through contracts, standards, 
directives, and state law with state 
level oversight provided by DDSN 

 Through contractual arrangements, 
quality assurance reviews, and 
licensing inspections to ensure quality 
and strict compliance with standards 

Employees  Not state employees 
 DDSN does not have direct authority 

over any of the local DSN Board 
employees 

 Can participate in the State 
Retirement System and in State 
Insurance Plans 

 Not  state employees 
 DDSN does not have direct authority 

over any of the local DSN Board 
employees 

 

Services  Provide case management, direct and 
indirect services and supports to 
individuals with disabilities 

 Currently a private entity cannot 
provide both direct services and case 
management 

17 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 33



  Entities must choose 
Funding and 
Payment from 
DDSN 

 Receive funds from DDSN in a 
prospective per person per month 
payment (band payment) to provide 
or purchase services  

 

 Receive funds from DDSN in a 
retrospective payment after services 
are rendered  

 The rate paid is equivalent to the 
payment rate for the DSN County 
Boards 

 There is no cost settlement process 
for the retrospective payment  

 Funds may be recouped if services 
are not provided in accordance with 
contractual requirements 

Fiscal Agent  Serve as the fiscal agent for all service 
recipients that live in the family home 
in their county 

o Pays other providers for 
services rendered out of the 
per member, per month 
band payment 

o Funds up to a certain 
percentage not expended on 
services are returned to the 
Agency 

 Not a fiscal agent 
 

 

18 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 34



The agency also provides a graphical description of the organization of the system designed to provide services and support to DDSN clients.25 
 

 
 
Figure 4.  System organization.

19 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 35



Strategic Resource Allocation and Performance  

Annually, each agency submits a strategic plan.  Of interest to the oversight process is the total resources available to an agency and how the 
agency allocates human and financial resources across the agency’s strategic plan.  Tables 5, 7, 9, and 11 illustrate the agency’s allocation of its 
financial and human resources among its goals and strategies in fiscal years 2015-16 and 2016-17.  Also of interest during the study process is how 
the agency measures its performance in implementing the goals, strategies, and objectives of its strategic plan.  Tables 6, 8, 10, and 12 show 
performance in measures associated with each strategic plan section.  During the July 30, 2018, meeting DDSN staff provide additional measures 
used for performance management. 

2015-16 2016-17 

Total # of FTEs 
Total amount Appropriated 

and Authorized to Spend 
Total # of FTEs 

Total amount Appropriated 
and Authorized to Spend 

Authorized: 2,122 
Available: 1,987 

Utilized: 1,697 

$679,547,683 Authorized: 2,122 
Available: 1,987 

Utilized: 1,685 

$739,425,357 

Goal 1: Prevent disabilities and ameliorate impact of disabilities 
Table 5.  Goal one (Prevent disabilities and ameliorate impact of disabilities) 2015-16 consumers served, FTEs, and amount spent; 2016-17 FTEs and amount budgeted. 

2015-16 2016-17 

Strategic Plan Part  
Number of 
Consumers 

Served  

Number of FTE 
Equivalents 

Utilized 

Total Amount 
Spent 

Number of FTE 
Equivalents 
Planned to 

Utilize 

Total Amount 
Budgeted 

Strategy 1.1:  Greenwood Genetic Center Birth Defect Services 
Prevent and mitigate birth defects 

1,669  <1  $10,366,281 <1  $11,811,376 

Strategy 1.2:  Early Childhood Developmental Delay Services 
(BabyNet & Early Intervention) Mitigate developmental delays 
(ages 0-6) 

9,098 2  $23,336,768 2  $31,479,472 

Strategy 1.3:  Post-Acute Traumatic Brain or Spinal Cord Injury 
Rehabilitation Services Ameliorate impact of traumatic brain and 
spinal cord injuries 

54 <1  $2,692,717 <1  $3,100,000 

Strategy 1.4:  Pervasive Developmental Disorder (Autism) Services 
Mitigate developmental disorders and associated long-term 
medical costs 

1,255 - waiver 
6,000   - other 

2  $8,111,577 2  $10,323,590 

20 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 36



 
Table 6.  Goal one associated performance measures. 

Performance Measure  FY 12 FY 13 FY 14 FY 15 FY 16 FY 17 National 
Benchmark 

Annual Rate of neural tube 
defect births Per 10K Live 
birth 

Target: 7 8 8 6.9 6.9 7.5 7 

Actual: 7.2 8.5 6.9 6.9 7.5   
  

Annual number of children 
with metabolic disorders 
receiving curative treatment 

Target: 125 190 190 208 208 203   
Actual: 118 174 208 208 203   

  

Average percent gain in 
standardized adaptive 
behavior domain scores for 
children in the Pervasive 
Developmental Disorder 
Waiver after two years of 
service 

Target: 11% 11% 11% 10.40%     
  

Actual: 10.40% 10.40% 10.40%       

  

Percentage of children over 
36 months receiving early 
intervention services prior 
to third birthday 

Target: 77% 87.50% 87.50% 86.20% 86.20% 87.50% 

  

Actual: 75.60% 84.40% 86.20% 86.20% 88.90%     
Number of individuals 
receiving post acute 
rehabilitation services 

Target:         54 54   

Actual:       54 61     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 37



 
 
Goal 2: Provide services in community integrated and least restrictive settings and promote individual independence 
Table 7.  Goal two (Provide services in community integrated and least restrictive settings and promote individual independence) 2015-16 consumers served, FTEs, and amount 
spent; 2016-17 FTEs and amount budgeted. 

 
2015-16 2016-17 

Strategic Plan Part  
 
 

Number of 
Consumers 

Served 

Number of 
FTE 

Equivalents 
Utilized 

Total Amount 
Spent 

Number of 
FTE 

Equivalents 
Planned to 

Utilize 

Total Amount 
Budgeted 

Strategy 2.1: In-Home Family Support Services (least restrictive 
community setting) Serves consumers at home, which is the 
least restrictive community based setting; promotes 
community integration, higher quality of life, consumer 
choice, lower costs, and individual independence 

37,330 24  $66,851,682  25  $128,148,699  

Strategy 2.2:  Community Residential Services (residential 
habilitation services while still in the community) Serves 
consumers requiring residential habilitation services while still 
in a community based setting; promotes community 
integration, higher quality of life, consumer choice, lower 
costs, and individual independence 

4,639 91  $314,137,241  99  $339,047,125  

Strategy 2.3:  Regional Center Residential Services (severe or 
profound disabilities) Serves fragile consumers with severe or 
profound disabilities where community based services are not 
appropriate  

666 1,495  $86,111,572  1,765  $100,833,502  

Strategy 2.4:  Adult Development and Employment Support 
Services Promotes independence, community involvement, 
and quality of life 

6,399 day 
program   

2,359 
supported 

employment 

1  $  71,934,699  1   $80,338,186  

Strategy 2.5:  Service Coordination (case management) 
Provides consumer advocate and logistical support to ensure 
consumer needs met  

17,237 5  $  18,542,692  5   $22,893,752  

 

22 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 38



 
 
 
 
Table 8.  Goal two associated performance measures. 

Performance Measure Best 
State 

 FY 12 FY 13 FY 14 FY 15 FY 16 FY 17 National 
Benchmark 

United Cerebral Palsy Community 
Inclusion Ranking (National 
Benchmark) 

AZ Target: 6th 6th 6th 14th 9th 14th 25th 
  Actual: 6th 9th 14th 9th 14th     

Number of Children Served in 
Psychiatric Residential Treatment 
Facilities 

  Target: 70 70 55 64 64 45   
  Actual: 75 62 64 64 39     

Number of Children Served in 
Regional Centers 

  Target: 4 4 5 5 5 5   
  Actual: 6 6 5 5 4     

Ratio of Persons Served In HCB 
Waivers Versus ICF/IID 

AZ Target: 8 8.5 8.5 9.6 9.6 9.6   

  Actual: 7.4 8 9.6 9.6 9.8     
Number of Persons Served in 
Nursing Facilities Per 100,000 
General Population and Compare 
to National Benchmark 

OH 
Target: 

3.8 4 4 4.6 4.6 5 8.9 

  Actual: 3.9 4.4 4.6 4.6 5     
Number  of Persons Served in 16 + 
Bed Institutions Per 100K General 
Population 

HI Target: 20.1 20.1 20.1 19.7 19.7 19.7 25 
  Actual: 20.3 20.2 19.7 19.7 19.5     

Number of Persons Served Less 
Restrictive Residential Settings 

  Target:         940 926   
  Actual:         926     

Percent of Individuals Receiving 
Day Services Who are Served in 
Integrated Employment Settings 

WA 
Target: 

30% 30% 30% 29% 29% 29% 19% 

  Actual: 29% 29% 29% 29% 29%     
Number of Individuals Moving 
from Regional Centers 

  Target:         24 24   
  Actual:         26     

23 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 39



Goal 3 Protect health, safety, and welfare of individuals served 
Table 9.  Goal three (Protect health, safety, and welfare of individuals served) 2015-16 consumers served, FTEs, and amount spent; 2016-17 FTEs and amount budgeted. 

2015-16 2016-17 

Strategic Plan Part 
Number of 
Consumers 

Served 

Number of 
FTE 

Equivalents 
Utilized 

Total 
Amount 
Spent 

Number of FTE 
Equivalents 

Planned to Utilize 

Total Amount 
Budgeted 

Strategy 3.1:  Quality Assurance Monitoring of Providers' Compliance with 
Contract Operational Performance; Consumer Health, Safety and Welfare; 
and Facility Licensing Standards Ensure quality outcomes consistent with 
contract requirements with emphasis on consumer health, safety & welfare 

All eligible 
consumers 

5 $1,827,922 6  $1,883,953 

Strategy 3.2:  Monitor Providers' Financial Management and Operational 
Requirements Provide assurance of providers compliance with DDSN 
contract and policy fiscal requirements  

All eligible 
consumers 

8  $585,352 8  $658,546 

24 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 40



 
 
 
Table 10.  Goal three associated performance measures. 

Performance Measure  FY 12 FY 13 FY 14 FY 15 FY 16 FY 17 

Annual Rate of Substantiated Allegations of 
Abuse/Neglect/Exploitation Per 100 Served in 
Community Residential Settings 

Target: quarterly 
trend 

analysis 

quarterly trend 
analysis 

0 0.07 0.07 0.17 

Actual: 0.3 0.1 0.07 0.07 0.17   
Annual Rate of Substantiated Allegations of 
Abuse/Neglect/Exploitation Per 100 Served in 
Regional Centers 

Target: quarterly 
trend 

analysis 

quarterly trend 
analysis 

0 0.25 0.25 0.28 

Actual: 0 0 0.3 0.3 0.28   
Annual Rate of Critical Incidents Per 100 Served in 
Community Residential Settings 

Target: 15 15 15 19 19 21.1 

Actual: 15.61 16.53 19.14 19.14 21.1   
Annual Rate of Critical Incidents Per 100 Served in 
Regional Centers 

Target: 29 29 29 39 39 45.9 

Actual: 29.6 31.9 40.1 40.1 45.9   
Annual Rate of Fall Related Critical Incidents Per 
100 Served in Community Residential Settings 

Target: 1.25 1.3 1.3 1.12 1.12 2.11 

Actual: 1.38 1.56 1.12 1.12 2.11   
Annual Rate of Fall Related Critical Incidents Per 
100 Served in Regional Centers 

Target: 0.45 0.75 0.75 1.12 1.35 1.35 

Actual: 0.53 0.93 1.54 1.54 1.28   
Percentage  of Critical Incidents which Measure 
Consumer Behavioral Adverse Event or Inquiry 

Target:           85% 

Actual:         28%   

 
 

25 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 41



 
 
 
 
Goal 4: Meet the needs of the maximum number of eligible individuals through efficient and effective use of available resources 
Table 11.  Goal 4 (Meet the needs of the maximum number of eligible individuals through efficient and effective use of available resources) 2015-16 consumers served, FTEs, and 
amount spent; 2016-17 FTEs and amount budgeted. 

 2015-16 2016-17 

Strategic Plan Part 
 

Number of Consumers 
Served 

Number of FTE 
Equivalents 

Utilized 

Total Amount 
Spent 

Number of FTE 
Equivalents 

Planned to Utilize 

Total Amount 
Budgeted 

Strategy 4.1:  Monitor Organizational Effectiveness 
Through Benchmarks Provides indicators of 
organizational effectiveness to executive 
management, oversight, and the public 

All eligible consumers 64  $7,169,393  74   $8,907,156  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 42



 
 
 
 
Table 12.  Goal 4 associated performance measures. 

Performance Measure  FY 12 FY 13 FY 14 FY 15 FY 16 FY 17 

Entity that Approves Medicaid Waiver 
Authorization 
 

Target:         DDSN DDSN 

Actual: 
        

Case Management 
Providers   

Percent of DDSN Consumers Served by Only DDSN 
  

Target: 93.50% 93.50% 93.50% 93% 93% 93% 

Actual: 93% 92.50% 93% 93% 93.50%   
Percent of DDSN Consumers Served by DDSN and 
One Other State Agency 

Target:         6.10% 6.10% 
Actual:       6.10% 5.70%   

Percent of DDSN Consumers Served by DDSN and 
More Than One Other State Agency 

Target:         0.90% 0.90% 
Actual:       0.90% 0.80%   

Number of Individuals on DDSN Managed HCB 
Waiver Waiting Lists 

Target: 10,500 10,000 10,000 10,300 10,300 12,600 
Actual: 11,212 10,660 10,464 10,464 12,598   

Average Time of Wait (in years) for Individuals 
Enrolled in ID/RD Waiver 

Target: 5 5.5 5.5 3.4 3.4 3.9 
Actual: 6.7 6 3.5 3.5 3.9   

Average Time of Wait (in years) for Individuals 
Enrolled in CS Waiver 

Target: 3.5 3 3 1.4 1.4 1.4 
Actual: 4.1 3.4 1.5 1.5 0.8   

Average Time of Wait (in years) for Individuals 
Enrolled in HASCI Waiver 

Target: 1 0 0 0 0 0 
Actual: 2.2 0 0 0 0   

Percent Growth in Residential Service Capacity 
Needed to Eliminate Residential Waiting List 

Target:         4.50% 5% 
Actual:       4.50% 5%   

Number of Persons with Significant Behavioral 
Needs Served in DDSN Operated Community 
Residences 

Target:         3 9 
Actual:         0   

 

27 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 43



Human Resources 
The Department of Administration’s Division of State Human Resources provides the numbers of authorized, actual, and filled full time employee 
(FTE) positions for the last five fiscal years.26  Tables 10, 11, and 12 provide that information.  The Authorized Total FTE is as of July 1 of the fiscal 
year, as stated in the Appropriations Act.  The Actual Total FTE is the sum of Filled FTE and Vacant FTE, based on what the agency has entered in 
South Carolina Enterprise Information System (SCEIS) and is as of June 30.  If Actual is more than Authorized, it may be because during the course 
of the year, the Executive Budget Office authorizes interim FTE positions.  The agency typically requests authorization for these positions in the 
next budget.  If Actual is less than Authorized, it is because the agency has not set up all of the Authorized positions in SCEIS yet.  Filled FTEs are 
positions the agency has set up in SCEIS in which someone is actually working.  The Division of State Human Resources also provides the total 
salaries associated with the agency’s filled FTEs.  Figure 4 is a chart that shows the agency’s gain/loss of filled FTEs and the gain/loss of salary 
burden on the agency at the same time.27

Table 13.  DDSN Authorized FTE Positions (FY 2013-FY 2017). 
  2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

Total  2,191.40 2,152.40 2,122.90 2,122.90 2,122.90 

State 1,497.85 1,483.85 1,462.85 1,462.85 1,462.85 

Federal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Other 693.55 668.55 660.05 660.05 660.05 

 
Table 14.  DDSN Actual FTE Positions (FY 2013-FY 2017). 

  2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

Total  2,144.75 2,111.75 2,074.50 2,046.00 2,048.00 

State 1,556.75 1,499.25 1,474.00 1,454.00 1,459.00 

Federal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Other 588.00 612.50 600.50 592.00 589.00 

 
Table 15.  DDSN Filled FTE Positions (FY 2013-FY 2017). 

  2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

Total  1,901.50 1,873.25 1,855.00 1,781.50 1,692.00 

State 1,359.00 1,342.25 1,311.00 1,280.50 1,222.50 

Federal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Other 542.50 531.00 544.00 501.00 469.50 

 

 
Figure 5.  Total Authorized and Filled FTEs (FY 2013-FY 2017). 
 

 
Figure 6.  Total Filled FTEs and Total Salary Associated with FTEs (FY 2013-FY 2017).

1,500
1,600
1,700
1,800
1,900
2,000
2,100
2,200
2,300

Total Filled FTEs

Total Authorized
FTEs

$55,000,000
$56,000,000
$57,000,000
$58,000,000
$59,000,000
$60,000,000
$61,000,000

1,550
1,600
1,650
1,700
1,750
1,800
1,850
1,900
1,950

Filled FTE

Total Salary

28 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 44



STUDY PROCESS 
Agency Selection 

The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs is an agency subject to legislative oversight.28  On 
January 10, 2017, during the 122nd General Assembly, the Committee prioritizes the agency for study.29  

As the Committee encourages collaboration in its legislative oversight process, the Committee notifies the 
following individuals about the agency study:  Speaker of the House, standing committee chairs in the 
House, members of the House, Clerk of the Senate, and Governor. 

Subcommittee Membership 
The Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee of the House Legislative Oversight Committee studies the 
agency.30  The Honorable Phyllis J. Henderson serves as chair.  Other Subcommittee Members include: 

• The Honorable William “Bill” Bowers;
• The Honorable MaryGail Douglas; and
• The Honorable Bill Taylor.

Agency Reports to Legislative Oversight Committee 
During the legislative oversight process, the Committee asks the agency to conduct self-analysis by 
requiring it to complete and submit annual Restructuring Reports, a Seven-Year Plan for cost savings and 
increased efficiencies, and a Program Evaluation Report.  The Committee posts each report on the agency 
page of the Committee’s website.  

Restructuring Report  

The Annual Restructuring Report fulfills the requirement in S.C. Code § 1-30-10(G)(1) that annually each 
agency report to the General Assembly “detailed and comprehensive recommendations for the purposes 
of merging or eliminating duplicative or unnecessary divisions, programs, or personnel within each 
department to provide a more efficient administration of government services.”  The report, at a 
minimum, includes information in the following areas - history, mission and vision, laws strategic plan, 
human and financial resources, performance measures, and restructuring recommendations.  

The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs submits its Annual Restructuring Report in March 2015 
and on January 11, 2016.31  The agency’s 2015-2016 Annual Accountability Report to the Governor and 
General Assembly, which it submits in September of 2016 serves as its 2017 Annual Restructuring 
Report.32  The agency’s 2016-2017 Annual Accountability Report to the Governor and General Assembly, 
which it submits in September of 2017 serves as its 2018 Annual Restructuring Report.33 

29 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 45



 Seven-Year Plan for Cost Savings and Increased Efficiencies 
 
S.C. Code § 1-30-10 requires agencies to submit “a seven year plan that provides initiatives and/or 
planned actions that implement cost savings and increased efficiencies of services and responsibilities 
within the projected seven-year period.”  The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs submits its 
plan in March 2015.34 
 
  
 Program Evaluation Report 
 
When an agency is selected for study, the Committee may acquire evidence or information by any lawful 
means, including, but not limited to, "requiring the agency to prepare and submit to the investigating 
committee a program evaluation report by a date specified by the investigating committee."   S.C. Code 
§2-2-60 outlines what an investigating committee's request for a program evaluation report must 
contain.  Also it provides a list of information an investigating committee may request.  The Committee 
sends guidelines for the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs’ Program Evaluation Report (PER) 
on February 13, 2017.   The agency submits its report on May 1, 2017.  
 
The PER includes information in the following areas - agency snapshot, agency legal directives, strategic 
plan and resources, performance, agency ideas/recommendations, and additional documents.  The 
Program Evaluation Report serves as the base document for the Subcommittee’s study of the agency. 
 
 
Information from the Public 
 

Public input is a cornerstone of the House Legislative Oversight Committee’s process.35  There are a variety 
of opportunities for public input during the legislative oversight process.  Members of the public have an 
opportunity to participate anonymously in a public survey, provide comments anonymously via a link on 
the Committee’s website, and appear in person before the Committee.36  During the study, media articles 
related to the agency are compiled for member review. 
 
 Public Survey 
 
From February 9, 2017, to March 13, 2017, the Committee posts an online survey to solicit comments 
from the public about the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs and four other agencies.  The 
Committee sends information about this survey to all House members to forward to their constituents.  
Additionally, in an effort to communicate this public input opportunity widely, the Committee issues a 
statewide media release.37   
 
Four hundred fifty-three respondents to the survey choose to answer questions about DDSN, with at least 
one response coming from 39 of South Carolina’s 46 counties.38  Respondents are primarily from 
Richland, Lexington, Charleston, Greenville, and Spartanburg Counties.39 These comments are not 
considered testimony.40  As the survey notes, “input and observations from those citizens who [chose] to 
provide responses are very important . . . because they may help direct the Committee to potential areas 
for improvement with these agencies.”41  The survey results are posted on the Committee’s website.  The 
public is informed it may continue to submit written comments about agencies online after the public 
survey closes.42   
 

30 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 46



Of those survey participants that respond to questions related to DDSN, 66% have a positive or very 
positive opinion of the agency.43 
 

 
Figure 7.  Public opinion of DDSN from public survey.  
 
Over 75% of the public survey respondents base their opinions on personal or business with the agency.  
There are comments about the wait list, commission, staff dedication, local board oversight, 
communications, website, placement in state government, payment system, and funding.44 
 
 Public Input via Committee Website 
 
Throughout the course of the study, people are able to submit comments anonymously on the 
Committee website.  The Committee posts comments verbatim to the website, but they are not the 
comment or expression of the House Legislative Oversight Committee, any of its Subcommittees, or the 
House of Representatives.45  The Committee receives four comments via this method.  Topics include 
personnel policies, wages, and quality of care. 
   
 Public Input via In-Person Testimony 
 
During the study, the Committee offers the opportunity for the public to appear and provide sworn 
testimony.46  A press release announcing this opportunity is sent to media outlets statewide on February 
26, 2017.47  The Committee holds a meeting dedicated to public input about Department of Disabilities 
and Special Needs and other agencies on March 2, 2017.48  Further detail on the public input meeting is 
in the meetings section of this report.   
 

Very positive
26%

Positive
40%

Negative
19%

Very negative
10%

Do not have an 
opinion

5%

31 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 47



 
Meetings Regarding the Agency 
 

The Committee meets with, or about, the agency on two occasions, and the Subcommittee meets with, 
or about, the agency on eight occasions.  All meetings are open to the public and stream live online; also, 
the videos are archived and the minutes are available online.  A timeline of meetings is set forth in Figure 
2 beginning on page seven. 
 
122nd General Assembly (2017-2018) 
 

January 2017 
On January 10, 2017, the full Committee selects the agency for study.49   
 

March 2017 
On March 2, 2017, the full Committee holds its first meeting with the agency.  Committee Chairman Wm. 
Weston J. Newton states the purpose of this meeting is to receive public testimony regarding DDSN and 
other agencies.50  Constituents that have had experience with the agency testify.51   
 

September 2017 
On September 18, 2017, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 2 with the agency.  The Subcommittee receives  
testimony and ask questions about the agency’s mission, roles, governing structure, provider network, 
prioritization of services, changing populations, service expansion, waiting lists, quality assurance process, 
incident management reporting, abuse/neglect/exploitation reporting, provider performance, current 
challenges, and pending system changes.  Members also ask questions about the following, which State 
Director Buscemi answers: 

• Provider choice; 
• Medicaid funding; 
• Provider personnel policies related to abuse and neglect allegations; 
• Employee turnover; and 
• Other state systems.52 

 
October 2017 

On October 10, 2017, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 3 with the agency.  The Subcommittee receives 
testimony and members ask questions about the agency’s finances, governance, and services.  Members 
also ask questions about the following, which State Director Buscemi answers: 

• Provider licensing; 
• Room and board funding; 
• Local board oversight; 
• Band payment system; and 
• Service suspension.53 

 
On October 24, 2017, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 4 with the agency.  The Subcommittee receives 
testimony from Commission Chair Eva Ravenel and Commissioner Bill Danielson.  Members ask the 
Commissioners about the following: 

• Commission role; 
• Commission oversight of providers; 
• Commission operations; 

32 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 48



• Commission training; and 
• Band payment system. 

State Director Buscemi provides testimony about the band payment system, room and board, national 
benchmarks, regional centers, and client employment best practices.  Members ask questions about the 
following: 

• Tri-Development Center (Aiken board) operation of intermediate care facilities; 
• Other state payment systems; and 
• Board surplus funds.54 

 
November 2017 

On November 6, 2017, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 5 with the agency.  The Subcommittee receives 
testimony and members ask questions about the agency’s human resources, including turnover.             
Dr. Buscemi also provides testimony about steps taken to address direct support professional turnover.   
 
Associate State Director Susan Beck provides testimony and responds to questions about students 
transitioning from primarily receiving services in the school system, to receiving services from DDSN.  She 
also provides testimony about abuse, neglect, and exploitation allegations and incident management. 
 
Associate State Director Tom Waring provides testimony and responds to questions about agency 
computer systems and the compatibility of agency legacy systems with the statewide South Carolina 
Enterprise Information System (SCEIS).55 
 
On November 30, 2017, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 6 with the agency.  Department of Health and 
Human Services Interim Director Joshua Baker provides testimony about Medicaid and DDSN, General 
Medicaid authority, fee-for-service, coordinated care, and waiver services billing.   
  
Laura Spears, Transition Services Coordinator; Mark Wade, Assistant Commissioner; and Margaret 
Alewine, Director of Planning and Program Evaluation; from the Department of Vocational Rehabilitation, 
provide testimony about the transition of DDSN-eligible youth out of school and into the workforce.  
  
Subcommittee members ask questions about the sub-minimum wage and youth enrollment, which       
Ms. Spears and different agency representatives answer.  
 
Seven provider executive directors provide testimony about their relationship with the agency and their 
concerns.  Executive directors presented in the following order: 

• Thoyd Warren, Sumter County Disabilities and Special Needs;56 
• Mary Poole, MaxAbilities (York);57 
• Ralph Courtney, Tri-Development Center (Aiken); 
• Gerald Bernard, Charles Lea Center (Spartanburg); 
• Susan John, Horry County Disabilities and Special Needs; 
• Judy Johnson, Babcock Center (Lexington); and 
• Tyler Rex, Thrive Upstate (Greenville).58 

 
February 2018 

On February 1, 2018, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 7 with the agency.  The Subcommittee receives 
testimony about the provider payment system, from Interim State Director Pat Maley.  Mr. Maley 
provides a report of a payment system study he completed in the fall of 2017, including strengths and 

33 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 49



weaknesses of the current system, direction for improvement, and input from other states.  
Subcommittee members ask questions about band rate approval, outliers, administrative costs, and the 
payment study contracted for by DHHS.59 

July 2018 
On July 30, 2018, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 8 with the agency.  The Subcommittee receives 
testimony about the agency’s enterprise performance management system, from Interim State Director 
Pat Maley.  Specifically, he addresses: 

• Enterprise Performance Management and information systems being built to measure
effectiveness and operations;  

• What new performance management system measures;
• Previous year’s annual report data and how DDSN will utilize data;
• South Carolina compared to other states;
• DDSN weakness in measuring its own performance and how it is growing and developing new

processes to measure data and make it very transparent and descriptive;
• Complaints that DDSN is not honest because when they ask for information they get differing

information;
• A series of media articles;
• National Core Indicators; and
• Residential observations targeted at detecting abuse and neglect.

Subcommittee members ask questions about his testimony, Commission oversight when performance is 
poor, and family participation in decision-making.60  

August 2018  
On August 30, 2018, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 9 with the agency to take what the Subcommittee 
has learned about the agency, and determine if there are any recommendations, either to the agency 
itself or for changes to the law.  Interim Director Maley is available for questions.  

Subcommittee members make various motions.  A roll call vote is held for the various motions, and they 
pass.  Motion topics include: 

• Pilot program to expand pool of direct care professionals;
• Applicant notification;
• Self-sufficiency fund;
• Disability trust fund;
• Definition of intellectual disability;
• Definition of mental deficiency;
• Government entity zoning ordinances;
• Healthcare decision priority list;
• Definition of facility; and
• Sharing of information related to ANE investigations.61

Study Process Completion 

Pursuant to Committee Standard Practice 12.4, Subcommittee members may provide a separate written 
statement for inclusion with the Subcommittee’s Study report.  After receipt of any written statements, 
the Subcommittee Chair, pursuant to Committee Standard Practice 12.5, notifies the Committee Chair in 
writing that a Subcommittee Study is available for consideration by the full Committee. 

34 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 50



 
Once the Committee Chair receives written notice from the Subcommittee Chair, the Committee Chair, 
pursuant to Committee Standard Practice 13.1, includes the Subcommittee Study on the agenda for a full 
committee meeting.  During a full Committee meeting at which the Subcommittee Study is discussed, the 
Committee may vote, pursuant to Committee Standard Practice 13.2, to (1) refer the study and 
investigation back to the Subcommittee for further evaluation; (2) approve the Subcommittee’s study; or 
(3) further evaluate the agency as a full Committee, utilizing any of the resources of legislative oversight 
available. 
 
When the Committee approves a study, any member of the Committee may provide a written statement 
for inclusion with the study.  The study, and written statements, are published online and the agency, as 
well as all House Standing Committees, receive a copy.  The Committee shall offer at least one briefing to 
members of the House about the contents of the final oversight study approved by the Committee.62  The 
Committee Chair may provide briefings to the public about the final oversight study.63 
 
To support the Committee’s ongoing oversight by maintaining current information about the agency, the 
agency receives an annual Request for Information. 
  

35 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 51



RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The following recommendations include areas the Subcommittee identifies for potential improvement.  
The Subcommittee recognizes these recommendations will not satisfy everyone nor address every issue or 
potential area of improvement at the agency.  These recommendations are based on the agency’s self-
analysis requested by the Committee, discussions with the agency during multiple meetings, and analysis 
of the information obtained by the Subcommittee.  This information, including, but not limited to, the 
Program Evaluation Report, Accountability Report, Restructuring Report and videos of meetings with the 
agency, is available on the Committee’s website.   
 
Continue 
The Subcommittee does not have any specific recommendations with regards to continuance of agency 
programs.   
 
Revise 
The Subcommittee has fourteen recommendations for revisions.  All of the Subcommittee 
recommendations are adopted at its Thursday, August 30, 2018, meeting, by a unanimous vote of the 
Subcommittee.64  The Subcommittee’s recommendations fall into four categories: (1) recommendations 
to the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, (2) recommendation to the Commission on 
Disabilities and Special Needs, (3) recommendation to the Subcommittee, and (4) recommendations to 
the General Assembly.  An overview of these recommendations is provided in Table 1 on page 8. 
 
Recommendations to the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 
 
 Incentives to Expand the Pool of Direct Care Professionals 
The Subcommittee has one recommendation related to expanding the pool of direct care professionals, 
and a summary is set forth in Table 16. 
 
Table 16.  Recommendation to the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs.  

 Recommendation to Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 

Expand 
Potential Pool 
of Direct Care 
Professionals 

1.) The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs should seek funding to create a 
grant program or incentives for providers to expand the pool of Direct Care 
Professionals through shadowing programs, recognition programs, grassroots 
campaigns and training efforts designed to expand awareness about the profession 
and encourage greater participation by potential employees, specifically students 
preparing to graduate high school. 

   
Throughout the study, DDSN staff present evidence regarding the “shrinking work force to supply staff to 
serve consumers.”65  DDSN staff assert that direct support professional “stability is an important factor to 
the delivery of quality services” and that high “turnover and recruitment difficulties result in significant 
vacancies and increased overtime.”  Agency steps to address this issue include: providing 
recruitment/retention grants to providers, surveying direct support professionals on work satisfaction, 
and implementing changes as a result of the survey.66  Also, in the FY 2018 budget, DDSN receives $9 
million in new funding to increase the hiring wage to $11 per hour, which the agency characterizes as a 
significant step in addressing competitive wages.67  In the FY 2019 budget, DDSN receives $11.3 million to 

36 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 52



increase DDSN’s direct care staff starting salaries to $12 per hour and a 3-4% increase to direct care 
wages for employees working with the department for at least five years.68   
 
The purpose of this recommendation is to add another way to expand the pool of potential employees, 
by reaching them earlier and allowing them to get first-hand experience prior to applying for a direct 
support profession position. 
 
Agency Follow Up 
Table 17.  Recommendation to the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs.  

 Recommendation to Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 
Provide 
Progress 
Report to 

Healthcare 
and 

Regulatory 
Subcommittee  

2.) The State Director should report to the Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 
in six months regarding changes implemented as a result of the Legislative Oversight 
process and the agency’s internal improvement processes. 

 
Recommendation to the Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs 
 
 Regulations 
The Subcommittee has two recommendations related to agency regulations, one of which is for the DDSN 
Commission.  A summary is set forth in Table 18. 
 
Table 18.  Recommendation to the Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs. 

 Recommendation to Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs 

Review 
Agency 

Regulatory 
Environment 

3.) The Commission should undertake a complete review of the agency’s regulatory 
environment, including existing and needed regulations.  If that review reveals 
regulations that should be promulgated, amended, or repealed, the Commission 
should proceed through the procedures in Title 1, Chapter 23 of the South Carolina 
Code of Laws, related to state agency rulemaking. 

 
S.C. Code Ann. § 44-20-220 provides the duties of the Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs, and 
states “The Commission shall determine policy and promulgate regulations governing the operation of 
the department and the employment of professional staff and personnel.”  The Commission has not 
proposed a new regulation, amendment or repeal of a regulation in at least two decades.69   In 2017, the 
Commission approves a set of regulatory change recommendations to the Legislative Oversight 
Committee.  Despite expressing a need, the Commission has yet to take steps to amend or repeal these 
regulations through the normal agency-initiated regulatory process.   
 
Recommendation to the Legislative Oversight Committee’s Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee  
 Regulations 
The Subcommittee has two recommendations related to agency regulations, one of which is to itself.  A 
summary is set forth in Table 19. 
 

37 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 53



Table 19. Recommendation to the Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee. 

 Recommendation to the Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee of the House 
Legislative Oversight Committee 

Review 
Agency 

Regulatory 
Environment 

4.) The Subcommittee should formally communicate to the House Regulations and 
Administrative Procedures Committee that the Commission on Disabilities and Special 
Needs has reviewed some regulations and determined they should be amended.  This 
study will be available as a resource whenever the Commission promulgates new 
regulations or proposes amendments to existing regulations 

 
In October 2017, the Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs approves submission of thirteen 
recommendations for changes to existing regulations to the Legislative Oversight Committee.  Despite 
indicating a need for changes, the Commission does not provide notice of drafting or take any other step 
in the regulatory process.  In anticipation of the eventual action to be taken by the Commission on 
Disabilities and Special Needs, the Subcommittee seeks to provide a resource for the regulatory process. 
 
Recommendations to the General Assembly 
 
 Criteria for Commission Membership 
The Subcommittee has one recommendation related to criteria for Commission membership. A summary 
is set forth in Table 20. 
 
Table 20.  Recommendation to the General Assembly. 

 Recommendation to the General Assembly 
Develop 

Criteria for 
Commission 
Membership 

5.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code Ann. § 44-20-210 to 
establish knowledge and expertise criteria for membership on the Commission on 
Disabilities and Special Needs. 

 
Throughout the study, Subcommittee members remark on the complexity of DDSN, from the structure to 
payment system.  South Carolina is the only state where the intellectual disabilities agency is a standalone 
agency, governed by a commission of volunteers.  Other states have advisory commissions, but they are 
not charged with determining policy for the agency or statewide system.  Current Commission Chair Eva 
Ravenel provides testimony at the October 24, 2017, meeting.  When asked how commissioners are 
appointed, she states “They are appointed by the Governor.  I think the Governor is doing it wrong.  You 
need someone who has a knowledge and passion for people with disabilities.”70 
 
 Agency Recommendations for Statutory Changes 
As a part of the PER process, the Committee asks the agency to submit recommendations for statutory 
changes.  These recommendations can be for myriad reasons including to update the Code of Laws to 
reflect current practices and to remove impediments to accomplishing the agency’s mission.  The 
Subcommittee adopts nine agency recommendations, with some modifications.  Summaries are set forth 
in Tables 21-26.  The agency’s proposed strikethrough and underline language is included in Appendix A.  
The agency makes additional recommendations, which the Subcommittee receives for information 
purposes only.  They are in Appendix B. 
 
 

38 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 54



Table 21.  Recommendation to clarify entities providing services. 
Subject Impacted Code 

Section 
Recommendation 

Clarify Entities 
Providing 
Services  

S.C. Code Ann. § 
44-20-370 (A) 

6.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code 
Ann. § 44-20-370(A) to reflect that services are offered through 
private qualified providers as well as county DSN boards.  In 
addition, the Subcommittee recommends the agency develop a 
definition of “qualified provider,” for inclusion in Title 44, 
Chapter 20 of the S.C. Code of Laws.  

 
Private qualified providers account for 15% of service spending in the DDSN system.71  Entities become 
qualified providers by responding to an ongoing solicitation for providers.72  County-based disabilities and 
special needs boards are able to become private qualified providers if there are services the board would 
like to provide outside of its home county. 
 
Table 22.  Recommendations to repeal Self-Sufficiency and Disability Trust Funds. 

Subject Impacted Code 
Section 

Recommendation 

Repeal Self-
Sufficiency 
Fund 

S.C. Code Ann. § 
44-28-10 through 
§ 44-28-80 

7.) The General Assembly should consider repealing S.C. Code 
Ann. § 44-28-10 through § 44-28-80 because the fund was not 
established and in 2016, the General Assembly established the 
South Carolina ABLE savings program, which serves the same 
purpose, and is made possible by the federal Achieving Better 
Life Experience Act.  

Repeal 
Disability Trust 
Fund 

S.C. Code Ann.      
§ 44-28-310 
through § 44-28-
370 

8.) The General Assembly should consider repealing S.C. Code 
Ann. § 44-28-310 through § 44-28-370 because the fund was 
never established and in 2016, the General Assembly 
established the South Carolina ABLE savings program, which 
serves the same purpose.  

 
The Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund is established in 1992 to provide a “life-care planning option to meet the 
supplemental service needs of individuals with disabilities in order to enable parents and families to plan 
a more secure future for their disabled dependents without fear of loss of benefits or invasion of trust 
principal.”73  The Disability Trust Fund is established in 1992 to provide “supplemental services to meet 
the needs of low income and indigent individuals with disabilities.”74  The South Carolina ABLE Savings 
Program, established in 2016, authorizes:  

[E]stablishment of savings accounts empowering individuals with a disability and their families 
to save private funds which can be used to provide for disability-related expenses in a way that 
supplements, but does not supplant, benefits provided through private insurance, the Medicaid 
program under Title XIX of the Social Security Act, the supplemental security income program 
under Title XVI of the Social Security Act, the beneficiary's employment, and other sources; and 
to provide guidelines for the maintenance of these accounts.75  

 
DDSN recommends repealing the Self-Sufficiency and Disability Trust Funds because they serve the same 
purpose as the later-enacted ABLE program.  Other agencies serving clients qualifying for the two trust 
funds, including the Department of Mental Health and Vocational Rehabilitation, support repeal.  If both 
sections are repealed, the result is repeal of all of Chapter 28 of Title 44.  
 

39 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 55



Table 23.  Recommendations to make definitions of “intellectual disability” consistent. 
Subject Impacted Code 

Section 
Recommendation 

Make 
Definitions of 
Intellectual 
Disability 
Consistent 

S.C. Code Ann.      
§ 44-23-10 (22) 

9.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code 
Ann § 44-23-10(22) so that the definition of intellectual 
disability is consistent with the definition in S.C. Code Ann.        
§ 44-20-30(12).7677 

Replace Mental 
Deficiency with 
Intellectual 
Disability  

S.C. Code Ann.      
§ 44-25-20(g) 

10.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code 
Ann. § 44-25-20(g), to replace “mental deficiency” and its 
definition with “intellectual disability” and its definition as 
stated in S.C. Code Ann § 44-20-30(12).  In addition, the 
Subcommittee recommends that “mental deficiency” be 
replaced with “intellectual disability” throughout Title 44, 
Chapter 25.  

 
Two nationally recognized entities provide definitions of “intellectual disabilities” similar to the definition 
the Department recommends.  The American Association of Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities 
defines intellectual disability as follows: “Intellectual disability is a disability characterized by significant 
limitations in both intellectual functioning and in adaptive behavior, which covers many everyday social 
and practical skills. This disability originates before the age of 18.”78  The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual 
of Mental Disorders (DSM) defines intellectual disability as a “disorder with onset during the 
developmental period that includes both intellectual and adaptive functioning deficits in conceptual, 
social, and practical domains.”79  
 
Chapter 25 of Title 44 is the Interstate Compact on Mental Health, which South Carolina enters in 1959.  
Changing the term should not impact the state’s membership, as different states use different terms and 
definitions, including “mental deficiency, mental retardation, and intellectual disability.” 
 
Table 24.  Recommendation to be in compliance with federal fair housing laws. 

Subject Impacted Code 
Section 

Recommendation 

Correct 
Inconsistency 
with Federal 
Fair Housing 
Law 

S.C. Code Ann.      
§ 6-29-770 

11.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code 
Ann. § 6-29-770 to remove the requirement that notice be 
given for a home for persons with disabilities, as it violates 
federal Fair Housing Laws.80 

 
In 1988, the protections against housing discrimination in the federal Fair Housing Act are extended to 
people with disabilities.  Case law interpreting the Act state requirements for notice of a group home 
constitute a discriminatory classification in violation of the Act, when they are not imposed on any other 
properly zoned residential unit.  
 
Table 25.  Recommendation to adjust priority of people/entities making healthcare decisions. 

Subject Impacted Code 
Section 

Recommendation 

Adjust Priority 
List of Persons 

S.C. Code Ann.      
§ 44-66-30(A) 

12.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code 
Ann. § 44-66-30(A) to give DDSN last priority in health care 

40 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 56



Who Can Make 
Healthcare 
Decisions 

decisions for persons unable to consent, as “a person given 
authority to make health care decisions for the patient by 
another statutory provision.”  Section 44-26-40, § 44-26-50, 
and § 44-26-60(C) should all be amended to refer to the 
correct priority number in § 44-66-30. 

 
The agency requests amendment to the Adult Health Care Consent Act, because in its most recent 
amendment, an inconsistency is created between DDSN statutes providing authority to use the Act and 
the Department’s priority in the Act itself.  As a result, there is uncertainty in the provider network 
regarding who to seek consent from for medical treatment, when the client is unable to consent.  The 
agency seeks to be last in the priority order.81 
 
Table 26.  Recommendations related to the Omnibus Adult Protection Act. 

Subject Impacted Code 
Section 

Recommendation 

Add Day 
Program To 
Definition of 
Facility 

S.C. Code Ann.      
§ 43-35-10(4) 

13.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code 
Ann. § 43-35-10(4) to include day programs in the definition of 
“facility” in the Omnibus Adult Protection Act. 

Require Sharing 
of Case 
Disposition 
With Agency 

S.C. Code Ann.      
§ 43-35-60 

14.) The General Assembly should consider amending S.C. Code 
Ann. § 43-35-60 to require investigating agencies to share 
specific abuse, neglect, or exploitation case dispositions with 
the relevant state agency. 

 
Title 43, Chapter 35 is the Omnibus Adult Protection Act.  Addition of day programs to the facilities 
definitions expands the settings subject to requirements in the Act.   
 
The Department of Mental Health agrees with Recommendation 14, and SLED agrees in concept but asks 
the Subcommittee consider requiring investigative entities to share closed case dispositions with the 
relevant state agency, so the agency can share it with the facility. 
 
Eliminate  

 
The Subcommittee does not have any specific recommendations with regards to elimination of agency 
programs.   

  

41 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 57



SELECTED AGENCY INFORMATION 
Department of Disabilities and Special Needs. “Program Evaluation Report, 2017.” 

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpag
es/DisabilitiesandSpecialNeeds/DDSN%20PER%205_2_17%20PDF.pdf (accessed September 22, 
2017). 

Department of Disabilities and Special Needs. “Restructuring and Seven-Year Plan Report, 2015.”  
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2015AgencyRe
structuringandSevenYearPlanReports/2015%20Department%20of%20Disabilities%20and%20Special
%20Needs.pdf (accessed September 22, 2018).  

Department of Disabilities and Special Needs. “Agency Accountability Report, 2016-2017.” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpag
es/DisabilitiesandSpecialNeeds/Reports%20&%20Audits%20-
%20Reports%20and%20Reviews/Accountability%20Report%20-%202016-2017.pdf (accessed 
September 22, 2018).  

S.C. House of Representatives, Legislative Oversight Committee.  “February 2017 Survey Results.”  
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SurveysforAllAg
encies/Results%20from%202017%20Survey%20of%20DDSN;%20Election%20Commission;%20Human
%20Affairs%20Commission;%20and%20John%20de%20la%20Howe%20School%20(2_9%20-
3_13).PDF (accessed September 22, 2018).  

42 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 58



APPENDICES 
 
  

43 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 59



Appendix A.  Statutory Change Recommendations 
Statute  § 44-20-370 (A) 

Explanation of 
Revision 

(Recommendation 6) Amends statute to reflect that services are offered through private qualified 
providers as well as the county DSN boards. 

Recommended 
Language 

A) The department shall: 
 
            (1) Notify applicants when they have qualified under the provisions of this chapter; 

(2) Establish standards of operation and service for private qualified providers and county 
disabilities and special needs programs funded in part or in whole by state appropriations to 
the department or through other fiscal resources under its control; 
(3) Review service plans submitted  by private qualified providers and county boards of 
disabilities and special needs and determine priorities for funding plans or portions of the 
plans subject to available funds; 
(4) Review private qualified providers and county programs covered in this chapter; 
(5) Offer consultation and direction to private qualified providers and county boards; 

(B) The department shall seek to develop and utilize the most current and promising methods for the 
training of persons with intellectual disability, related disabilities, head injuries, and spinal cord injuries. 
It shall utilize the assistance, services, and findings of other state and federal agencies. The department 
shall disseminate these methods to private qualified providers and the county boards and programs 
providing related services. 

Statute  § 44-28-10 through § 44-28-80 

Explanation of 
Revision 

(Recommendation 7) Repeals self-sufficiency trust fund because it was never established and the ABLE 
act is now in effect. 

Recommended 
Language 

SECTION 44-28-10. Establishment of fund; purpose. 
 There is established the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund, separate and distinct from the general fund, in the 
State Treasury. The purpose of the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund is to provide a life-care planning option to 
meet the supplemental service needs of individuals with disabilities in order to enable parents and 
families to plan a more secure future for their disabled dependents without fear of loss of benefits or 
invasion of trust principal. 
 
SECTION 44-28-20. Definition of “self-sufficiency trust.” 
 For the purpose of this chapter “a self-sufficiency trust” means a trust created by a nonprofit 
corporation exempt from federal income taxes pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986 and organized for purposes of providing care or treatment of one or more developmentally 
disabled, mentally ill, or physically handicapped persons eligible for services of the South Carolina 
Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, State Department of Mental Health, or the State Agency of 
Vocational Rehabilitation. 
 
SECTION 44-28-30. State Treasurer custodian of trust fund; agreement to specify supplemental care or 
treatment for each beneficiary. 
 (A) The State Treasurer is the custodian of the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund and pursuant to an 
agreement with the trustee of a self-sufficiency trust may accept money from a self-sufficiency trust in 
the name of a beneficiary for deposit in the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund. The treasurer shall maintain a 
separate account in the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund for each named beneficiary and shall promptly credit 
the account of a beneficiary with money received from a self-sufficiency trust on behalf of that 
beneficiary. 
 (B) The agreement, naming one or more beneficiaries residing in this State who are developmentally 
disabled, mentally ill, or physically handicapped, must specify the supplemental care or treatment to be 
provided for each named beneficiary with the money deposited in the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund. 
 
SECTION 44-28-40. Departments and Agency required to provide care or treatment using monies in fund 
account; vouchers. 
 (A) The South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, State Department of Mental 
Health, or the State Agency of Vocational Rehabilitation must provide care or treatment for a beneficiary 
from monies available from the beneficiary’s account maintained in the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund. 

44 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 60



 (B) Upon proper certification by the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, the 
State Department of Mental Health, or the State Agency of Vocational Rehabilitation, the State Treasurer 
shall process vouchers from the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund accounts for services provided pursuant to 
this section. 
 
SECTION 44-28-50. Receipt of monies from fund not to reduce, impair, or diminish other benefits. 
 The receipt by a beneficiary of money from the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund or of supplemental care or 
treatment provided with money from the fund may in no way reduce, impair, or diminish the benefits to 
which the beneficiary is otherwise entitled by law. 
 
SECTION 44-28-60. Money not usable for supplemental care and treatment to be returned to depositing 
trust; interest. 
 If the State Treasurer after consultation with the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special 
Needs, the State Department of Mental Health, or the State Agency of Vocational Rehabilitation 
determines that the money in the account of a named beneficiary cannot be used for supplemental care 
or treatment of the beneficiary in a manner consistent with the agreement or upon request of the trustee 
of the self-sufficiency trust, the remaining money in the account and any accumulated interest promptly 
must be returned to the self-sufficiency trust which deposited the money in the Self-Sufficiency Trust 
Fund. 
 
SECTION 44-28-70. Crediting and allocation of interest. 
 The State Treasurer shall credit interest earned on the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund to the fund and shall 
allocate the interest pro rata to the accounts of the named beneficiaries of the fund. 
 
SECTION 44-28-80. Departments and Agency to promulgate regulations for implementation and 
administration of fund. 
 The South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, the State Department of Mental 
Health, and the State Agency of Vocational Rehabilitation shall promulgate regulations necessary for the 
implementation and administration of the Self-Sufficiency Trust Fund. 
 

Statute  § 44-28-310 through § 44-28-370 

Explanation of 
Revision 

(Recommendation 8) Repeals disability trust fund because it was never established and the ABLE act is 
now in effect. 

Recommended 
Language 

SECTION 44-28-310. Establishment of fund; purpose. 
 There is established the Disability Trust Fund, separate and distinct from the general fund, in the State 
Treasury. The purpose of the Disability Trust Fund is to provide supplemental services to meet the needs 
of low income and indigent individuals with disabilities. 
 
SECTION 44-28-320. Source of monies for fund. 
 The State Treasurer may accept for deposit in the Disability Trust Fund: 
 (1) monies left to the Disability Trust Fund by donors of a self-sufficiency trust defined in Article 1 of 
this chapter at the death of the disabled beneficiary; and 
 (2) bequests and contributions from private donors, corporations, or foundations. 
 
SECTION 44-28-330. Use of monies in fund. 
 Monies in the Disability Trust Fund must be expended solely to provide supplemental services to meet 
the need for care or treatment for low income or indigent individuals with developmental disabilities, 
mental illness, or physical handicaps. 
 
SECTION 44-28-340. Interest earned to be credited to fund. 
 The State Treasurer shall credit earned interest on the Disability Trust Fund to the fund. 
 
SECTION 44-28-350. Receipt of monies from fund not to reduce, impair, or diminish other benefits. 
 The receipt by a beneficiary of money from the trust fund or of supplemental care or treatment 
provided with money from the trust fund does not in any way reduce, impair, or diminish the benefits to 
which the beneficiary is otherwise entitled by law. 
 

45 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 61



SECTION 44-28-360. Departments and Agency required to provide care or treatment to eligible 
beneficiaries using monies from fund. 
 The South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, State Department of Mental Health, 
or State Agency of Vocational Rehabilitation must provide care or treatment for the beneficiary from 
monies available from the Disability Trust Fund. These agencies are responsible only for the beneficiaries 
that meet their individual eligibility criteria. 
 
SECTION 44-28-370. Departments and Agency to promulgate regulations for implementation and 
administration of fund. 
 The South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, the State Department of Mental 
Health, and the State Department of Vocational Rehabilitation shall promulgate regulations necessary for 
the implementation and administration of the Disability Trust Fund. 
 

Statute  §  44-23-10 (22) 

Explanation of 
Revision 

(Recommendation 9) Makes definitions of intellectual disability consistent. 

Recommended 
Language 

(22) "Person with intellectual disability" means a person, other than a person with a mental illness 
primarily in need of mental health services, whose inadequately developed or impaired intelligence 
and adaptive level of behavior require for the person's benefit, or that of the public, special training, 
education, supervision, treatment, care, or control in the person's home or community or in a 
service facility or program under the control and management of the Department of Disabilities and 
Special Needs. with significantly sub average general intellectual functioning   existing concurrently 
with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the developmental period. 

 
Statute  § 44-25-20 (g) 

Explanation of 
Revision 

(Recommendation 10) Changes mental deficiency to intellectual disability. 

Recommended 
Language 

(g) "Mental deficiency" shall mean mental deficiency as defined by appropriate clinical authorities to 
such extent that a person so afflicted is incapable of managing himself and his affairs, but shall not 
include mental illness as defined herein. 
 “ Intellectual disability” means significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning   existing 
concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the developmental period. 

 
*Replace mental deficiency with intellectual disability throughout chapter. 

Statute  § 6-29-770 

Explanation of 
Revision 

(Recommendation 11) Removes section of code inconsistent with federal Fair Housing Laws. 

Recommended 
Language 

(E) The provisions of this section do not apply to a home serving nine or fewer mentally or physically 
handicapped persons provided the home provides care on a twenty-four hour basis and is approved or 
licensed by a state agency or department or under contract with the agency or department for that 
purpose. A home is construed to be a natural family or such similar term as may be utilized by any county 
or municipal zoning ordinance to refer to persons related by blood or marriage. Prior to locating the home 
for the handicapped persons, the appropriate state agency or department or the private entity operating 
the home under contract must first give prior notice to the local governing body administering the 
pertinent zoning laws, advising of the exact site of any proposed home. The notice must also identify the 
individual representing the agency, department, or private entity for site selection purposes. If the local 
governing body objects to the selected site, the governing body must notify the site selection 
representative of the entity seeking to establish the home within fifteen days of receiving notice and 
must appoint a representative to assist the entity in selection of a comparable alternate site or structure, 
or both. The site selection representative of the entity seeking to establish the home and the 
representative of the local governing body shall select a third mutually agreeable person. The three 
persons have forty-five days to make a final selection of the site by majority vote. This final selection is 
binding on the entity and the governing body. In the event no selection has been made by the end of the 
forty-five day period, the entity establishing the home shall select the site without further proceedings. 
An application for variance or special exception is not required. No person may intervene to prevent the 
establishment of a community residence without reasonable justification. 

46 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 62



 
Statute  § 44-66-30(A); § 44-26-40; § 44-26-50; and § 44-26-60(C)  

Explanation of 
Revision 

(Recommendation 12) Make entities with authority to make healthcare decisions last in the priority and 
corrects code references. 

Recommended 
Language 

SECTION 44-66-30. Persons who may make health care decisions for patient who is unable to consent; 
order of priority; exceptions. 
 (A) Where a patient is unable to consent, decisions concerning his health care may be made by the 
following persons in the following order of priority: 
  (1) a guardian appointed by the court pursuant to Article 5, Part 3 of the South Carolina Probate 
Code, if the decision is within the scope of the guardianship; 
  (2) an attorney-in-fact appointed by the patient in a durable power of attorney executed pursuant 
to Section 62-5-501, if the decision is within the scope of his authority; 
  (3) a person given priority to make health care decisions for the patient when the agency has taken 
custody of the patient by another statutory provision; 
  (4) a spouse of the patient unless the spouse and the patient are separated pursuant to one of the 
following: 
   (a) entry of a pendente lite order in a divorce or separate maintenance action; 
   (b) formal signing of a written property or marital settlement agreement; or 
   (c) entry of a permanent order of separate maintenance and support or of a permanent order 
approving a property or marital settlement agreement between the parties; 
  (5) an adult child of the patient, or if the patient has more than one adult child, a majority of the 
adult children who are reasonably available for consultation; 
  (6) a parent of the patient; 
  (7) an adult sibling of the patient, or if the patient has more than one adult sibling, a majority of the 
adult siblings who are reasonably available for consultation; 
  (8) a grandparent of the patient, or if the patient has more than one grandparent, a majority of the 
grandparents who are reasonably available for consultation; 
  (9) any other adult relative by blood or marriage who reasonably is believed by the health care 
professional to have a close personal relationship with the patient, or if the patient has more than one 
other adult relative, a majority of those other adult relatives who are reasonably available for 
consultation; 
        (10) a person given authority to make health care decisions for the patient by another statutory 
provision. 
SECTION 44-26-40. Determination of competency to consent to or refuse major medical treatment. 
 If a client resides in a facility operated by or contracted to by the department, the determination of 
that client’s competency to consent to or refuse major medical treatment must be made pursuant to 
Section 44-66-20(6) 44-66-20(8) of the Adult Health Care Consent Act. The department shall abide by the 
decision of a client found competent to consent. 
 
SECTION 44-26-50. Health care decisions of client found incompetent to consent to or refuse major 
medical treatment. 
 If the client is found incompetent to consent to or refuse major medical treatment, the decisions 
concerning his health care must be made pursuant to Section 44-66-30 of the Adult Health Care Consent 
Act. An authorized designee of the department may make a health care decision pursuant to Section 
44-66-30(8) 44-66-30(10) of the Adult Health Care Consent Act. The person making the decision must be 
informed of the need for major medical treatment, alternative treatments, and the nature and 
implications of the proposed health care and shall consult the attending physician before making 
decisions. When feasible, the person making the decision shall observe or consult with the client found 
to be incompetent. 
 
SECTION 44-26-60. Health care decisions of minor clients. 
 (A) If the client is a minor, the decisions concerning his health care must be made by the following 
persons in the following order of priority: 
  (1) legal guardian; 
  (2) parent; 
  (3) grandparent or adult sibling; 
  (4) other relative by blood or marriage who reasonably is believed by the health care professional 
to have a close personal relationship with the client; 

47 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 63



  (5) other person who reasonably is believed by the health care professional to have a close personal 
relationship with the client; 
  (6) authorized designee of the department. 
 (B) If persons of equal priority disagree on whether certain health care must be provided to a client 
who is a minor, a person authorized in subsection (A), a health care provider involved in the care of the 
client, or another person interested in the welfare of the client may petition the probate court for an 
order determining what care is to be provided or for appointment of a temporary or permanent guardian. 
 (C) Priority under this section must not be given to a person if a health care provider, responsible for 
the care of a client who is unable to consent, determines that the person is not reasonably available, is 
not willing to make health care decisions for the client, or is unable to consent as defined in Section 
44-66-20(6) 44-66-20(8) of the Adult Health Care Consent Act. 
 (D) In an emergency health care may be provided without consent pursuant to Section 44-66-40 of 
the Adult Health Care Consent Act to a person found incompetent to consent to or refuse major medical 
treatment or who is incapacitated solely by virtue of minority. 

Statute  § 43-35-10(4) 

Explanation of 
Revision 

(Recommendation 13) Adds day programs to the list of facilities that are settings subject to the Omnibus 
Adult Protection Act (OAPA). 

Recommended 
Language 

4) "Facility" means a nursing care facility, community residential care facility, a psychiatric hospital, day 
program  or any residential program operated or contracted for operation by the Department of Mental 
Health or the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs. 

Statute  § 43-35-60 

Explanation of 
Revision 

(Recommendation 14) Requires investigating entities to share specific case dispositions with the relevant 
state agency. 

Recommended 
Language 

Unless otherwise prohibited by law, a state agency, an investigative entity, and law 
enforcement may share information related to an investigation conducted as a result of a 
report made under this chapter.  An investigative entity and law enforcement shall share 
specific case dispositions with the relevant state agency. Information in these investigative 
records must not be disclosed publicly. 

 
 
  

48 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 64



Appendix B.  Agency Recommendations Received for Information Purposes 
Only 

 
Recommendations Internal Changes Included in PER 
1. Internal Change: Evaluation of Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation (ANE) reporting and follow up system.  
 
• The Legislative Audit Council (LAC) reviewed DDSN in 2014 and made several recommendations related to the 

ANE system.  Last year DDSN asked the South Carolina Inspector General (SIG) to conduct a review of one of the 
private providers, S.C. Mentor.  In this review the SIG made several recommendations about the South Carolina 
statewide ANE system.  Most of the recommendations related to ANE centered around improving timely 
investigation and ensuring appropriate follow through of ANE allegations by the individual service provider and 
DDSN. 

• DDSN hosted meetings with state agencies involved in the statewide ANE reporting and investigation process to 
discuss the potential implementation of the recommendations.  DDSN does not have authority to unilaterally 
change this statewide process; it requires the cooperation of multiple agencies.  This multi-agency group has 
referred several recommendations to the Adult Protection Coordinating Council as the entity best suited for 
further discussion and possible decision making on some of the recommendations.  A specific recommendation 
of South Carolina having a single point of entry for all reports of potential ANE, regardless of the location or age 
of the vulnerable individual is being specifically discussed in multiple agency work groups.  

 
 DDSN staff are currently participating in meeting with the Institute of Medicine and Public Health to establish 

an Adult Abuse Registry.  The need for an Adult Abuse Registry has been noted in several prior reviews of 
DDSN and other agencies supporting vulnerable adults.  DDSN also continues representation on the Adult 
Protection Coordinating Council where a sub-group is working on the need for a single contact point for all 
allegations of abuse, neglect or exploitation towards vulnerable adults.  The current system is complex and 
requires different entities to receive reports, depending on the age of the person affected or where the 
person lives.  

 
 DDSN staff are currently reviewing Standard of Care related data from the State Long-Term Care 

Ombudsman’s office to improve transparency in the data shared with the public.  Based on Federal 
guidelines, the SLTCOP uses 101 classifications for Standard for Care violations.  DDSN is organizing similar 
complaint types into 7 distinct categories for internal reporting purposes.  This information can them be used 
to target specific agency training aimed at improving consumer satisfaction and the overall quality of care.  

• DDSN has modified some of the agency process to implement other aspects of the recommendations of the SIG 
or LAC and others are still under consideration.  

a) Stage of analysis; Recommendations are complete; some internal changes have been implemented; 
some are still under consideration; and others require discussion, approval and implementation by 
multiple entities, including state agencies or local law enforcement.  

b) Objectives and Associated Performance measures impacted and predicted impact;  

• Annual Rate of Substantiated Allegations of Abuse/Neglect/Exploitation Per 100 Served in 
Community Residential Settings: The recommendations center around ways to improve the existing 
statewide ANE system, which included better program review and enhanced resources improve 

49 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 65



timeliness of investigative closures and follow through from the provider and DDSN.  These have 
the potential to improve the overall reporting and investigation of ANE allegations.  If 
recommendations result in improved response and follow through and remediation of the 
circumstances surrounding allegations of ANE, potentially, the likelihood of repeated situations 
resulting in allegations of ANE will be lessened.  

• Annual Rate of Substantiated Allegations of Abuse/Neglect/Exploitation Per 100 Served in Regional 
Centers: Many of the recommendations centered around those allegations that result in referrals 
to Local Law Enforcement (LLE).  Most allegations of ANE at the regional centers are investigated by 
the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) unless the allegation involves a minor, in which 
case the investigation will be referred to the South Carolina Department of Social Services (DSS).  
The response time for these investigations are generally quicker than LLE.  However, other changes 
in the overall statewide system could affect the Regional Centers as well.  

c) Costs of the objectives that will be impacted and the anticipated impact;  

• Objective 3.1.8: The annual rate of substantiated ANE per 100 served will be less than 0.07% in 
community residential settings and 0.25% in Regional Centers.  Changes internal to DDSN or to 
the statewide system of reporting and investigation of ANE have potential to impact the 
reporting and tracking of the allegations as well as the quality of care resulting in the number 
of allegations.  

d) On which objective(s) the agency plans to utilize additional available funds if the change saves costs, or 
obtain funds if the change requires additional funds, and how the objective(s) receiving or releasing the 
funds will be impacted;  

• The cost of implementation is not yet known.  

e) Anticipated implementation date: Still under consideration and review; unknown.  

 
2. Internal Change: Changes to the Tracking and Reporting of Critical Incidents 
 
• DDSN tracked medically-oriented "critical incidents" and determined that they account for about 60% of all 

Critical Incident Reports submitted through the agency's web-based reporting system.  Based on the fact that 
DDSN serves a population that is aging in place and some are receiving end of life care in their residential settings, 
DDSN will transition the medically-oriented events to Therap General Event Reporting (GER).  The events that will 
be transitioned to Therap include hospitalizations, emergency room visits, illnesses such as flu or pneumonia, and 
major medical events (cardiac events, stroke, uncontrolled seizures, and admission to ICU or CCU).  These events 
are medical in nature and are not the result of any action or inaction by staff supporting the DDSN service 
recipient.  

• Falls, choking incidents, and any accidents involving serious injury will continue to be reported as "Critical 
Incidents."  This will allow for better reporting of true "critical incidents" and better assist DDSN in supporting 
provider agencies with training and technical assistance with prevention efforts. 

a) Stage of analysis: DDSN has already changed how these critical incidents are reported to the DSN Commission 
and other stakeholders.  The change the data collection utilizing Therap will occur in summer 2017. 

b) Objectives and Associated Performance measures impacted and predicted impact:  

50 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 66



• Annual Rate of Critical Incidents Per 100 Served in Community Residential Settings: Shifting reporting 
and tracking of more routine medical incidents will allow the agency and providers to more appropriately 
focus on true critical incidents.  This will likely afford more opportunity to engage in prevention efforts 
and remediation after an incident and therefore reduce the overall number of incidents. 

• Annual Rate of Critical Incidents Per 100 Served in Regional Centers: Shifting reporting and tracking of 
more routine medical incidents will allow the agency and providers to more appropriately focus on true 
critical incidents.  This will likely afford more time and opportunity to engage in prevention efforts and 
remediation after an incident and therefore reduce the overall number of incidents. 

• Annual Rate of Fall Related Critical Incidents Per 100 Served in Community Residential Settings: This 
measure will continue to be measured through the Critical Incident Management System, but shifting 
the reporting and tracking of less critical, routine medical incidents will allow the agency and providers 
to more appropriately focus more severe incidents.  

• Annual Rate of Fall Related Critical Incidents Per 100 Served in Regional Centers: This measure will 
continue to be measured through the Critical Incident Management System, but shifting the reporting 
and tracking of less critical, routine medical incidents will allow the agency and providers to more 
appropriately focus more severe incidents.  

c) Costs of the objectives that will be impacted and the anticipated impact: 
• Objective 3.1.6: Annual rate of falls leading to injury per 100 consumers served in community residential 

and Regional Centers will be less than 1.12.  This data will continue to be measured through the Critical 
Incident Management System, but shifting the reporting and tracking of less critical, routine medical 
incidents will allow the agency and providers to more appropriately focus more severe incidents.  

• Objective 3.1.7: Annual rate of critical incident report per 100 consumers should not exceed 19 in 
residential settings and 39 in Regional Centers.  Shifting reporting and tracking of more routine medical 
incidents will allow the agency and providers to more appropriately focus on true critical incidents.  This 
will likely afford more opportunity to engage in prevention efforts and remediation after an incident and 
therefore reduce the overall number of incidents.  

• Objective 3.1.8: Modify the critical incident reporting program to focus collection on relevant incidents 
and eliminate benign incidents; establish criteria for proactive inquiry; and establish criteria for proactive 
inquiry; and establish performance benchmarks within 90 days after initiating modified process.  
Performance measure for this new initiative.  

d) On which objective(s) the agency plans to utilize additional available funds if the change saves costs, or obtain 
funds if the change requires additional funds, and how the objective(s) receiving or releasing the funds will be 
impacted:   There is no anticipated cost to the agency.  This is a shift in how data is tracked and reported 
utilizing functions in the new electronic record system DDSN is implementing statewide.  

e) Anticipated implementation date:   Late summer 2017 
 

3. Internal Change: Direct Service Operations – DDSN to develop and directly operate six small community based 
group homes for eighteen individuals with significant behavioral challenges. 
 
• Historically DDSN has utilized the community network of local Disabilities and Special Needs Boards and Qualified 

residential providers to develop and operate community services.  This service network currently provides a wide 
array of community residential services to approximately 4,725 individuals. 

• This action is being taken due to the growing number of individuals on the DDSN Critical Needs List and the 
increase in the average time that an individual placed on the Critical Needs List has to wait to access residential 
services.  The individuals placed on the Critical Needs List typically require out-of-home residential services to 
address their needs.  The growth in the Critical Needs List and increased wait time to access residential services 

51 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 67



is attributable to a growth in the number of individuals with significant behavioral needs and a limited interest by 
the existing community service network to serve individuals with significant behavioral needs.   

• DDSN approached residential service providers specializing in supporting individuals with significant behavioral 
needs operating in other states but was unsuccessful in getting additional providers to come to South Carolina.  
While DDSN could opt to serve some of these individuals with significant behavioral needs in the DDSN operated 
regional centers, this would be contrary to the federal and state requirement to serve people with disabilities in 
the least restrictive community setting possible.  To ensure availability of appropriate residential settings for 
individuals with significant behavioral needs DDSN will open and directly operate a small quantity of homes in the 
community.  
 
a) Stage of analysis: Change is in the beginning stages and is projected to be completed late summer 2018.  
b) Objectives and Associated Performance measures impacted and predicted impact: This initiative will create 
more community based residential options for individuals with significant behavioral needs.   

• Ratio of Persons Served in HCB Waivers Versus ICF/IID will be at least 9.6 to 1 – By serving individuals 
with significant behavioral challenges in community waiver funded homes instead of regional centers, 
the ratio of persons served in HCB Waivers versus ICFs/IID will be strengthened.  

• Number of Persons Served Per 100,000 General Population in 16 + Bed Facilities will be lower than the 
National Average – By serving individuals with significant behavioral challenges in community waiver 
funded homes instead of regional centers, the number of persons served in 16 + bed facilities will be 
prevented from increasing.  

• Average Length of Wait for Individuals Place on Critical Needs List will be less than 60 Days - As additional 
community residential services for persons with significant behavioral challenges are developed, this will 
allow those individuals with significant behavioral challenges to be served from the Critical Needs List 
more quickly.  

• Develop 6 DDSN directly operated community homes – this initiative is this performance objective.   
c) Costs of the objectives that will be impacted and the anticipated impact: 

• Strategy 2.2: Community Residential Services (residential habilitation services while still in the 
community)– Directly operating community residential services for persons with significant behavioral 
needs will avoid the higher costs associated the more restrictive ICF/IID facilities.  DDSN will operate 
these homes at the same rate paid to community providers for this population, therefore the incurred 
cost is the same to the agency.  This avoids placement of individuals into more restrictive and therefore 
more costly settings; generating savings which may be utilized by the agency and community provider 
network to serve more individuals.  

d) On which objective(s) the agency plans to utilize additional available funds if the change saves costs, or obtain 
funds if the change requires additional funds, and how the objective(s) receiving or releasing the funds will be 
impacted: DDSN will operate these homes at the same rate paid to community providers for this population, 
therefore the incurred cost is the same to the agency for Community residential services expansion for this 
population.  This does avoid placement of individuals into more restrictive and therefore more costly settings.  
In doing so, this generates cost reductions which may be redirected by the agency and community provider 
network to serve more individuals.  

e) Anticipated implementation date:   August 2018 
 

4. Internal Change: Plan Review and Service Authorization - Move the approval of the Case Management Annual 
Support Plan and Medicaid Waiver Service Requests away from Case Management providers and to the DDSN 
Central Office. 
 

52 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 68



• Currently, each waiver participant’s case manager is responsible for assessing, planning and authorizing waiver 
services for the participant.  For most waiver services, the authority to approve the plan of care, including the 
amount of service a participant may receive, lies with the case manager.  The State (DDSN and DHHS) conducts 
reviews of plans but do not approve plans prior to implementation. 

• Bestowing this authority on the case manager, is not consistent with 42 CFR§441.301(b)(1)(i) and creates 
potential inconsistency and a conflict of interest in that case managers and/or Medicaid Targeted Case 
Management (MTCM) providers may, to address the same need, determine that differing amounts of waiver 
services are required to address the need.  While some variances are to be expected, having this authority could 
be used by an MTCM provider to attract or maintain clientele.  The current waiver documents also include the 
service of Waiver Case Management which, when implemented by DHHS, would put the Case Managers in a 
position to be authorizing the delivery of the service which they are being paid to provide.  

• DDSN is in the process of developing policies and procedures for a system in which the Annual Plan and any 
changes throughout the year must be approved by DDSN Staff.  This system change will benefit Case Management 
providers through increased system efficiencies and less opportunity for errors that result in recoupment of 
Medicaid funds.  It will also benefit the individuals served through creating an approval environment that is 
consistent in its approval methodology and free of any potential operational conflict including the authorization 
of Waiver Case Management.  

 
a) Stage of analysis: Change is in the final stages and will be implemented late summer 2017.  
b) Objectives and Associated Performance measures impacted and predicted impact: This change will create a 

more consistent approval process for individuals served across the state while also minimizing the errors in 
the Support Plan that cause recoupment of funds.  This also removes some of the inherent conflict of interest 
present in the case of a Case Manager approving their own level of service and authorizing themselves to 
provide that service as required by CMS.   

• Percent of Total Served Supported in Home and Compare to National Benchmark - As services are 
approved more consistently, the Measure of Average Annual Per Person HCB Waiver Cost may change 
as a more consistent approval process is utilized.  The agency ensures that people are served at the most 
appropriate level and service dollars are used to support individuals appropriately in their homes 
avoiding more expensive residential placement whenever possible.  

• Number of Persons Served Per 100,000 General Population and Compare to National Benchmark - As 
services are approved more consistently, the Measure of Average Annual Per Person HCB Waiver Cost 
may change as a more consistent approval process is utilized and therefore more individuals may be 
served with the same amount of funds.  

• Average Annual Per Person HCB Waiver Costs and Compare to National Benchmark - As services are 
approved more consistently, the Measure of Average Annual Per Person HCB Waiver Cost may change 
as a more consistent approval process is utilized and therefore more individuals may be served with the 
same amount of funds. 

• Number of Individuals on DDSN Managed HCB Waiver Waiting Lists - As services are approved more 
consistently, the Measure of Average Annual Per Person HCB Waiver Cost may change as a more 
consistent approval process is utilized and therefore more individuals may be served with the same 
amount of funds.  

• Begin Centralization of Annual Service Authorizations by DDSN – this initiative is this performance 
objective.   

c) Costs of the objectives that will be impacted and the anticipated impact: 

53 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 69



• Strategy 2.1: In-Home Family Support Services (least restrictive community setting)– Approving waiver 
services at the central level will insure that services are utilized as intended, help prevent abuse and 
allow for more equitable distribution of funds/services. 

• Strategy 4.1: Monitor organizational effectiveness through benchmarks – This will help ensure the in-
home supports are appropriate and therefore help increase maximum utilization. 

d) On which objective(s) the agency plans to utilize additional available funds if the change saves costs, or obtain 
funds if the change requires additional funds, and how the objective(s) receiving or releasing the funds will be 
impacted: Savings generated from this initiative will be utilized by the DDSN community provider network to 
maintain financial solvency and assure consumers are receiving the appropriate services commiserate with 
identified needs. 

e) Anticipated implementation date:   August 2017 
 
 

5. Internal Change: DDSN Outcome-based Provider Evaluation 

• DDSN is committed to understanding and responding to strategies that help improve organizational 
performance.  Activities in this area are based on the work of the Council on Quality and Leadership (CQL).  The 
strategies are based upon the organization, assessment and synthesis of reliable and valid data from multiple 
sources and have at their core common values and principles.  The logic of the organizing principles is to help 
us understand, implement and produce results for our primary customers and their families  

• The application of the Basic Assurances® involves two broad evaluation strategies – evaluation of both the 
system and the organizational practice.  The modified system will comprise three components: (1) Periodic 
Review-Each residential and day service provider will be reviewed on a three year rotation, beginning with 
residential providers scoring below 85% on the Contract Compliance Review; (2) Development of Quality 
Enhancement Plan- After the Basic Assurances ® Review, the Contractor will review the provider’s Quality 
Enhancement Plan, designed to move the provider towards person-centered services; and (3) Intermittent 
Review-after each provider has their initial review, the Contractor will monitor the provider’s Quality 
Enhancement Plan that develops for the Basic Assurance findings.  

a) Stage of analysis: DDSN has completed the changes necessary to issue the 5 year RFP for the contract with a 
Quality Improvement Organization (QIO) and will be submitting to the State Procurement Office of the State 
Fiscal Accountability Authority in early May 2017.  The State Procurement Office should post the RFP for 
bidding in the summer of 2017.   

b) Objectives and Associated Performance measures impacted and predicted impact:  
• Average overall contract compliance review score - While the actual percentage of the scores may 

not change, the review process will be increasingly focused on meaningful outcome measures of 
provider performance and less so on administrative compliance.  

• Annual number of community service providers with less than 70 % contract compliance review key 
indicator in one review area (total six possible review areas) – the increased focus on outcome and 
process measurements are expected to increase the overall level of compliance across multiple 
areas measured.  

c) Costs of the objectives that will be impacted and the anticipated impact: DDSN anticipates the overall cost of 
the contract with the QIO to increase due to the increased requirement of using Basic Assurances® as part of 
the quality review process.  

54 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 70



• Strategy 2.2: Community residential Services (residential habilitation service while still in the 
community) – this initiative is expected to increase focus on process and consumer outcomes and 
therefore increase the overall provision of services statewide.  

• Strategy 3.1: Quality assurance monitoring of providers’ compliance with contract operational 
performance; consumer health, safety and welfare, and facility licensing standards - this initiative is 
expected to increase focus on process and consumer outcomes and therefore increase the overall 
provision of services statewide. 

• Strategy 4.1: Monitor organizational effectiveness through benchmarks - this initiative is expected to 
increase focus on process and consumer outcomes and therefore increase the overall provision of 
services statewide. 

d) On which objective(s) the agency plans to utilize additional available funds if the change saves costs, or 
obtain funds if the change requires additional funds, and how the objective(s) receiving or releasing the funds 
will be impacted: DDSN anticipates the overall cost of the contract with the QIO to increase due to the 
increased requirement of using Basic Assurances® as part of the quality review process.  This increase in cost 
will be absorbed in the basic operating costs of the agency.  

e) Anticipated implementation date:  Fall of 2017 
 
 

Agency Recommendations for Regulatory Changes (PER Addendum, October 8, 2017) 
 
1. License requirement for facilities and programs 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-105 through 88-920 et seq. 
Rationale The former Department of Mental Retardation is now the Department of 

Disabilities and Special Needs. 
Recommendation Should be amended to change the name of the agency from the South Carolina 

Department of Mental Retardation to the Department of Disabilities and Special 
Needs throughout the regulations. 

Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
2. Scope 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulation 88-105A 
Rationale Should be amended to denote programs receiving funds through DDSN and to 

rename the Department. 
Recommendation A. No program receiving funds through DDSN shall be operated in part or in full 

for the care, maintenance, education, training or treatment of more than two 
persons with intellectual disability unless a license is first obtained from the 
South Carolina Department of Mental Retardation Department of Disabilities 
and Special Needs.  “In part” shall mean a program operating for at least ten 
(10) hours a week. 

 
Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
 

55 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 71



3. Recreational Camp 
Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-110 D(1)  
Rationale Should be repealed as DDSN no longer licenses recreational camps or Sheltered 

Workshops. 
Recommendation D. The license will specify the name of the licensee, the maximum number of 

participants to be present at the facility at one time and the type of program it is 
determined to be. The program type is designated as follows: 

(1) Recreation Camp; (a) Residential; 
(b) Day. 

(5) Sheltered Workshop; 
 

Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
 
4. Applications for License 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-120 A and B 
Rationale Should be amended to have applications going to the Department of Disabilities 

and Special Needs. 
Recommendation A. Applications for license shall be made to the Department. appropriate regional 

office of the South Carolina Department of Mental Retardation, Community 
Program Division: 
  (1) Coastal Region 
   Suite 907—Summerall Center 
   19 Hagood Street 
   Charleston, South Carolina 29403 
  (2) Midlands Center 
   8301 Farrow Road. 
   Columbia, South Carolina 29203 
  (3) Pee Dee Center 
   Post Office Box 3209 
   Florence, South Carolina 29502 
  (4) Whitten Center 
   Post Office Drawer 239 
   Clinton, South Carolina 29325 
 B. Applicants will be provided the appropriate forms for licensing upon request 
from one of the above locations the Department. 
 

Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
5. Waivers 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-130 A and B 
Rationale Should be amended to change Commissioner to Department throughout. 
Recommendation A. The Commissioner Department may waive compliance with one or more of 

the requirements of these regulations if, in his the Department’s judgment, the 
waiver would not endanger the safety of the participants, staff, or the public, 

56 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 72



and would not reduce significantly the quality or quantity of the services to be 
provided. 
B. To request a waiver, the applicant or licensee must make a written application 
to the Commissioner Department which includes the justification for the 
request for a waiver and must first be reviewed by the appropriate regional 
superintendent Department staff with approval by the state director. 

 
Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
6. Definitions 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-210 
Rationale Should be amended to reflect current definitions. 
Recommendation 88-210 Definitions. 

 For the purpose of these regulations the following definitions apply: 
 A. Agency—An organization either public or private which is operated by a board 
of directors or other governing body and which offers programs to persons with 
intellectual disability. 
 B. Applicant—Any agency who has applied for a license from the Department. 
 C. Client—A person with intellectual disability who has been deemed eligible for 
services by the Department and who is participating in a program in the State or is 
on the waiting list for services from the Department. 
 The Department is required to provide community and residential service 
programs similar to those provided to persons with intellectual disability to 
substantially handicapped epileptic, cerebral palsied, autistic, and other 
developmentally disabled individuals whose treatment and training needs 
approximate those of the persons with intellectual disability. Eligibility for services 
shall be determined by the Department. It is intended that the Department not 
duplicate other State agency programs or develop service modalities which normally 
would be considered to be the legal and programmatic mandate of another State 
agency. 
 D. Commissioner Director—The chief administrator of the Department of Mental 
Retardation Disabilities and Special Needs or his designee. 
 E. Department—The South Carolina Department of Mental Retardation. (SCDMR) 
 F. Developmental Period—The period of time between conception and the 
twenty-second birthday. 
 G. Governing Board—The individuals or group that have legal responsibility for 
the agency or organization which operates the day program. 
 H. License—A document issued by the Department to an agency operating a 
program indicating that the licensee is in compliance with the provisions set forth in 
these regulations and other standards as specified in these regulations. 
 I. Licensee—The agency who holds the primary responsibility for providing 
services and compliance with these regulations. 
 J. Licensor—The Department of Mental Retardation Disabilities and Special 
Needs. 
    K. Mental Retardation—Refers to significantly sub-average general intellectual 
functioning resulting in or associated with concurrent impairments in adaptive 

57 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 73



behavior and manifested during the developmental period. Intellectual disability" 
means significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning existing 
concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the 
developmental period. 
 
 L. Participant—Any person with intellectual/related disability, autism or head and 
spinal cord injury who is participating in a program licensed by the Department. 
 M. Regional Office—The SCDMR office which performs the license survey and 
issues the license. 
 N. Permit—a written permit, issued by the health authority permitting the food 
service, camp, swimming pool or natural bathing area to operate under S. C. 
Department of Health and Environmental Control regulations. 
 

Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
7. Recreational Camps for Persons with Intellectual Disability. 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-310 through 88-395 
Rationale Repeal the regulations as DDSN does not license Recreational Camps for Persons 

with Intellectual Disabilities. 
Recommendation 88-310 Definitions. 

 A. Activity Specialist—An individual who has skills in and is responsible for 
conducting camper-participation activities such as arts and crafts, swimming, sports, 
camping, etc. 
 B. Aquatic Guard—A waterfront staff member who is responsible to the aquatic 
supervisor for the supervision of campers during any aquatic activities. 
 C. Aquatic Supervisor—Is in charge at a waterfront for supervising the entire 
swimming program including, but not limited to, free swim, swim lessons, swimming 
ability tests, boating, waterfront play and who is also responsible for the supervision 
of the aquatic guards. 
 D. Camper—A person with intellectual disability who is attending either a licensed 
Recreation Residential Camp or a Recreation Day Camp. 
 E. Campsite—The land, including the natural and man-made features, where the 
camp program is being offered. 
 F. Comprehensive Plan—The plan of operation that sets forth all aspects of the 
camp program including the major program emphasis and the range of participants 
to be served. 
 G. Counselor—An individual who directly supervises the campers and who is 
responsible to the camp director. 
 H. Counselor-in-Training—An individual who participates in a specific camper-
leadership-development program, but has no direct supervision or responsibility for 
campers. 
 I. Recreation Day Camp—A program of recreation activities for the camper with 
intellectual disability with an emphasis on outdoor and camping activities that utilize 
trained leadership and the natural or man-made outdoor surroundings to contribute 
to the camper’s mental, physical, and social growth and which provides services for 
less than twenty-four hours a day. 

58 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 74



 J. Recreation Residential Camp—A program of recreation activities for the camper 
with intellectual disability with an emphasis on outdoor and camping activities that 
utilize trained leadership and the natural or man-made outdoor surroundings to 
contribute to the camper’s mental, physical and social growth and which provides 
four or more consecutive twenty-four hour periods of camp programming at one or 
more campsites. 
Code Commissioner’s Note 
Pursuant to 2011 Act No. 47, Section 14(B), the Code Commissioner substituted 
“intellectual disability” for “mental retardation” and “person with intellectual 
disability” or “persons with intellectual disability” for “mentally retarded.” At the 
Code Commissioner’s discretion, the substitution was not made for the formal 
reference to the South Carolina Department of Mental Retardation in this 
regulation. 
 
88-315 Campsite. 
 The Campsite will meet the appropriate requirements of the Rules and 
Regulations Governing Camps as published by the South Carolina Department of 
Health and Environmental Control. 
 
88-320 Supervision. 
 Each camp program shall be under the supervision of a qualified camp director. 
The director shall designate other staff persons to be in charge during temporary 
absences. The director is in charge of the camp the entire period campers are 
present. 
 
88-325 Personnel. 
 A. A residential camp director shall meet the following requirements: 
  (1) Be at least 21 years of age; 
  (2) Possess an earned baccalaureate degree in recreation, business 
administration, special education or a related field; 
  (3) Have at least two year’s experience in camp programs. 
 B. A Day camp director shall meet the following criteria: 
  (1) Be at least 21 years of age; 
  (2) Possess an earned baccalaureate degree in recreation, business 
administration, special education or a related field; 
  (3) Have at least one year experience in camp programs. 
 C. Counselors shall: 
  (1) Have at least a tenth grade education; 
  (2) Be at least sixteen years of age. 
 D. Activity Specialists shall: 
  (1) Have at least an eighth grade education; 
  (2) Be at least sixteen years of age; 
  (3) Have training or experience in the program speciality which they will be 
teaching. 
 E. Counselors-in-training shall: 
  (1) Have at least an eighth-grade education; 
  (2) Be 14 years of age. 
 F. Aquatic supervisor will: 

59 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 75



  (1) Be at least 17 years of age; 
  (2) Have a current water safety instructor certificate from the American Red 
Cross. 
 G. Aquatic guard will be currently certified by the American Red Cross as an 
Advanced Lifesaver or in Lifeguard Training. 
 H. All camp staff will participate in a pre-camp training session. The training 
session content and participation will be documented. 
 
88-330 Size of Staff. 
 A. There shall be one staff member, excluding dietary, transportation, counselors-
in-training, and janitorial staff, for each five campers in a residential program. 
 B. There shall be one staff member, excluding dietary, transportation, counselors-
in-training and janitorial staff for each ten campers in a day camp program 
depending on functioning level and needs of campers. 
 C. Upon consideration of the ages, the severity of handicapping conditions, and 
the services needed by the campers, the Department may approve or require a 
different staff/camper ratio, but in no case shall there be less than one staff member 
for each ten campers. Counselors-in-training may not be considered in calculating 
the staff/camper ratio. 
 D. The approved staff/camper ratio shall be maintained during all periods when 
campers are present. 
 
88-335 Personnel Records. 
 A. The camp shall maintain records on each camp employee which contains at a 
minimum the following: 
  (1) Full name; 
  (2) Address; 
  (3) Age; 
  (4) Training; 
  (5) Education; 
  (6) Work Experience; 
  (7) Other qualifications; 
  (8) The names and telephone numbers of persons to be notified in the event 
of emergency; 
  (9) Documented evidence of freedom from tuberculosis at the time of 
employment (dated within one month from date of first day of camp); 
  (10) A signed statement indicating the they have never been charged or 
convicted of a crime of abuse or neglect. 
 
88-340 General Health. 
 A. Health information shall be maintained on every camper which shall include: 
  (1) A health-status questionnaire on a form approved by the Department, 
completed and signed by the camper’s parent or guardian within ninety (90) days 
prior to camp. 
  (2) A report of a physical examination performed by a licensed physician within 
twelve months preceding entry into camp, or a statement, signed by the camper’s 
parent/guardian, that having been advised that examination by a physician is 

60 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 76



required, the parent/guardian requests that this requirement be waived and state 
reason in writing. 
 B. Every camp shall have a written policy which provides for daily health 
surveillance of campers and staff. If a camper or staff member is suspected of having 
a communicable disease, he shall be isolated and medical treatment obtained. 
 C. Health records shall be readily available to all camp personnel and shall include: 
  (1) Camper’s name, address, telephone number of parent/guardian or person 
to contact in case of emergency; 
  (2) Authorization for emergency medical care signed by the parent/guardian of 
each camper; 
  (3) Written authorization to administer any medication signed by the 
parent/guardian; 
  (4) A list of known allergies or drug reactions. 
 D. Injury and Illness Reports 
  (1) If an injury or illness is judged by the camp director to be serious, the camp 
health director shall be notified immediately and the camper’s parent/guardian will 
then be notified. A record of each contact or each attempt to contact the 
parent/guardian shall be maintained. The camp director will be responsible for 
obtaining the necessary medical services and informing the appropriate regional 
office within 5 hours of injury or illness. 
  (2) A medical log shall be maintained which contains a list of dates, names of 
patients, ailments, and treatments prescribed. 
  (3) A report for each serious injury, illness, abuse, neglect or fatality which 
occurs at camp shall be recorded in a critical incident log which shall be submitted 
for review by the regional office staff of the Department and other authorized 
personnel. 
 E. Health Staff 
  (1) A residential camp shall have on duty at all times campers are present, a 
camp health director who is one of the following: 
   (a) Currently certified by the American Red Cross in Advanced First Aid and 
Emergency Care; 
   (b) A licensed physician; 
   (c) A registered nurse; 
   (d) A licensed practical nurse; 
   (e) A licensed Emergency Medical Technician. 
  (2) A day camp shall have on duty at all times campers are present, a camp 
health director who is one of the following: 
   (a) Currently certified by American Red Cross in Basic or Standard First Aid; 
   (b) A licensed physician; 
   (c) A registered nurse; 
   (d) A licensed practical nurse; 
   (e) A licensed Emergency Medical Technician. 
 F. Medication 
  (1) Medication prescribed for campers or staff members shall be kept in the 
original containers bearing the pharmacy label which shows drug name, the 
prescription number, date filled, physician’s name, direction for use, and patient’s 
name. 
  (2) Medication shall be stored in a locked container. 

61 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 77



  (3) The health director shall: 
   (a) Record all in-coming medication; 
   (b) Inventory all medication daily; 
   (c) Be responsible for proper maintenance and storage of all medication. 
  (4) When any medication is administered to a camper, the date, dosage, time 
and name of staff member administering the medication shall be recorded in the 
medical log. 
  (5) When no longer needed, medications shall be returned to parents/guardian 
or other authorized persons and a record of the disposition of unused medication 
shall be maintained which includes the camper’s name, the drug name, the 
prescription number, the amount disposed of, the name of the staff disposing of the 
medication and the manner and date of disposition. 
 
88-345 General Safety. 
 A. Equipment and facilities used in a camp program shall be of good quality and 
designed to minimize the likelihood of injury. 
 B. Potentially hazardous equipment such as archery equipment, shall be placed in 
locked storage when not in use. The camp director shall designate a person to be 
responsible for safe keeping of potentially hazardous equipment. 
 C. Power equipment shall not be stored, operated or left unattended without 
proper safeguards. All power tools will be stored in a locked place which is not 
accessible to campers. Campers will not use power equipment unless supervised by 
a qualified person. 
 D. Equipment used for arts and crafts shall be in good repair and properly 
installed. 
 E. Playground equipment shall be securely anchored, safe and in good repair. 
 F. All watercraft shall be equipped with US Coast Guard approved personal 
flotation devices of types I, II, or III which are prescribed for the specific type of craft 
and number and age of occupants. Each camper aboard a watercraft shall wear an 
approved life jacket. 
 G. All swimming and diving areas shall be provided with a bell or whistle, two 
assist poles and a ring buoy that are in good usable condition. 
 H. All piers, floats and platforms shall be in good repair. 
 I. All potentially hazardous camp activities such as archery, aquatics, and riding 
shall be supervised by a qualified activity specialist. Camps which provide such 
activities shall submit with the license application a description of the safety 
practices which are designed to minimize the likelihood of injury. 
 
88-350 Emergency Procedures. 
A. Emergency procedures for serious accidents, illness, lost camper, missing 
swimmer, and for evacuation in case of fire or natural disaster will be prominently 
posted at the campsite. 
 B. Appropriate telephone numbers for emergency services will be legible and 
prominently posted at the camp site. 
 C. Each staff member of the camp shall be informed in advance of his duties in 
case of emergency. Documentation of staff training and evidence of staff awareness 
of his duties shall be on file at the camp site. 

62 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 78



 D. Fire and emergency drills shall be conducted the first day of camp and 
documented at least once each camp period or once every week. 
 E. Coordination with county Disaster Preparedness Office is required and must be 
documented. 
 
88-355 General Sanitation Requirements. 
 The camp shall meet the requirements of the S. C. Department of Health and 
Environmental Control’s Regulation 61-39. A current S. C. Department of Health and 
Environmental Control inspection report and plan for correction of deficiencies shall 
be maintained in the camp’s records. Campgrounds, pools and natural bathing areas 
which are permitted by the S. C. Department of Health and Environmental Control 
will be deemed to have met this requirement. 
 
88-360 Housing in Residential Camps. 
 All housing facilities in a residential camp shall meet the appropriate 
requirements of SCDHEC. 
 
88-365 Nutrition and Food Service. 
 A. In camps where central food service facilities are provided, the facilities shall 
be constructed and operated in accordance with S. C. Department of Health and 
Environmental Control Regulation 61-25. A current permit and inspection report 
shall be maintained in the camp. 
 B. Each camp shall establish written procedures for its nutrition and food service 
program. These policies shall include meal patterns, meal hours, types of food 
served, staff responsibilities during the meal time and the administration of the food 
service program. 
 C. When a camper needs a special diet, it shall only be administered according to 
the orders of a licensed physician. Records of special diets and menus will be kept 
at the camp. Separate arrangements shall be made by camper’s parent/guardian for 
any special diets beyond the capability of the camp. 
 D. Menus shall be planned at least a week in advance and shall be dated as to the 
week of use. The current week’s menus shall be posted in the food preparation area. 
Substitutes shall be noted on the menus in writing. After use, the menus shall be 
kept on file for the period of the camping session. 
 E. Mealtimes shall be scheduled to meet the camper’s needs and spaced so there 
are no more than fourteen hours between evening meal and breakfast. At least 
three nutritionally balanced meals shall be served in a residential camp each full day 
of operation. 
 F. Meals shall be prepared as close to serving time as possible and served in 
portions appropriate to the nutritional needs of the camper. 
 
88-370 Transportation. 
 A. Responsibility for campers being transported 
  (1) When a camp provides transportation for a camper, it shall also provide 
staff supervision other than the driver on the vehicle between the pickup site and 
the delivery site. 
  (2) Travel time of campers to and from day camps shall not exceed two hours 
per one-way trip. 

63 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 79



  (3) Ten hours travel time shall be the maximum permitted in any twenty-four 
(24) hour period for campers when traveling to and from field trips. 
 B. Responsibilities in Transit 
  (1) Only that number of campers for whom there is seating space shall be 
transported in a vehicle. The maximum capacity of the vehicle shall clearly be 
indicated and posted in the vehicle. 
  (2) In all vehicles used, seats, benches and or wheelchairs must be securely 
fastened to the floor. Open-body or stake-bed vehicles are not permitted for 
transportation of passengers. 
  (3) All vehicles (except school buses) should have seatbelts which are used by 
all passengers and drivers when vehicle is in motion. 
 C. Responsibility for Drivers and Vehicles 
  (1) Vehicle operators shall: 
   (a) Be licensed drivers; 
   (b) Have a proven good driving record. 
  (2) All road vehicles shall be equipped with a first aid kit, fire extinguisher, flares 
and/or reflectors. 
  (3) All road vehicles shall be maintained in safe operating condition as 
evidenced by a vehicle maintenance schedule. All vehicles will have a current safety 
inspection sticker. 
  (4) Campers shall not be allowed to repair or assist in the repair of any vehicle 
if there is danger of injury to the camper either by the process of repair or from the 
environment in which the repair is to be conducted. 
 
88-375 Program. 
 A. A comprehensive plan of operation shall be developed. It shall include a 
statement of major program emphases designed for camper development. A 
written outline of the methods by which the programs for camper development are 
to be conducted shall be included in the comprehensive plan. 
 B. The program shall have a broad spectrum of activities and experiences 
appropriate to the campers’ levels of abilities and needs. All components of the 
camp’s environment shall offer opportunities by which campers shall learn and 
broaden their bases of experience. 
 C. If in the comprehensive plan the purpose of the camp is to include any carry-
over of goals from the individual education plan designed by the school or the 
individual program plan designed by the day-program, the camp must obtain 
program recommendations from the regular program prior to camp start-up. 
 D. The rationale for separating the campers into groups must be outlined in the 
plan and approval obtained from the Department. 
 
88-380 Waterfront Activity. 
 A. Waterfront Staff 
  (1) When swimming or when watercraft activities are in progress, the aquatic 
activity supervisor shall be in attendance to supervise the program. 
  (2) The aquatic staff shall not be engaged in recreational swimming or boating 
while on waterfront duty. 

64 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 80



  (3) One aquatic supervisor or one aquatic guard shall be on duty for every ten, 
or fraction thereof, campers in the water. Other staff members shall be present and 
on duty to maintain the staff/camper ratio required in R. 88-330 A, B, C and D. 
  (4) When waterfront activities are occurring at more than one location 
simultaneously there will be at least one aquatic guard present for every ten 
campers at each location. 
  (5) The aquatic supervisor shall ensure that the ratio is adjusted to meet such 
factors as water conditions, number and types of swimmers, and functional level of 
the swimmers. 
 B. Swimming Areas 
  (1) The swimming area shall be maintained in a clean and safe condition. Any 
known hazard such as rocks, holes or hidden dangers shall be properly safeguarded 
and posted. 
  (2) The permanent swimming area of a camp shall have a delineation of areas 
for non-swimmers, intermediates, and advanced swimmers, in accordance with the 
standards of the American Red Cross or Boy Scouts of America. 
  (3) Lifesaving equipment shall be provided at all swimming areas and placed so 
it is immediately available in case of an emergency. 
  (4) Swimming at sites other than the permanent camp waterfront is prohibited 
except by prior written approval from the Department. 
 C. Swimming Procedures 
  (1) Swimming ability tests either recognized by American Red Cross or Boy 
Scouts of America will be administered to each camper at the beginning of the 
camping session. Campers will then be confined to an area equal to their identified 
swimming ability or to areas requiring lesser skills. 
  (2) A method approved in writing by the Department for the supervision and 
checking of swimmers shall be written by the camp director and enforced by the 
aquatic staff. The method used shall require each swimmer to be checked at least 
every ten minutes. A written “lost swimmer” plan shall be established and all staff 
members shall know in advance exactly what their duties are in case of an 
emergency at the waterfront. 
  (3) Swimming is prohibited during the hours of darkness in the ocean, lakes, or 
rivers. Nighttime swimming in lighted swimming pools shall be prohibited unless the 
activity is included as part of the comprehensive plan. 
  (4) There shall be provided a regularly scheduled ten-minute relief break each 
hour for waterfront staff and a rotation of assigned areas will occur every hour. 
Guards shall not leave their assigned areas until properly relieved. 
 D. Seizure Client Procedures 
  (1) The camp shall have written permission from parents/guardians for clients 
with seizures to engage in any waterfront or aquatic activities. 
  (2) All seizure clients will be clearly visually identifiable while engaging in any 
aquatic activity. 
  (3) Staff shall be knowledgeable of client reactions to seizure, and written 
procedures for care shall be visibly posted within the waterfront area. 
 
88-385 General Care of Campers. 
 A. Policies and practices for managing the behavior of a camper shall be clearly 
stated and furnished in writing to all employees of the camp. 

65 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 81



 B. A camper shall not be subjected to any of the following as a means of 
punishment: 
  (1) Corporal punishment; 
  (2) Food deprivation; 
  (3) Abusive physical exercise. 
 C. If the camp permits the involuntary removal of a camper from social contact 
with others, there shall be a written policy which has been approved by DMR which 
describes the conditions under which and the manner in which it shall be done. Each 
such incident shall be documented. 
 D. Policies and procedures for removal of a camper from the camp will be clearly 
outlined in writing and contain provisions for: 
  (1) Naming camp staff authorized to make decision to remove; 
  (2) Consultation and approval from regional office prior to dismissal or removal; 
  (3) Conditions which would cause the action to occur which will include: 
   (a) Danger to self or others; 
   (b) Medical causes; 
   (c) Severe behavior disruptions; 
   (d) Family intervention. 
 
88-390 Confidentiality. 
 All information in a camper’s record shall be considered privileged and 
confidential. Staff shall not disclose or knowingly permit the disclosure of any 
information concerning the client or family directly or indirectly to any unauthorized 
person. 
 
88-395 Reserve Clause. 
 The Department reserves the right to require a camp to correct or eliminate any 
specific condition not covered in these regulations if the correction or elimination 
of such condition is deemed necessary for the preservation of life and the 
prevention of injury or illness at the camp. 
 

Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
8. Personnel 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-410(2) 
Rationale Amend to reflect current staff qualifications, ratios and supervision. 
Recommendation 2) Direct Care Staff - The direct care staff will meet the following 

qualifications: 
(a) Be at least eighteen years old. 
(b) Have a valid high school diploma or its certified equivalent. 

B. Participant/Staff Ratios 
(1) There will be at least the following minimum participant/staff ratio 
for each program: (a) Child Development Center - 5:1; 

(b) Adult 
Activity Center 
- 7:1; (c) Work 

66 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 82



Activity Center 
- 7:1; (d) 
Sheltered 
Workshop - 
10:1. 
Ratios for each p ro gram should be determined bas ed on ea ch participant’s s u 
pervision needs as outlined in DDSN Directives with a minimum 
participant/staff ratio of 7:1. 

(2) Upon consideration of the ages, the severity of handicapping 
conditions, and the services needed by the participants, the 
support needs and the of the participant, the Department may 
approve a different participant/staff ratio. 

D. Supervision of Clients 
(1) A designated responsible staff member must be present and in charge at all 
times a participant is present.  The staff member left in charge must know 
how to contact the Director at all times. 
(1) At no time shall any participant be without supervision unless a specified 
activity which allows for an adult participant's independent functioning is 
planned and documented. Each participant will be supervised as needed based 
on DDSN Directives to allow for maximum independence. 

 
Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
9. Evaluations 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulation 88-430 
Rationale Amend to reflect current practice. 
Recommendation  Psychological evaluations will be required according to the following schedule: 

(1) Children shall be evaluated by using a restrictive test of intelligence 
administered by a licensed or certified psychologist once upon entry 
into a day program and once more between ages three and five or prior 
to matriculation to Headstart or public school unless entry into the 
program occurs after the age of two years. 
(2) Adults shall be tested using a restrictive test of intelligence 
administered by a licensed or certified psychologist on program entry, re-
entry or at age twenty-two (22) whichever occurs first, unless there is a 
valid psychological evaluation completed within three years of admission 
on record. 
B. Social History-A social history which includes basic information on 
participant's personal history, family situation and specific problem areas 
will be completed on admission to the day program and updated annually 
thereafter. Information from the parents/guardian will be included in the 
history. The update shall indicate any change in the family situation or 
living environment that may affect participant's progress and need for 
continued enrollment. 
C. Assessment of Skills-Each participant in both adult and child programs 
will be assessed using an approved assessment tool(s) within thirty (30) 

67 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 83



calendar days of enrollment and annually thereafter. The assessment of 
needs will contain evaluations in the following areas: 
(1) Children: 
(a) Sensory motor skills; 1. Gross motor; 2. Fine motor; 
(b) Communication and language; (c) Social interaction/play; 

(d) Self-help skills; (e) Cognitive skills; (f) Behavior needs. (2) Adults: 
(a) Self-care (e.g., hygiene, appearance, nutrition, eating habits, dressing, 
toileting, physical fitness, sex education etc.) 
(b) Community Living Skills (e.g., budgeting, shopping, cooking, 
laundry, telephone usage, transportation, appropriate use of 
leisure etc.) 
(c) Communication (e.g., speech, language, sign language, or other 
communication skills etc.) 
(d) Socialization (e.g., appropriate behaviors for successful 
interaction with others, recreation and leisure) 
(e) Vocational (e.g., physical capabilities, psychomotor skills, work 
habits, job seeking skills, knowledge of work practices, work related 
skills etc.) 
(f) Education (e.g., academic and 
cognitive skills etc.) (g) 
Behavioral needs-(behavioral 
management plans) 
(h) Motor Development-(e.g. gross motor, fine motor and perceptual motor 

needs) 
The participant must be evaluated and determined eligible for DDSN services 
pursuant to Department Directives.  The participant must be determined to 
require or likely benefit from day services. 

 
Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
10. Programs 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-430 
Rationale Amend to reflect current practice and consistent with new federal regulations. 
Recommendation A. Plan-Each participant will have a written plan developed and approved by 

the Individual Support  program team within thirty days of admission for adults 
and for children and annually thereafter.  The plan will be based on the 
professional evaluations, regional recommendations, the assessment of skills, 
parent/guardian and/or community residence staff conferences, staff and 
client recommendations and discussed in a team meeting. The date and 
signature of all team members will be documented on the plan.  The plan will 
be based on an assessment of the participant’s abilities, interests, preferenc es 
and   needs.  The date and signature of those in attendance will be 
documented. 

(1) The plan will contain written, individualized, long-range and short-
range goals which are time limited and measurable 
1) The plan will contain written objectives which may include a training 

68 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 84



schedule and /or ongoing supports and the method of evaluation of 
progress. 
(3) The plan will contain documented evidence of parent/guardian 
involvement in the meeting. 

The plan will document the participant’s , Individual Support team, and the legal 
gu ardian ’s   (if applicable) involvement in the meeting. 

(4) Summary notations of progress made toward goals are made monthly 
by staff involved in the training and/or ongoing supports. The notes will 
be signed and dated. 
(5) When a goal is reached a new goal will be set. 
(6) When the participant is observed to be making no progress in 
reaching a goal after three months of working on the same goal, the 
methodology and objective will be reviewed and evaluated by the team 
with the participant and a new goal will be set, the methodology or  
objective changed or the recommendation may be made to continue the 
goal.  If no progress has been made after one year the goal or 
methodology will be changed. six (6) months, the methodology or 
objective is to be re-evaluated or recommendation to the Individual 
Support Team for a new goal to be written. 
(7) The plan will be reviewed and updated by the program Individual 
Support team at least annually with input from the participant and their 
legal guardian (if applicable). 

(9) The plan will address the participant’s movement toward a less restrictive 
program and include goals and objectives which will help him progress to a 
higher level program toward their personal goals in the least restrictive 
environment. 

B. Services 
(1) The services offered at the program will be directed toward the 
identified needs of the participant. based on th e participant’s abilities, 
interests, prefer enc es and n eeds.  

 He He/She will be involved in activities which will help him  him/her progress 
toward goals identified in the plan.  Activities should be age appropriate and 
allow for choices by the participant. 

(2) The services for children will include the following: (a) Gross 
motor development; 
(b) Fine motor development; 
(c) Communication and language; (d) Socialization; 
(e) Self-help skills; 
(f) Cognitive development;  
(g) Behavior management; 
(3) The services for adults will include but not be limited to the following: 
(a) ) Activities of daily living, AAC, WAC; 
(b) Independent living skills, AAC, WAC; 
(c) ) Socialization, AAC, WAC; 
(d) Recreation/Leisure Skills, AAC, WAC; 
(e) ) Habilitation/Vocational/Work Related, AAC, WAC, and SW; 
(f) Behavior management, AAC, WAC, SW; 

69 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 85



(g) Physical development, AAC, WAC; 
(h) Communication/Language, AAC, WAC; 
(4) The program may offer the services at the home of the participant, in 
the community, in the center, or any other appropriate site which can be 
arranged by the program and which is deemed appropriate by the 
Individual Support team. 
C. Hours of the Program 
(1) Each program will have a current activity schedule posted 
(2) The schedule will reflect the hours the facility is open and the hours 
the program offers supervised services. 
(3) The schedule must reflect the scheduled activities of the day. 

 
 

Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
11. Records 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-440 
Rationale Amend to reflect current practice  
Recommendation  B. Participant-A record shall be maintained for each participant which contains, 

as a minimum, the items listed below. All documents and entries shall be legible, 
dated, and signed by the person making the entry. If symbols are used, explanatory 
legends must be provided. 
  (1) Report of a medical examination which was performed not more than 
twelve (12) months prior to admission; 
  (2) Report of psychological evaluation(s) as required by R. 88-430A; 
  (3) Report of Social History which is updated annually, as available; 
  (4) Current Individual Program Plan as required by R88-435 A; 
  (5) Monthly summary notations of progress; 
  (6) Record of unusual behavior incidents which are recorded at the time of 
occurrence; 
  (7) Record of illness and accidents; 
  (8) Authorization for emergency medical service; 
  (9) Record of critical incidents. 
 C. Confidentiality-All information in a participant’s record shall be considered 
privileged and confidential. Staff shall not disclose or knowingly permit the 
disclosure of any information concerning the client or his family directly to any 
unauthorized person. Compliance with HIPAA 
 

Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

 
 
12. Application for License of an Unclassified Program. 

Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-915 
Rationale Amend to reflect current practice  
Recommendation  B. Name and address of the Administrator Executive Director 

70 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 86



Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

13. Determination by the Department.
Impacted Section S.C. Code of Regulations 88-920 
Rationale Amend to reflect current language 
Recommendation (1) Provides a beneficial service to its developmentally disabled clients 

participants. 
(4) Does not exploit the developmentally disabled, participants, their 

families or the public. 

Other Impacted 
Entities 

None 

71 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 87



Additional Agency Recommendations for Internal Changes (submitted August 2018) 

72 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 88



73 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 89



74 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 90



75 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 91



76 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 92



RECOMMENDATION #7f: DDSN will examine the direct care worker duties and 
compliance requirements, which have aggregated overtime. These increased duties may 
be undermining direct care workers habilitative responsibilities, which, in turn, lessons 
the direct care workers' ability to positively impact consumers' behaviors and prevent 
situations escalating into ANE incidents. 

RECOMMENDATION #7g: DDSN will develop recurring safety bulletins based on 
lessons learned from ANE incidents, particularly vignettes (without attribution) from 
actual incidents to stimulate learning and continual awareness. 

RECOMMENDATION #7h: DDSN will continue to mature its ANE Program data 
collection through similar enhancements as refining Critical Incident classifications 
clarifying issues of concern and the provider rating system. 

ISSUE #8: DDSN has determined 22 existing South Carolina statutes impacting the agency 
would benefit from revisions or elimination to assist the agency in accomplishing its mission. 

RECOMMENDATION #8: DDSN requests these 22 SC statutes modifications or 
eliminations as set forth in Attachment A be adopted by the House Legislative Oversight 
Committee for legislative action. 

ISSUE #9: DDSN established a defensive posture for many years based on a variety of factors, 
which has led to a tentativeness to proactively address issues. Improvement initiatives to address 
backlogged operational issues include: 

RECOMMENDATION #9a: DDSN will develop a residential setting building capacity 
and funding strategy for high needs consumers, as well as timely execution of 
appropriations to restore legislative confidence. Strategy will include establishing triage 
beds to address critical cases; enhanced tracking/measuring system capacity, needs, and 
placement times; and develop a legislative appropriation strategy to better communicate 
this critical need to justify a consistent future funding stream to keep pace with residential 
setting needs. 

RECOMMENDATION #9b: DDSN will conduct a risk based review of licensing, 
contract review, residential observations, ANE Program (ANE; CI; Deaths), and other 
provider contract controls to identify opportunities to lesson or eliminate existing controls 
and corresponding administrative burden. A critical analysis will yield substantial risk 

mitigation and administrative cost/burden savings by combining higher quality controls 
to support the elimination of redundant controls or controls with a low cost/benefit. 

RECOMMENDATION #9c: DDSN will implement a Waiver enrollment improvement 

plan to speed enrollment processing times, reduce the waiting list, and restore confidence 
to legislative appropriators of DDSN's ability to effectively execute budget 
enhancements. 

RECOMMENDATION #9d: DDSN will compare Regional Center requirements and 

current budgets to assess adequate funding, equity between centers, and basis for 
legislative budget request for maintenance of effort resources. 

6 

77 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 93



78 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 94



79 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 95



80 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 96



CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
Committee Contact Information 
 

Physical: 
South Carolina House of Representatives 
Legislative Oversight Committee 
1105 Pendleton Street, Blatt Building Room 228 
 
Mailing: 
Post Office Box 11867 
Columbia, South Carolina 29211 
 
Telephone:   803-212-6810 
 

Online: 
You may visit the South Carolina General Assembly Home Page 
(http://www.scstatehouse.gov) and click on "Citizens’ Interest" then click on 
"House Legislative Oversight Committee Postings and Reports".  This will list the 
information posted online for the Committee; click on the information you 
would like to review.   Also, a direct link to Committee information is 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommi
ttee.php. 

 
Agency Contact Information 
 

Physical Address: 
Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 
3440 Harden St. Ext. 
Columbia, SC 29203 
 

Telephone:                                 803-898-9600 
Online:                                                     https://www.ddsn.sc.gov/Pages/default.aspx 

 

  

ENDNOTES 
1 Visual Summary Figure 1 is compiled from information in the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs study 
materials available online under “Citizens’ Interest,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee Postings and 
Reports,” and then under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/Disabilitiesan
dSpecialNeeds.php (accessed September 25, 2018). 
2 S.C. Code of Laws § 2-2-20(C). 
32011 Act No. 47.  Acts from 1980 to the present are available on the General Assembly’s website under “Archives” 
and then under “Act Lists” https://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess119_2011-2012/bills/687.htm (accessed September 
25, 2018). Hereinafter, “2011 Act No. 47.” 
42016 Act No. 225.  Acts from 1980 to the present are available on the General Assembly’s website under “Archives” 
and then under “Act Lists” Acts from 1980 to the present are available on the General Assembly’s website under 
“Archives” and then under “Act Lists” https://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess119_2011-2012/bills/687.htm (accessed 
September 25, 2018).   
5Federal court cases have held that a zoning ordinance requiring notice to neighbors of a group home’s existence 
constitutes a discriminatory classification in violation of the federal Fair Housing Act when it is not imposed on any 
other properly zoned residential unit.  See Potomac Group Home Corp. v. Montgomery County, 823 F. Supp. 1285, 
1296-97 (D. Md. 1993); see also Larkin v. Michigan Dep't of Social Services, 89 F.3d 285, 292 (6th Cir. 1996). 
Hereinafter, “Federal Court Cases.” 
6 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Agency Program Evaluation Report (May 
1, 2017),” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” and under 
“Department of Disabilities and Special Needs” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/DDSN%20PER%205_2_17%20PDF.pdf (September 25, 2018).  Hereinafter, “Agency PER.” 
7 1918 Act No. 398. 
8 1954 Act No. 685. 

81 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 97

http://www.scstatehouse.gov/


9 1957 Act No. 234. 
10 1963 Act No. 314. 
11 1967 Act No. 228. 
12 1970 Act No. 1070. 
13 1974 Act No. 1127. 
14 1993 Act No. 181.  Acts from 1980 to the present are available on the General Assembly’s website under 
“Archives” and then under “Act Lists” Acts from 1980 to the present are available on the General Assembly’s 
website under “Archives” and then under “Act Lists” https://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess110_1993-
1994/bills/3546.htm (accessed September 25, 2018). 
15 2007 Act No. 65.  Acts from 1980 to the present are available on the General Assembly’s website under “Archives” 
and then under “Act Lists” Acts from 1980 to the present are available on the General Assembly’s website under 
“Archives” and then under “Act Lists” https://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess117_2007-2008/bills/20.htm (accessed 
September 25, 2018). 
16 2011 Act No. 47.   
17 Agency PER, p. 39. 
18 South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, “Our Mission,” under “About DDSN,” 
https://www.ddsn.sc.gov/about/Pages/OurMission.aspx (accessed September 25, 2018). 
19 Ibid. 
20 S.C. Code of Laws, § 44-20-210. 
21 Agency PER. 
22 Ibid. 
23 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “2017-2018,” under “Committee Postings 
and Reports,” under “Legislative Oversight,” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs,” and under 
“Structure/Employees,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/2017-2018%20Organizational%20Chart.pdf. (accessed October 6, 2018). 
When it is received, the updated organizational chart will be posted on the Legislative Oversight Committee’s page 
dedicated to DDSN. 
24 Agency PER. 
25 The DDSN Commission is not accountable to the Governor outside of the Governor’s appointment of Commission-
members. 
26 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “State HR Dashboard - DDSN (September 
6, 2017),” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “Legislative Oversight,” under “Department of 
Disabilities and Special Needs,” and under “Structure/Employees,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/State%20HR%20Dashboard%20-%20DDSN%20(September%206,%202017).pdf (accessed 
September 25, 2018). 
27 Ibid. 
28 S.C. Code of Laws, § 2-2-10(1). 
29 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “January 10, 2017 Meeting Minutes,” 
under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Department of 
Disabilities and Special Need” and under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/Janua
ry102017.pdf (accessed September 25, 2018). A video of the meeting is available on the General Assembly’s 
Website under “Archives,” and then under “Video Archives.” 
30 S.C. House of representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Subcommittees -2018,” under 
“Committee Information,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/Subcommittee_2018_71518.p
df (accessed September 25, 2018). 
31 Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, “2016 Annual Restructuring Report,” under “Committee Postings 
and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Need” 
and under “Oversight Reports and Studies,” 

82 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 98



https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2016%20ARR/2016%20ARR%
20-%20Extension%20-%20DDSN.PDF (accessed September 25, 2018).  Hereinafter, “2016-Agency ARR.”   
Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, “2015-16 Agency Accountability Report,” under “Committee Postings 
and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Need” 
and under “Oversight Reports and Studies,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/Reports%20&%20Audits%20-%20Reports%20and%20Reviews/Accountability%20Report%20-
%202015-2016.pdf (accessed September 25, 2018).  Hereinafter, “2015-16 Agency Accountability Report.” 
31 Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, “2016-17 Agency Accountability Report,” under “Committee 
Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Department of Disabilities and 
Special Need” and under “Oversight Reports and Studies,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/Reports%20&%20Audits%20-%20Reports%20and%20Reviews/Accountability%20Report%20-
%202016-2017.pdf (accessed September 25, 2018).  Hereinafter, “2016-17 Agency Accountability Report.” 
32 2016-17 Agency Accountability Report. 
33 Ibid. 
34 2016 - Agency ARR. 
35 A brochure about the House Legislative Oversight’s Committee process is available online.  Also, there are ongoing 
opportunities to request notification when meetings are scheduled and to provide feedback about state agencies under 
study that can be found online. 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/Brochure%205.18.17.pdf (accessed 
September 25, 2018). 
36 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee.php (accessed September 25, 
2018).  
37 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Press Release announcing Public Survey ( 
February 9, 2017),” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs,” under “Public Survey & Public Input via 
LOC Webpage,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/Media%20Release%20-%20Public%20Survey%20Open%20(February%209,%202017)%20(pdf).pdf 
(accessed September 25, 2018).  Hereinafter, “Press Release Announcing Public Survey (February 9, 2017).” 
38 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Results of Survey of the Department of 
Disabilities and Special Needs; State Election Commission; Human Affairs Commission; and John de la Howe School 
(February 9, 2017 - March 13, 2017),” under “Citizens’ Interest,” under “Patriots Point Development Authority,” and 
under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 
“https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SurveysforAllAgencies/Result
s%20from%202017%20Survey%20of%20DDSN;%20Election%20Commission;%20Human%20Affairs%20Commission;
%20and%20John%20de%20la%20Howe%20School%20(2_9%20-3_13).PDF (accessed September 25, 2018).  
Hereinafter “Results of 2017 Survey.”  
39 Ibid. 
40 Committee Standard Practice 10.4. 
41 Results of 2017 Survey.  
42 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Submit Public Input,” S.C. House of 
representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Read a brochure about the Committee,” under “Citizens’ 
Interest,” under “Agency Oversight by House Legislative Oversight Committee,” and under “Public Participation” 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee.php (accessed September 25, 
2018).    
43 Results of 2017 Survey.  
44 Ibid. 
45 Committee Standard Practice 10.4.2 allows for the redaction of profanity. 
46 Also, the chair of either the Committee or Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee has the discretion to allow 
testimony during meetings.   
47 Press Release Announcing Public Survey (February 9, 2017). 

83 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 99



48 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “March 2, 2017 Meeting Minutes,” under 
“Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” and under “Full Committee 
Minutes,” 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/March
%202,%202017%20%20Minutes%20(Public%20Input%20for%20Archives%20and%20History,%20DDSN,%20John%2
0de%20la%20Howe).pdf (assessed September 25, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/videofeed.php. Hereinafter, “March 2, 2017 meeting.” 
49 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “January 10, 2017 Meeting Minutes,” 
under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” and under “Full 
Committee Minutes,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/Janua
ry102017.pdf (assessed September 25, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/videofeed.php. 
50 March 2, 2017 meeting.  Agencies in attendance: Department of Archives and History; Department of Disabilities 
and Special Needs; and John de la Howe School. 
51 Ibid. 
52 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 
“September 18, 2017 Meeting Minutes,” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative 
Oversight Committee,” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs,” and under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/September%2018,%202017%20Meeting%20Minutes-%20DDSN.pdf (assessed September 26, 
2018).  A video of the meeting is available at http://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/videofeed.php. 
53 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 
“October 10, 2017 Meeting Minutes,” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight 
Committee,” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs,” and under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/Meeting%20Minutes%2010_10.pdf (assessed September 26, 2018).  A video of the meeting is 
available at http://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/videofeed.php. 
54 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 
“October 24, 2017 Meeting Minutes,” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight 
Committee,” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs,” and under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/Disabilitiesan
dSpecialNeeds.php (assessed September 26, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/videofeed.php. Hereinafter, “October 24, 2017 meeting.” 
55 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 
“November 10, 2017 Meeting Minutes,” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative 
Oversight Committee,” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs,” and under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/Disabilitiesan
dSpecialNeeds.php (assessed September 26, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/videofeed.php. 
56 Thoyd Warren is appointed President and CEO of Babcock Center in June of 2018. 
57 Mary Poole is appointed DDSN State Director on July 19, 2018. 
58 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 
“November 30, 2017 Meeting Minutes,” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative 
Oversight Committee,” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs,” and under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/Disabilitiesan
dSpecialNeeds.php (assessed September 26, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/videofeed.php. 
59 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 
“February 1, 2018 Meeting Minutes,” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight 
Committee,” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs,” and under “Meetings,” 

84 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 100



https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/Healt
hcareSub/2.1.18%20Meeting%20Minutes%20[DDSN].pdf (assessed September 26, 2018).  A video of the meeting is 
available at http://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/videofeed.php. 
60 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 
“July 30, 2018 Meeting Minutes,” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight 
Committee,” under “Department of Disabilities and Special Needs,” and under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/Healt
hcareSub/Meeting%20Minutes%207_30_18.pdf (assessed September 27, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available 
at http://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/videofeed.php. 
61 August 30, 2018 meeting minutes; minutes will be posted after approval at the next subcommittee meeting.  A 
video of the meeting is available on the General Assembly’s website, under “Archives,” then “Video Archives,” 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php (September 25, 2018).  Hereinafter, “August 30, 2018 meeting.” 
62 Committee Standard Practice 14.1. 
63 Committee Standard Practice 14.2. 
64 Ibid.  Subcommittee Members present at the meeting include: Rep. William K. “Bill” Bowers; Rep. MaryGail K. 
Douglas; Rep. Phyllis J. Henderson; and Rep. Bill Taylor. 
65Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, “Agency Presentation and Supplemental Information to the 
September 18, 2017, Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee Meeting,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/DDSN%20Presentation%20and%20Supplemental%20Information.pdf (accessed September 25, 
2018).  Hereinafter, “Agency Presentation - September 18, 2017.” 
66Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, “Agency Presentation to the November 6, 2017, Healthcare and 
Regulatory Subcommittee Meeting,” 66Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, “Agency Presentation and 
Supplemental Information to the September 18, 2018, Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee Meeting,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/DDSN%20Presentation%20and%20Supplemental%20Information.pdf (accessed September 25, 
2018) (accessed September 25, 2018). 
67 Agency Presentation - September 18, 2017. 
68 S.C. House of Representatives, Ways and Means Committee, “FY 2018-19 Budget Briefing, 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/Ways&MeansBudgetDocuments/FY2018-19/FY%202018-
19%20Budget%20Briefing%20 (Conference%20Version).pdf (accessed September 25, 2018). 
69 Committee staff reviewed two decades of the index to the State Register. 
70 October 24, 2017 meeting. 
71 Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, “Agency Presentation and Supplemental Information to the October 
10, 2017, Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee Meeting,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/Agency%20Presentation%20and%20Supplemental%20Material%2010_10.PDF (accessed 
September 26, 2018).  
72 State Fiscal Accountability Authority, Procurement Services 
http://webprod.cio.sc.gov/SCSolicitationWeb/contractSearch.do?solicitnumber=5400011763 (accessed September 
25, 2018). 
73 S.C. Code of Laws, § 44-28-10. 
74S.C. Code of Laws, § 44-28-310. 
75 S.C. Code of Laws, § 11-5-400. 
76 2011 Act No. 47.  
77 2016 Act No. 225 Acts from 1980 to the present are available on the General Assembly’s website under “Archives” 
and then under “Act Lists.”  Acts from 1980 to the present are available on the General Assembly’s website under 
“Archives” and then under “Act Lists” https://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess121_2015-2016/bills/3952.htm (accessed 
September 25, 2018). 
78 Definition of Intellectual Disability, American Association on Intellection and Developmental Disabilities  
http://aaidd.org/intellectual-disability/definition (accessed September 26, 2018). 
79 American Psychiatric Association, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edition, p.33. (2013). 
80 Federal Court Cases. 

85 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 101



81 Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, “August 30, 2018 - Meeting Packet,” 
(https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/Disabilities
andSpecialNeeds/Meeting%20Packet%208_30.PDF) (accessed September 26, 2018). 
 

86 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 102



MEMBER STATEMENT 
 
The Honorable Phyllis J. Henderson Member Statement for the Healthcare and Regulatory 
Subcommittee Study of the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 
 
South Carolina residents on the Commission for Disabilities and Special Needs and county Disabilities and 
Special Needs boards provide a great service to this state because of their diverse experiences.  Their 
input is a fundamental part of the continual improvement of the system.  However, over the course of the 
study, it became apparent that the structure of South Carolina’s system to provide services to people 
with severe, lifelong disabilities of intellectual disability, autism, traumatic brain injury and spinal cord 
injury and conditions related to each of these four disabilities, does not support effective and efficient 
service delivery.   
 
It is my belief that the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (Department) should be a cabinet 
agency, with the agency head being appointed by the Governor, with the advice and consent of the 
Senate.  This would place the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs within the same line of 
authority as the agency through which most of the Department’s funding flows, the Department of 
Health and Human Services.  The Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs (Commission) should 
continue to exist in an advisory capacity, with all of its current responsibilities devolving to the 
Department.  
 
It is also my belief that that the “county disabilities and special needs boards,” as defined in SC Code Ann. 
§ 44-20-30, should serve in advisory capacities to the county director.  All responsibilities currently 
assigned to county boards, including hiring of the county director, should devolve to the Department.  
The county disabilities and special needs board office should become a county office of the Department 
of Disabilities and Special Needs.  
 
 
 
The Honorable Phyllis J. Henderson 
Committee Member 
SC House of Representative District 21  
October 5, 2018 

87 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 103



 

SUBCOMMITTEE STUDY OF THE DEPARTMENT OF 
REVENUE 

 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 104



 

 

Legislative Oversight Committee 
South Carolina House of Representatives 
Post Office Box 11867 
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
Telephone: (803) 212-6810 • Email: HCommLegOv@schouse.gov 

 
 

 
 

Notification of the 
Economic Development, Transportation, 
and Natural Resources Subcommittee’s 

Study of the 
Department of Revenue 

 October 8, 2018 
 
 
In accordance with Standard Practice 12.5, notice is hereby provided that the Economic Development, 
Transportation, and Natural Resources Subcommittee’s oversight study of the Department of Revenue is 
available for consideration by the full Committee. 
 
 
 
The Honorable Bruce W. Bannister 
Economic Development, Transportation, and Natural Resources Subcommittee Chair 
 
cc: The Honorable Neal A. Collins  
 The Honorable Mandy Powers Norrell 
 The Honorable Robert L. Ridgeway, III 
 

  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 105



1 
 

Legislative Oversight Committee 
Economic Development, Transportation, and Natural 

Resources Subcommittee 

 
Study of the 

Department of Revenue 
October 8, 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

FULL COMMITTEE OPTIONS 
STANDARD PRACTICE 13 

FULL COMMITTEE ACTION(S) DATE(S) OF FULL 
COMMITTEE ACTION(S) 

(1) Refer the study and investigation 
back to the Subcommittee or an ad 
hoc committee for further 
evaluation;  
(2) Approve the Subcommittee’s 
study; or  
(3) Further evaluate the agency as a 
full Committee, utilizing any of the 
available tools of legislative 
oversight 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 106



2 
 

CONTENTS 
 

Agency Snapshot 4 

Figure 1.  Snapshot of agency’s history, mission, organizational units,                                               
Fiscal Year 2017-18 resources, successes, and challenges. ................................................................. 4 

Executive Summary 5 

Purpose of Oversight Study ...................................................................................................................... 5 

Figure 2.  Summary of key dates and actions of the study process. .................................................... 5 

Recommendations .................................................................................................................................... 6 

Table 1.  Summary of recommendations arising from the study process. .......................................... 6 

Agency Overview 7 

History ...................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Purpose, Mission, and Vision .................................................................................................................... 8 

Agency Organization ................................................................................................................................. 8 

Table 2.  DOR directors since 1995, as reported by DOR in its PER. .................................................... 8 

Figure 3.  DOR divisions.  (Current as of June 18, 2018.) ..................................................................... 9 

Table 3.  Employee information by major program, as reported by DOR. ........................................ 10 

Table 4.  Division information, as reported by DOR. .......................................................................... 11 

Figure 3.  Organizational chart provided by the agency.  (Current as of May 31, 2018.) .................. 15 

Table 5.  Summary of laws applicable to DOR, as provided by the agency in its PER. ....................... 17 

Customers ............................................................................................................................................... 23 

Strategic Resource Allocation and Performance .................................................................................... 24 

Table 6.  Goal 1 (Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of                            
the state of South Carolina): Allocation of resources, as reported by DOR in its PER. ...................... 24 

Table 7.  Goal 1: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER. ......................................... 25 

Table 8.  Goal 2 (Ensure taxpayer security by utilizing state-of-the-art technology):              
Allocation of resources, as reported by DOR in its PER. .................................................................... 27 

Table 9.  Goal 2: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER. ......................................... 28 

Table 10.  Goal 3 (Maintain a positive customer service experience for all stakeholders):            
Allocation of resources, as reported by DOR in its PER. .................................................................... 29 

Table 11.  Goal 3: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER. ....................................... 30 

Table 12.  Goal 4 (Promote and maintain a competent, productive, and diverse workforce): 
Allocation of resources, as reported by DOR in its PER. .................................................................... 32 

Table 13.  Goal 4: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER. ....................................... 33 

 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 107



3 
 

Study Process 35 

Agency Selection ..................................................................................................................................... 35 

Subcommittee Membership ................................................................................................................... 35 

Agency Reports to Legislative Oversight Committee ............................................................................. 35 

Information from the Public ................................................................................................................... 36 

Figure 4.  January 2018 public survey respondent opinion of DOR. .................................................. 37 

Meetings Regarding the Agency ............................................................................................................. 38 

Study Process Completion ...................................................................................................................... 40 

Recommendations 41 

Table 14.  Summary of recommendations arising from the study process. ...................................... 41 

Selected Agency Information 50 

Appendix: Additional Information 51 

Contact Information 52 

Endnotes 52 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 108



4 
 

AGENCY SNAPSHOT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 1.  Snapshot of agency’s history, mission, organizational units, Fiscal Year 2017-18 resources, successes, and challenges.1

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 109



5 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Purpose of Oversight Study 
 
As stated in S.C. Code Ann. § 2-2-20(B), “[t]he purpose of these 
oversight studies and investigations is to determine if agency laws and 
programs within the subject matter jurisdiction of a standing 
committee: (1) are being implemented and carried out in accordance 
with the intent of the General Assembly; and (2) should be continued, 
curtailed, or eliminated.”  In making these determinations, the 
Subcommittee evaluates (1) the application, administration, 
execution, and effectiveness of the agency’s laws and programs,       
(2) the organization and operation of the agency, and (3) any 
conditions or circumstances that may indicate the necessity or 
desirability of enacting new or additional legislation pertaining to the 
agency.2

Study Process 
 
The House Legislative Oversight 
Committee’s (Committee) process for 
studying the Department of Revenue 
(agency or DOR) includes actions by 
the full Committee; Economic 
Development, Transportation, and 
Natural Resources Subcommittee 
(Subcommittee); the agency; and the 
public.  A summary of the key dates 
and actions is included below in 
Figure 2. 
 

 

• December 19, 2017 - Prioritizes the agency for study 
• January 12, 2018 - Provides the agency with notice about the oversight process  
• January 23 - March 1, 2018 - Solicits input from the public about the agency in the form of an online survey 
• March 1, 2018 - Holds Meeting 1 to obtain public input about the agency 

• June 18, 2018 - Holds Meeting 2 with the agency to discuss its history; legal framework; mission; vision; organizational 
structure; deliverables and customers; resources; relationships with other agencies; and goals 

• July 10, 2018 - Holds Meeting 3 with the agency to discuss the following agency divisions: Government Services; Taxpayer 
and Business Services; Security and Information Technology Services; and Litigation and Appeals 

• August 13, 2018 - Holds Meeting 4 with the agency to discuss public input and the following agency divisions: Policy, 
Privacy, and Procurement; Communications and Strategic Initiatives; Field Operations; and Administrative Services 

• September 10, 2018 - Holds Meeting 5 with the agency to discuss Subcommittee recommendations 

• April 14, 2015 - Submits its Annual Restructuring and Seven-Year Plan Report 
• January 12, 2016 - Submits its 2016 Annual Restructuring Report 
• September 2016 - Submits its FY 2015-16 Accountability Report/Annual Restructuring Report 
• September 2017 - Submits its FY 2016-17 Accountability Report/Annual Restructuring Report 
• May 31, 2018 - Submits its Program Evaluation Report 
• June - September 2018 - Meets with and responds to Subcommittee inquiries 
• September 2018 – Submits its FY 2017-18 Accountability Report/Annual Restructuring Report 

• January 23 - March 1, 2018 - Provides input about the agency via an online public survey 
• March 1, 2018 - Provides testimony about the agency to the full Committee 
• Ongoing - Submits written comments on the Oversight Committee's webpage on the General Assembly's website 

(www.scstatehouse.gov) 
 

Figure 2.  Summary of key dates and actions of the study process. 

 

Economic Development, Transportation, and Natural Resources Subcommittee Actions 

Department of Revenue Actions 

Public’s Actions 

Legislative Oversight Committee Actions 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 110

http://www.scstatehouse.gov/


6 
 

Recommendations 
 
The Subcommittee has six recommendations arising from its study of the agency.  There are five 
recommendations for the General Assembly and one recommendation for the agency.  All six 
recommendations would continue agency programs, with revisions.  
 
Table 1.  Summary of recommendations arising from the study process. 

Topic  Recommendations for . . . 

 . . . General Assembly  

Financial Institution Data 
Match Program  

1. Allow DOR to participate in the multistate Financial Institution Data 
Match program to share data files with financial institutions to 
identify financial assets of debtors with past due liabilities by 
amending S.C. Code Ann. § 12-54-265. 

Centralized Tax Lien 
System 

2. Allow DOR to implement a centralized system of filing and indexing 
of tax liens that is accessible to the public through DOR’s website by 
amending S.C. Code Ann. § 12-54-122(G). 

Alcohol Liability Coverage 
for Government Entities 

3. Allow the liability coverage provided by the Tort Claims Act for 
governmental entities to satisfy the liability coverage required for a 
governmental entity to hold an alcohol beverage on 
premise consumption license by amending S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-
145. 

Tax Credit for Energy 
Efficient Vehicles 

4. Provide clear guidelines to determine eligibility for the income tax 
credit for the purchase of new energy efficient vehicles by amending 
S.C. Code Ann. Title 12, Chapter 6. 

Taxation of Online Third- 
Party Sales 

5. Ensure that online third-party sales will be subject to tax by 
amending definitions in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-70. 

 . . . Department of Revenue 

Collection of Local Sales 
Taxes through MyDORWAY 

6. Investigate the costs and benefits of giving local governments the 
option of collecting local taxes through the MyDORWAY system and 
update the Committee on its findings within six months of the 
publication of the full Committee report. 

 
There are no specific recommendations with regards to curtailing or eliminating agency programs.     
 
 
 

  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 111



7 
 

AGENCY OVERVIEW 
 

History 
 
DOR provides the Committee with an overview of the agency’s history.3  In addition, Committee staff 
confirms the accuracy of assertions of legislative action. 
 
Creation of the Tax Commission 
1915:  Governor Richard I. Manning signs Act 99 creating the South Carolina Tax Commission for the 

specific purpose of executing “the equitable assessment of property for taxation.”4  The Tax 
Commission consists of three Governor-appointed commissioners and one employee.  

 
Evolution of the Tax Commission 
1922:  Following a post-World War II depression and the damaging effect of a boll weevil attack on the 

state’s cotton crop, the General Assembly seeks needed revenue by imposing income and 
inheritance taxes, which are administered by the Tax Commission.5  At that time the Commission 
consists of two commissioners, one full-time chairman (appointed by Commission), and three 
employees.   

 
1930:  The Tax Commission opens Charleston, Greenville and Spartanburg district offices.  
 
1940:  With the full implementation of the Indirect Tax Program, the collection of property taxes is shifted 

from the Tax Commission to local governments.   
 
1945:  Act 211 directs the Tax Commission to administer the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act and increases 

the number of commissioners from three to five.   
 
1951:  The Tax Commission opens Florence and Columbia district offices.   
 
1957:  Act 347 requires the Tax Commission Chairman to be appointed by the Governor.   
 
1962:  The Tax Commission is the first state agency in the U.S. to enter the computer age with the use of 

the NCR 315 computer system.  
 
Reorganization of the Tax Commission 
1967:  Pursuant to Act 398, the Tax Commission is reorganized into two separate agencies: the Tax 

Commission (three commissioners) and the Alcohol Beverage Control Commission (reassignment 
of two tax commissioners).   

 
1993:  The South Carolina Tax Commission is restructured by merging the South Carolina Tax Commission, 

the Division of Motor Vehicles, and the licensing arm of the Alcohol Beverage Control Commission.  
It continues to be overseen by commissioners appointed by the Governor.6   

 
Creation of the Department of Revenue 
1995:  The South Carolina Tax Commission is dissolved and the South Carolina Department of Revenue 

and Taxation is created as a cabinet agency with a Governor-appointed director.7     

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 112



8 
 

 
1996:  The Division of Motor Vehicles is reassigned to the Department of Public Safety, leaving the 

administration of taxes and alcohol beverage licensing with the newly-named South Carolina 
Department of Revenue.8   

 
2012: A cyber-attack on the agency exposes approximately 3.6 million Social Security numbers, after 

which free credit monitoring is offered to those affected.9 
 
2018:  Today, the South Carolina Department of Revenue remains a cabinet agency led by a Governor-

appointed director.  It is responsible for the administration of 72 taxes and fees.10   
 

 

 

Purpose, Mission, and Vision 
 
DOR’s purpose, as stated in S.C. Code Ann. 12-4-10, is to administer and enforce South Carolina’s revenue 
laws and licensing laws and regulations related to alcohol and to assess penalties for violations of those 
laws.  
 
Its mission is to administer the revenue and regulatory laws of the state with integrity, effectiveness, and 
fairness to all taxpayers, while maintaining the highest security and protection of taxpayer information.11 
 
Its vision is to be an innovative and trustworthy service partner for all stakeholders.12 
   

 
Agency Organization 
 
Governing Body 
 
DOR is a cabinet agency, governed by a director appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of 
the Senate.13  Table 2 shows the agency’s directors since 1995, as reported by DOR. 
 

Table 2.  DOR directors since 1995, as reported by DOR in its PER.14  

Burnet R. Maybank, III 1995 – 1999 

Elizabeth Carpentier 1999 – 2003 

Burnet R. Maybank, III 2003 – 2006 

Ray N. Stevens 2006 – 2010 

James F. Etter 2011 – 2013 

William M. Blume, Jr. 2013 – 2014 

Rick Reames, III 2014 – 2016 

W. Hartley Powell 2017 – present (2018) 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 113



9 
 

Agency Organizational Units 
 
During the study process the Committee asks the agency about its organization and major operating 
programs.15  DOR informs the Committee it comprises nine major divisions, shown in Figure 3.16  
 
 

 
 
Figure 3.  DOR divisions.  (Current as of June 18, 2018.)17 

 
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 114



10 
 

These divisions can be grouped under the major programs included in the agency’s budget.  Table 3 includes information about employees in each of 
those groups. 
 
Table 3.  Employee information by major program, as reported by DOR.18 

Major Program Divisions Included Year 
Turnover 

rate 

Employee 
satisfaction 

tracked? 

Anonymous 
feedback 
allowed? 

Did any of the 
jobs require a 
certification? 

If yes, did the 
agency pay for or 
provide education 
requirements for 

certification? 

I.  Administrative 
and Program 
Support 

 Internal Audit  

 Security (partial division) 

 Communications and 

Strategic Initiatives 

2014-15: 7.69%   X N/A 

2015-16: 0.00%   X N/A 

2016-17: 6.67% X X X N/A 

II.A Support Services 

 Administrative Services  

 Information Technology 

Services (partial division) 

2014-15: 23.53%     

2015-16: 17.76%     

2016-17: 8.40% X X   

II.B Revenue and 
Regulatory 

 Field Operations 

 Taxpayer & Business Services 

 Government Services 

 Litigation and Appeals 

2014-15: 12.42%     

2015-16: 10.90%     

2016-17: 14.34% X X   

II.C Legal, Policy and 
Legislation 

 Policy, Privacy, and 

Procurement 

2014-15: 0.00%     

2015-16: 0.00%     

2016-17: 37.50% X X   

  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 115



11 
 

During the study process, DOR provides the information shown in Table 4 about each of its divisions. 
 
 
Table 4.  Division information, as reported by DOR.19 

Administrative Services Employees: 51 FTEs,* 1 contractor 

Related Agency Goals:^ 

1. Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of the state of South Carolina 
3. Maintain a positive customer service experience for all stakeholders 
4. Promote and maintain a competent, productive, and diverse workforce 

Services and Products Provided to External Stakeholders: 

 Administer, enforce, and/or collect taxes and fees  

 Protect taxpayers’ rights   

 Collect a tax/fee and remit revenue to the state's general fund   

 Collect a tax/fee and remit revenue to a state or local governmental entity or non-governmental 
entity 

 Support state government by distributing voluntary income tax contributions  

 Serve on a committee or board 

 Support local governments by sharing data and making reimbursements for certain tax 
exemptions 

 

Communications Employees: 5 FTEs*  

Related Agency Goals:^ 

1. Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of the state of South Carolina 
3. Maintain a positive customer service experience for all stakeholders 

Services and Products Provided to External Stakeholders: 

 Administer the educational credit for exceptional needs children 

 

 

  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 116



12 
 

Field Operations Employees: 117 FTEs*  

Related Agency Goals:^ 

1. Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of the state of South Carolina 
3. Maintain a positive customer service experience for all stakeholders 

Services and Products Provided to External Stakeholders: 

 Administer a license or issue a certificate to operate a place of business or sell a specific product 

o Bingo 
o Alcohol retailers 

o Alcohol wholesalers 
o Alcohol on-premise consumption 

 Administer, enforce, and/or collect taxes and fees  

 Assist the Catawba Indian Tribe with the administration of taxes 

 Collect a tax/fee and remit revenue to the state's general fund   

 Collect a tax/fee and remit revenue to a state or local governmental or non-governmental entity 

 Determine and issue a refund to a taxpayer 

 Support state government (e.g., by sharing information) 

 Establish procedures for disagreements with taxpayers 

 Evaluate and adjust tax rates   

 Perform audit functions and compliance inspections to promote tax compliance  

 Provide a report on the costs of the cigarette tax stamp program 

 Regulate reporting of taxpayers 

Government Services Employees: 46 FTEs*  

Related Agency Goals:^ 

1. Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of the state of South Carolina 
3. Maintain a positive customer service experience for all stakeholders 

Services and Products Provided to External Stakeholders: 

 Administer, enforce, and/or collect taxes and fees 

o Local option sales tax 
o Capital project sales tax  
o Local sales tax  

o Tourism development fee 
o Local option transportation tax  
o Homestead exemption 

 Protect taxpayers’ rights   

 Assist local governments related to property taxes 

 Assist the Catawba Indian Tribe with the administration of taxes 

 Collect a tax/fee and remit revenue to a state or local governmental or non-governmental entity 

 Support state government 

 Establish partnerships to promote tax compliance and simplify tax administration 

 Establish procedures for disagreements 

 Notify taxpayers and external stakeholders 

 Provide a report 

 Serve on a committee or board 

 Support local governments (e.g., by sharing data) 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 117



13 
 

Internal Audit Employees: 6 FTEs*  

Related Agency Goals:^ 

1. Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of the state of South Carolina 

Services and Products Provided to External Stakeholders: 

 Protect taxpayers’ rights   

 Support state government 

Litigation and Appeals Employees: 19 FTEs*  

Related Agency Goals:^ 

1. Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of the State of South Carolina 
3. Maintain a positive customer service experience for all stakeholders 

Services and Products Provided to External Stakeholders: 

 Administer, enforce, and/or collect taxes and fees  

 Protect taxpayers’ rights   

 Establish procedures for disagreements with taxpayers 

Policy, Privacy, and Procurement Employees: 11 FTEs*  

Related Agency Goals:^ 

1. Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of the state of South Carolina 
3. Maintain a positive customer service experience for all stakeholders 

Services and Products Provided to External Stakeholders: 

 Administer, enforce, and/or collect taxes and fees  

 Evaluate and adjust tax rates  

 Notify taxpayers and external stakeholders 

 Serve on a committee or board 

Security and Information Technology Services Employees: 92 FTEs*, 30 contractors 

Related Agency Goals:^ 

2. Ensure taxpayer security by utilizing state-of-the-art technology 

Services and Products Provided to External Stakeholders: 

 Establish Fraudulent Tax Return Program 

  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 118



14 
 

Taxpayer and Business Services Employees: 334 FTEs*  

Related Agency Goals:^ 

1. Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of the state of South Carolina 
3. Maintain a positive customer service experience for all stakeholders 

Services and Products Provided to External Stakeholders: 

 Administer a license or issue a certificate to operate a place of business or sell a specific product 

o Tobacco products 
o Places of amusement 

o Retail sales locations 
o Drycleaners  

 Administer, enforce, and/or collect taxes and fees  

 Protect taxpayers’ rights   

 Assist the Catawba Indian Tribe with the administration of taxes 

 Collect a tax/fee and remit revenue to the state's general fund   

 Collect a tax/fee and remit revenue to a state or local governmental entity or non-governmental 
entity 

 Determine and issue a refund to a taxpayer  

 Support state government 

 Establish partnerships to promote tax compliance and simplify tax administration 

 Establish procedures for disagreements 

 Evaluate and adjust tax rates   

 Notify taxpayers and external stakeholders 

 Provide a report 

 Support local governments by sharing data 

 
Table Notes: 

* FTE = full-time equivalent 
^ For more information about the agency’s four goals, see Tables 6, 8, 10, and 12. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 119



15 
 

 
Organizational Chart 

 

 
Figure 3.  Organizational chart provided by the agency.  (Current as of May 31, 2018.)20  

 
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 120



16 
 

Internal Audit Process 
 
In the Program Evaluation Report, the Committee asks the agency to provide information about its internal 
audit process, if it has one.  The agency provides the information below:21   
 

The DOR’s Internal Audit Division has existed since at least 1998, though its original 
establishment date is unknown.  The Internal Audit Director is hired by and reports to 
the DOR director.  The Internal Audit team currently has six employees including the 
Internal Audit Director.  The Internal Audit Division Charter (Exhibit 2), which is signed 
by the DOR director, outlines the following: 
 

o Reporting structure, reporting directly to DOR director. 
o Responsibility to obtain DOR director approval for the Annual Audit Plan. 
o Authority to access any/all personnel, records, and systems.  

 
The Internal Audit Division conducts two types of risk assessments:  

1. Macro-Risk Assessment - This assessment is a continuous assessment with 
several components, which are completed throughout the fiscal year.  
Components include an employee survey, an employee analysis, a stakeholder 
analysis, and a Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats (SWOT) 
analysis.  The results of these assessments are used to establish the Internal 
Audit Division’s Annual Audit Plan.  These results are used by DOR leadership 
to establish strategies and objectives for the Agency’s annual strategic plan.  

2. Micro-Risk Assessment - These assessments are completed during the 
preliminary audit of a particular DOR department or process to determine 
inherent risks, mitigating controls, and residual risks.  These micro-risk 
assessments help ensure resources are focused on the most at-risk areas of a 
department or process. 
 

Audits include reviewing the effectiveness, efficiency, and compliance of the area 
under review.  While the Internal Audit Division’s Annual Audit Plan is risk-based, a 
significant portion of the Audit Plan is dedicated to compliance and operational audits 
required by the IRS.  Most reviews focus on information technology and security.  The 
DOR director reviews and approves the Annual Audit Plan as a part of the Internal Audit 
Director’s Annual Planning Stage.  Over the last five years, the Internal Audit Division 
has completed 86 projects and has been heavily involved in the DOR’s performance 
measurement processes.  
 
The Internal Audit Division undergoes external peer review every five years according 
to standards established by the International Institute of Internal Auditors.  External 
peer reviews are performed by the South Carolina State Internal Auditor’s Association 
(SCSIAA).  The most recent external peer review was performed in 2012, and the 
Internal Audit Division is currently due for a peer review.  The SCSIAA board is in the 
process of putting together a team to conduct the review. 

 
  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 121



17 
 

Legal Obligations 
 
In the Program Evaluation Report, the Committee asks the agency to list the laws applicable to it.  Listed 
below is a summary of the information the agency provides.22 
 
Table 5.  Summary of laws applicable to DOR, as provided by the agency in its PER. 

Code Section Summary of Laws that Apply to DOR 

Title 1 
Administration of the 
Government 

Establishes DOR as a cabinet agency 

Title 3 
U.S. Government, Agreements 
and Regulations  

Agency responsibilities related to gambling vessels 

Title 4 
Counties 

Agency responsibilities related to administration, collection, and 
distribution of county taxes, as well as related data sharing 

Title 6 
Local Government - Provisions 
Applicable to Special Purpose 
Districts and Other Political 
Subdivisions 

Agency responsibilities related to:  

 assessment of property values 

 data sharing associated with the accommodation tax 

 taxation of ‘rent by owner' vacation rentals 

Title 11 
Public Finance 

Various responsibilities related to:  

 Board of Economic Advisors  

 provision of information to other state entities 

 reimbursement of counties for Homestead Exemption credits 

(i.e., a tax credit for homeowners who are over age 65, 

disabled, or blind)23 

 the angel investor tax credit (i.e., a tax credit for qualified 

investments in certain small businesses)24 

 cigarette taxes 

Title 12  
Taxation 

Chapter 2 Appointment and removal of director 

Chapter 4 

Major agency duties, including: 

 administration and enforcement of revenue laws and licensing 

and regulation of alcoholic liquors, beer, and wine 

 recommend tax legislation 

 publish statistics & share information with local governments 

 conduct tax audits 

 Educate and oversee county assessors 

 Appraisal and assessment of certain types of property  

 Determine property tax exemptions 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 122



18 
 

Code Section Summary of Laws that Apply to DOR 

Title 12  
Taxation 
(continued) 

Chapter 6 

South Carolina income tax:  

 DOR's administration 

 annual adjustment to income tax brackets 

 tax credit administration 

 eligibility and certification procedures  

Chapter 8 Income tax withholding: DOR's administrative responsibilities 

Chapter 10 

Enterprise Zone Act of 1995 (i.e., economic incentives for certain types 
of businesses to locate in S.C.): DOR's administrative and audit 
responsibilities in coordination with the State Rural Infrastructure 
Fund 

Chapter 11 Taxation: income tax on banks 

Chapter 20 
Corporate license fees, DOR's corporate infrastructure credit report 
due to the General Assembly 

Chapter 21 
Stamp and business license tax: DOR's administrative responsibilities 
for the Tobacco Stamp Tax, Bingo Licensing and Admissions Tax 

Chapter 23 
License taxes on other businesses: DOR's administrative responsibility 
of the Electric Power Tax and Hospital Tax 

Chapter 24 DOR's allocation requirements of the Deed Recording Fee 

Chapter 28 
Motor fuel user fees (i.e., gas tax): DOR administrative and allocation 
requirements 

Chapter 33 
Alcohol beverages license: DOR's administrative and allocation 
requirements 

Chapter 35 
The Simplified Sales and Use Tax Administration Act: DOR's required 
representative and agreement 

Chapter 36 

Agency responsibilities related to:  

 Sales tax 

 Retailer license fee 

 Accommodations tax  

 Sales tax holidays and exemptions 

Chapter 37 
 

DOR's assessment and disbursement requirements for property taxes 
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 123



19 
 

Code Section Summary of Laws that Apply to DOR 

Title 12  
Taxation 
(continued) 

Chapter 39 
DOR's requirement to provide continuing education to county auditors 
and DOR partnership responsibilities with counties to assess property   

Chapter 43 
County equalization and reassessment: DOR's responsibility to 
promulgate regulations to ensure equalization which must be adhered 
to by all assessing officials in the state  

Chapter 44 
DOR's administration responsibilities related to the Fee In Lieu of Tax 
Simplification Act (i.e., a method of reducing taxes on manufacturing 
and certain commercial properties) 

Chapter 45 
County treasurers and collection of taxes: DOR's requirement to 
provide continuing education to county treasurers and DOR 
partnership responsibilities with counties to collect   

Chapter 53 
Tax collection by the department of revenue: DOR's responsibility to 
remit to the clerk of court liens against the property seized and sold  

Chapter 54 
Uniform method of collection and enforcement of taxes levied and 
assessed by DOR 

Chapter 55 
Overdue Tax Debt Collection Act: DOR's responsibility to notify the 
taxpayer of collection assistance fee and fee credit requirements   

Chapter 56 
DOR's administrative responsibility related to the Setoff Debt 
Collection Act (i.e., a program allowing DOR to garnish tax refunds to 
collect debts to other government entities) 

Chapter 58 

South Carolina Taxpayers' Bill of Rights: DOR's administrative 
responsibilities, including: 

 Establishment of a taxpayer advocate 

 Implementation of a taxpayer education program 

 Procedures for lien appeals and correcting erroneous liens  

Chapter 60 
South Carolina Revenue Procedures Act: DOR's responsibility to 
provide a straightforward procedure to determine a dispute 

Chapter 62 
South Carolina Motion Picture Incentive Act: DOR's responsibility for 
issuance of a sales tax exemption once a motion picture incentive is 
approved 

Title 13 
Planning, Research and 
Development 

DOR director’s service on the Coordinating Council for Economic 
Development 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 124



20 
 

Code Section Summary of Laws that Apply to DOR 

Title 16 
Crimes and Offenses 

Responsibilities related to: 

 Distribution to businesses of placards advertising penalties for 

armed robbery 

 Enforcement of laws relating to use of cigarettes and nicotine 

products 

Title 23 
Law Enforcement and Public 
Safety 

Responsibilities related to: 

 911 fees 

 Inspection of cigarette packages 

Title 27 
Property and Conveyances: 
Catawba Indian Claims 
Settlement Act 

Responsibilities related to: 

 Tribal bingo tax 

 Administration of tribal sales and property taxes 

Title 30 
Public Records.  Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) 

Fees for FOIA requests 

Title 31 
Housing and Redevelopment: 
Mobile Homes and House 
Trailers 

Mobile home decals and moving permits 

Title 34 
Banking, Financial Institutions 
and Money. Bank Deposits 

Ability to retain non-sufficient fund fee 

Title 38 
Insurance 

DOR reporting of suspected false statements to the Insurance Fraud 
Division of the Office of Attorney General 

Title 40 
Professions and Occupations 

Provision of continuing education for property assessors 

Title 43 
Social Services 

Provision of income tax returns and information to the Department of 
Social Services upon request 

Title 44 
Health: South Carolina 
Hazardous Waste 
Management Act and South 
Carolina Solid Waste Policy 
and Management Act 

Responsibilities related to: 

 Dry Cleaning Facility Restoration Trust Fund 

 Solid waste disposal fees 

 Waste tire disposal fee 

 Lead acid battery fee 

 White good disposal fee 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 125



21 
 

Code Section Summary of Laws that Apply to DOR 

Title 46 
South Carolina Farm Aid Fund 

DOR assistance to the Department of Agriculture in the administration 
of the Farm Aid Grant program (i.e., financial assistance to farmers 
affected by October 2015 flooding) 

Title 48 
Environmental Protection and 
Conservation 

Responsibilities related to: 

 Primary forest product assessment 

 Payments on low level reactive waste 

Title 55 
Aeronautics.  State 
Aeronautical Regulatory Act 

Responsibilities related to the aircraft tax 

Title 56 
Motor Vehicles.  Rental of 
Private Passenger Automobiles 

Responsibilities related to the heavy equipment rental fee 

Title 58 
Public Utilities, Services and 
Carriers 

Responsibilities related to assessments on: 

 utility companies 

 railway companies  

 household goods carriers  

 hazardous waste for disposal carriers 

Title 59 
Education 

Responsibilities related to: 

 Calculation of an Index of Taxpaying Ability, which is provided 

annually to the Department of Education and county auditors 

 Computation of the value of fees-in-lieu of taxes 

 Sales tax imposed by the Education Improvement Act 

Title 61  
Alcohol and 
Alcoholic 
Beverages 

Chapter 2 
General provisions:  DOR administrative duties to license, permit and 
certify alcohol beverage retail location 

Chapter 4 
Beer, ale, porter and wine:  DOR's administrative duties to issue 
certificate of registration for producers and wholesalers of beer and 
wine 

Chapter 6 

Procedures related to:  

 suspension and revocation of alcohol licenses 

 temporary and special alcohol licenses 

 alcohol license requirements, forms, and fees 

Local Laws 
Provision of tax-related data to school districts; administration and 
collection of school district taxes 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 126



22 
 

Code Section Summary of Laws that Apply to DOR 

Code of Regulations,  
Chapter 117 

Procedures related to: 

 completion and submission of tax returns 

 required reporting of sales and purchases 

 various DOR forms and requirements 

Proviso 1.48* Impute index value for owner-occupied residential property 

Proviso 1A.7* 
Quarterly disbursement of funds to other entities, with some 
exceptions 

Proviso 47.2* Reimbursement of DNR for the cost of collecting the casual sales tax 

Proviso 93.7* 
Reduction in rate of interest paid on eligible refunds to benefit the 
Guardian ad Litem program 

Proviso 109.2* Carry forward of funds awarded to the DOR by court order  

Proviso 109.3* Deposit of additional Rural Infrastructure Fund revenues 

Proviso 109.4* Funding of the South Carolina Business One Stop program 

Proviso 109.6* Candidate Tax Return Programs 

Proviso 109.7* Fraudulent Tax Return Detection Program  

Proviso 109.8* 
Retention of some revenues to offset costs of the Federal Treasury 
Offset Program 

Proviso 109.9* 
Remittance of accommodation tax funds to Horry County for special 
purposes upon request 

Proviso 109.10* Educational credit for exceptional needs children 

Proviso 117.86* 
Reduction in rate of interest paid on eligible refunds to benefit the 
Joint Citizens and Legislative Committee on Children and the 
Department of Juvenile Justice 

Proviso 118.10(c) and (d)* Tax deduction for consumer protection services 

Table Note: 
* Provisos referenced are from the General Appropriations Act for FY 2018-19, Act 264 of 2018. 

 

 
 
  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 127



23 
 

Customers 
 
In its Accountability Report for FY 2016-17, DOR asserts that it serves four types of customers, which it 
describes as follows:25 
 

Individual Taxpayers 
The individual taxpayers of this state rely on the Department of Revenue to administer taxes 
and licensing fees.  The primary taxes and fees include: individual income, estate, fiduciary, 
property, and use taxes, as well as deed recording fees.  The primary services provided in 
administering these taxes and fees include: producing formal Department rulings on various 
laws and policies; offering informal advice on various laws and policies; providing 
educational events and literature to taxpayers; offering various methods and options for 
taxpayers to use to comply with and pay taxes; and registration. 
 
Business Taxpayers  
Business taxpayers rely on the Department of Revenue to administer business-related taxes, 
licenses, and licensing fees.  The primary business taxes and licenses include: alcohol 
beverage licensing (ABL), beer and wine, accommodations, tobacco, corporate income, 
motor fuel, property, sales and use, withholding, indigent hospital, and deed recording.  The 
primary services provided in administering these taxes and fees include: producing formal 
Department rulings on various laws and policies; offering informal advice on various laws 
and policies; providing educational events and literature to taxpayers; offering various 
methods and options for taxpayers to use to comply with and pay taxes; and registration. 
 
Tax Professionals  
Professionals in the tax industry rely on the Department of Revenue to provide services 
related to the individual and business taxes, licenses, and fees administered by the 
Department.  The primary services provided to tax professionals include: producing formal 
Department rulings on various laws and policies; offering informal advice on various laws 
and policies; providing educational events and literature; and offering various methods and 
options for taxpayers to use to comply with and pay taxes.  
 
Local Governments  
Local governments of this state rely on the Department of Revenue to impose various local 
taxes, primarily including: property, local option sales, accommodations, and admissions 
taxes.  The primary services provided include:  producing formal Department rulings on 
various laws and policies; offering informal advice on various laws and policies; providing 
educational events and literature; and collecting debts through the GEAR (Governmental 
Enterprise Accounts Receivable) and Debt Set-Off programs.  

 
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 128



24 
 

Strategic Resource Allocation and Performance  
 

Annually, each agency submits a strategic plan.26  Of interest in the oversight process are the total resources 
available to an agency and how the agency allocates human and financial resources to the goals and 
objectives in the agency’s strategic plan.  The agency tracks its progress toward these goals with a number 
of performance measures, which can be found in its Program Evaluation Report (PER) and annual 
Accountability Report.27  The tables below show the agency’s strategic plan and the resources it used or 
budgeted for each goal and strategy during the last two fiscal years, followed by the performance measures 
that are associated with each goal.    
 

Table 6.  Goal 1 (Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of the state of South Carolina): Allocation of 
resources, as reported by DOR in its PER.28 

 

  
# of 
FTEs 

Utilized 

Amount 
Spent/ 

Budgeted* 

% of 
Total 

Budget 

Goal 1 - 
Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and 
regulatory laws of the state of South Carolina. 

FY17 525  $59,271,933  59% 

FY18 535  $71,014,994  73% 

 
Strategy 1.1 - Increase tax compliance of all taxpayers. 

FY17 490 $55,672,510  56% 

 FY18 500  $62,476,715  65% 

 
Objectives: 

1.1.1 - Collect tax revenue in support of the State's General Fund. 
1.1.2 - Reduce debt owed to South Carolina organizations and governmental entities by 

expanding external stakeholder partnerships.  
1.1.3 - Ensure equity across South Carolina taxpayers by pursuing non-compliant taxpayers 

through fair identification, audit, and litigation. 
1.1.4 - Increase taxpayer awareness and compliance through outreach and by simplifying 

filing and payment methods. 

 Strategy 1.2 - Protect taxpayers and State revenues by 
enhancing fraud prevention and detection. 

FY17 20 $2,110,845  2% 

 FY18 20 $3,538,279  4% 

 
Objectives: 

1.2.1 - Increase the prevention rate of fraudulent tax refunds distributed.  
1.2.2 - Increase employee and public awareness of personal protection strategies to prevent 

fraud.   

 

 Strategy 1.3 - Consolidate DOR's multiple tax processing 
systems into one efficient system, known as DORWAY. 

FY17 15  $1,488,578  1% 

 FY18 15 $5,000,000  5% 

 Objectives: 
1.3.1 - Monitor and refine the taxes transitioned to DORWAY in Phase I (FY15) and Phase II 

(FY16). 
1.3.2 - Prepare for and implement Phase III of DORWAY, scheduled for rollout in September 

of 2017. 
1.3.3 - Prepare for Phase IV of DORWAY, scheduled for rollout in September of 2018. 

 

 

Table Note: 
* Because the agency submitted this information during FY 2017-18, the table reflects the agency’s budgeted 

allocation for that year. 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 129



25 
 

Table 7.  Goal 1: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER.29 

  

Performance Measure
Type (as 

determined 

by agency)

Required or 

Selected?

Time 

Period

Time 

Period 1

Time 

Period 2

Time 

Period 3

Time 

Period 4

Time Period 5  

(last completed)

Time Period 

6  (current)

Target: DNE $9.1 $10.5 $10 $7.75 $8.12 

Actual: $8.9 $9.1 $10.5 $10.9 $7.78 

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE $3.9 $3.9 

Actual:
Reported 

Above

Reported 

Above

Reported 

Above

Reported 

Above
$3.9 

Target: DNE 70% 70% 70% 70% 70%

Actual: DNE 64% 68% 65% 69%

Target: DNE 90% 85% 80% 85% 85%

Actual: DNE 83% 84% 85% 82%

Target: DNE DNE DNE $0.0071 $0.0071 $0.0065 

Actual: $0.0076 0.0074 0.0079 $0.0071 $0.0065 

Target: DNE DNE DNE 200 200 DNE

Actual: 287 DNE DNE 273 118

Target: DNE DNE DNE 45,000 45,000 DNE

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 45,638 43,056

Target: DNE DNE DNE $172 $172 DNE

Actual: DNE DNE DNE $172 $288 

Target: DNE DNE DNE 10% 10% 9%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 9% 9%

Target: DNE $14.2 $13.8 $12.5 $12.5 $16.1 

Actual: $11.79 $14.2 $13.8 $12.8 $16.1 

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE DNE DNE

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 62% -19%

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE DNE DNE

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 29% 42%

Percentage of tax returns filed electronically Efficiency 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage of dollars collected through 

electronic services
Efficiency 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage of total tax dollars saved due to the 

identification of fraudulent activity as a result of 

the new data mining activities initiated

Outcome 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage increase in collections from the Debt 

Setoff Program
Outcome 

Agency 

Selected

January - 

December

Collections from the Governmental Enterprise 

Accounts Receivable Program (GEAR) (dollars)
Outcome 

Agency 

Selected

January - 

December

Percentage increase in the total tax dollars saved 

from the identification of fraudulent activity
Outcome 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number tax audits completed Output 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Dollars assessed by SCDOR's audit services 

(dollars in millions)
Output 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Total SCDOR General Fund tax revenue 

collections (dollars in billions)
Outcome 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Total SCDOR Other Fund tax revenue collections 

(dollars in billions)
Outcome 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Cost per dollar collected Efficiency 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of nexus (i.e., the sufficient connection 

between S.C. and a taxpayer) registrations
Output 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 130



26 
 

 
 
 

Performance Measure
Type (as 

determined 

by agency)

Required or 

Selected?

Time 

Period

Time 

Period 1

Time 

Period 2

Time 

Period 3

Time 

Period 4

Time Period 5  

(last completed)

Time Period 

6  (current)

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 13 15

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 13

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 100% 100%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 100%

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 1,060,654 DNE

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 4,255,394

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 100% 100%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 100%

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 8,828 DNE

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 8,828

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 100% 100%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 100%

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage of completion for migrating tax types 

to DORWay Phase III
Efficiency 

Agency 

Selected

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of transaction tests performed in 

DORWay Phase III

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage completion rate of DORWay, Phase 

III, transaction testing

Input/ 

Activity 

July - June

Number of tax types migrated to DORWay Phase 

III
Efficiency 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage of completion for migrating taxpayer 

accounts to DORWay Phase III

Number of taxpayer accounts migrated to 

DORWay Phase III
Efficiency 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Table Note: 
DNE = Does/did not exist 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 131



27 
 

Table 8.  Goal 2 (Ensure taxpayer security by utilizing state-of-the-art technology): Allocation of resources, as reported by DOR in 
its PER.30 

 

  
# of 
FTEs 

Utilized 

Amount 
Spent/ 

Budgeted* 

% of 
Total 

Budget 

Goal 2 –  
Ensure taxpayer security by utilizing state-of-
the-art technology. 

FY17 37 $15,034,219 15% 

FY18 37 $13,034,625  13% 

 Strategy 2.1 - Cultivate an increasingly mature security 
governance Program. 

FY17 5 $1,926,359  2% 

 FY18 5 $2,000,000  2% 

 
Objectives: 

2.1.1 - Achieve satisfactory results from each external regulatory body performing a security 
assessment or audit.  

2.1.2 - Increase employee knowledge by providing in-class and e-learning training 
opportunities regarding security and disclosure. 

2.1.3 - Perform oversight of partners and vendors. 

 

 

 Strategy 2.2 - Increase efficiency and security by 
effectively utilizing state-of-the-art security technology 
and processes. 

FY17 30 $6,321,544  6% 

 FY18 30 $6,495,000  7% 

 
Objectives: 

2.2.1 - Ensure security resources (appliances, hardware, software, etc.) are fully leveraged. 
2.2.2 - Provide flexibility to agency business operations by streamlining security processes. 
2.2.3 - Increase taxpayer customer service by reducing the "time to market" for new products 

and services.  
2.2.4 - Maintain and enhance employee and stakeholder safety in the workplace. 

 

 

 

 Strategy 2.3 - Increase security by consolidating multiple 
antiquated tax processing systems through the 
implementation of DORWAY. 

FY17 2 $6,786,316  7% 

 FY18 2 $4,539,625  5% 

 
Objectives: 

2.3.1 - Conduct a risk assessment of DORWAY, Phase III, and achieve a score of 95% or 
greater. 

2.3.2 - Complete an application security scan of MyDORWAY (online taxpayer portal). 
2.3.3 - Complete an access review of DORWAY users. 

 

 

Table Note: 
* Because the agency submitted this information during FY 2017-18, the table reflects the agency’s budgeted 

allocation for that year. 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 132



28 
 

Table 9.  Goal 2: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER.31 

 
 
 
 
 

Performance Measure
Type (as 

determined 

by agency)

Required or 

Selected?

Time 

Period

Time 

Period 1

Time 

Period 2

Time 

Period 3

Time 

Period 4

Time Period 5  

(last completed)

Time Period 

6  (current)

Target: DNE DNE DNE 100% 100% 100%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 100% 100%

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 95% 97%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 97%

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 100% 100%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 100%

Target: DNE DNE 100% 100% 100% 100%

Actual: DNE DNE 100% 100% 100%

Target: DNE DNE DNE 100% 100% 100%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 100% 100%

Target: DNE DNE 10 10 10% DNE

Actual: DNE DNE 10 10 1,424

Number of enhancements made to the security 

of SCDOR facilities

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage of existing, active SCDOR employees 

to complete required security and disclosure 

trainings

Efficiency 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percent of new employees fingerprinted and 

background checked
Efficiency 

Federal 

government
July - June

Percentage of external security assessments and 

audits passed successfully
Outcome 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage completion rate of MyDORWay 

application security scan
Efficiency 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage compliance rate achieved on a risk 

assessment of DORWay, Phase III
Efficiency 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Table Note: 
DNE = Does/did not exist 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 133



29 
 

Table 10.  Goal 3 (Maintain a positive customer service experience for all stakeholders): Allocation of resources, as reported by 
DOR in its PER.32 

  
# of 
FTEs 

Utilized 

Amount 
Spent/ 

Budgeted* 

% of 
Total 

Budget 

Goal 3 –  
Maintain a positive customer service 
experience for all stakeholders. 

FY17 101 $6,823,448  7% 

FY18 111  $6,910,000  7% 

 
Strategy 3.1 - Increase taxpayer satisfaction by enhancing 
how the Agency interfaces with customers. 

FY17 50 $2,326,291  2% 

 FY18 50 $2,350,000  2% 

Objectives: 
3.1.1 - Maintain a positive customer satisfaction score as reported through an independent 

third-party surveyor. 
3.1.2 - Enhance the customer service experience for stakeholders who utilize the agency's 

public facing teams (i.e., call center, taxpayer assistance officers, etc.). 
3.1.3 - Increase employee knowledge by providing in-class and e-learning training 

opportunities regarding Phase III of DORWAY. 

 
Strategy 3.2 - Streamline tax processing to ensure 
effective, accurate, and timely service for all taxpayers. 

FY17 44 $3,694,291  4% 

 FY18 54  $3,750,000  4% 

Objectives: 
3.2.1 - Increase the percentage of total tax returns received electronically. 
3.2.2 - Increase taxpayer usage of the MyDORWAY portal.  
3.2.3 - Increase tax payments and license fees received electronically. 

 Strategy 3.3. - Increase customer satisfaction by offering 
assistance through the interpretation and dissemination 
of tax law. 

FY17 7 $802,866  1% 

 FY18 7  $810,000  1% 

Objectives: 
3.3.1 - Offer formal and informal legal interpretation of tax laws to advocate taxpayer 

compliance. 
3.3.2 - Increase customer satisfaction by disseminating information to taxpayers to advocate 

tax compliance. 

Table Note: 
* Because the agency submitted this information during FY 2017-18, the table reflects the agency’s budgeted 

allocation for that year. 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 134



30 
 

Table 11.  Goal 3: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER.33 

 
 
 

Performance Measure
Type (as 

determined 

by agency)

Required or 

Selected?

Time 

Period

Time 

Period 1

Time 

Period 2

Time 

Period 3

Time 

Period 4

Time Period 5  

(last completed)

Time Period 

6  (current)

Target: DNE DNE DNE 151 151 DNE

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 151 730

Target: DNE DNE DNE 20% 40% 40%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 38% 127%

Target: DNE 5 6 6 6 5

Actual: DNE 5 6 6 5

Target: DNE 550 500 500 500 500

Actual: DNE 530 485 702 783

Target: DNE DNE DNE 60% 60% 60%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 58% 56%

Target: DNE DNE 121 200 200 DNE

Actual: DNE DNE 121 254 199

Target: DNE DNE 805 150 150 DNE

Actual: DNE DNE 805 198 98

Target: DNE DNE 412 500 500 DNE

Actual: DNE DNE 412 720 520

Target: DNE DNE 147 150 150 108

Actual: DNE DNE 147 149 108

Target: DNE DNE DNE 50% 50% DNE

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 170% -14%

Target: DNE DNE DNE 50% 50% DNE

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 86% -2%

Target: DNE DNE 31.90% 30% 30% DNE

Actual: DNE DNE 31.90% 35.98% 45%

Number of links clicked through SCDOR tweets Outcome 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

SCDOR website bounce rate Outcome 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage increase in SCDOR website users Outcome 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage increase in SCDOR website page 

views

Number of SCDOR new twitter followers Outcome 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of participants in taxpayer education 

courses 
Output 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of SCDOR tweets Outcome 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage of taxpayers reporting an excellent 

satisfaction rate for external taxpayers classes 

attended

Outcome 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Outcome 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of SCDOR external communications and 

publications
Output 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of formal advisory opinions resolved 

and published by SCDOR's Policy Division 
Output 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of taxpayer education courses offered Output 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage increase in the number of recipients 

and subscribers to external communications
Efficiency 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 135



31 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Performance Measure
Type (as 

determined 

by agency)

Required or 

Selected?

Time 

Period

Time 

Period 1

Time 

Period 2

Time 

Period 3

Time 

Period 4

Time Period 5  

(last completed)

Time Period 

6  (current)

Target: DNE DNE DNE 700 700 444

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 700 444

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 118 95

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 95

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 53 50

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 53

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 1,100 1351

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 1,351

Target: DNE DNE DNE 0 0 207

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 156 207

Target: DNE DNE DNE 50% 50% 95%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 81% 95%

Number of tax revenue data requests received 

and responded to

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage of tax revenue data requests 

completed within one business day
Efficiency 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of external partners interfacing with 

DORWay, Phase III

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of enhancements made to DORWay, 

Phase I and Phase II

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of DORWay, Phase III, training attendees
Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of DORWay, Phase III, training sessions 

held

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Table Note: 
DNE = Does/did not exist 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 136



32 
 

Table 12.  Goal 4 (Promote and maintain a competent, productive, and diverse workforce): Allocation of resources, as reported by 
DOR in its PER.34 

 

  
# of 
FTEs 

Utilized 

Amount 
Spent/ 

Budgeted* 

% of 
Total 

Budget 

Goal 4 –  
Promote and maintain a competent, 
productive, and diverse workforce. 

FY17 16 $1,168,154  1% 

FY18 21  $1,185,000  1% 

 

Strategy 4.1 - Recruit and develop a competent, 
productive, and diverse workforce. 

FY17 9  $712,892  0.7% 

 
FY18 12  $725,000  0.7% 

Objectives: 
4.1.1 - Recruit and hire candidates that meet or exceed the minimum qualifications to ensure 

Agency needs are met and sustained. 
4.1.2 - Increase employee knowledge by providing in-class, e-learning, and mentoring training 

opportunities. 
4.1.3 - Support employee advancement through the attainment of relevant industry credentials. 
4.1.4 - Continuously review and enhance succession planning efforts. 

 

Strategy 4.2 - Value and retain a competent, productive, 
and diverse workforce. 

FY17 7 $455,262  0.5% 

 
FY18 9  $460,000  0.5% 

Objectives: 
4.2.1 - Increase the percentage of employee evaluations (EPMS) completed by the due date. 
4.2.2 - Enhance the Agency's competitiveness in the marketplace by conducting salary studies. 
4.2.3 - Promote employee participation in health, wellness, and community outreach 

opportunities. 
4.2.4 - Meet or exceed State diversity goals. 

 
Table Note: 
* Because the agency submitted this information during FY 2017-18, the table reflects the agency’s budgeted 

allocation for that year. 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 137



33 
 

Table 13.  Goal 4: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER.35 

  

Performance Measure
Type (as 

determined 

by agency)

Required or 

Selected?

Time 

Period

Time 

Period 1

Time 

Period 2

Time 

Period 3

Time 

Period 4

Time Period 5  

(last completed)

Time Period 

6  (current)

Target: DNE 6 6 7 7 8

Actual: DNE 5 6 7 8

Target: DNE DNE DNE 65% 65% 65%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 68% 63%

Target: DNE DNE DNE 20% 20% 52%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 33% 52%

Target: DNE DNE 12 30 30 12

Actual: DNE DNE 11 30 12

Target: DNE DNE DNE 40% 40% 20%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 40% 20%

Target: DNE DNE DNE $12,000 $12,000 $9,723 

Actual: DNE DNE DNE $12,000 $9,723 

Target: DNE DNE DNE 52 52 40

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 52 40

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE 2 1

Actual: DNE DNE DNE DNE 1

Target: DNE DNE DNE 53% 53% 46%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 53% 46%

Target: DNE DNE DNE B B DNE

Actual: DNE DNE DNE B DNE

Target: DNE DNE DNE 3 3 3

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 3 3

Target: DNE DNE DNE 50% 50% 45%

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 48% 45%

Percentage of employees providing Strategic and 

Process Improvement feedback

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of opportunities provided to personnel 

to provide input for Strategic and Annual 

Business Planning

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

SCDOR's health and wellness score Outcome 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage of employees participating in health 

and wellness activities

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Average number of health and wellness activities 

offered each quarter

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of boxes of goods donated by personnel 

to community outreach activities
Outcome 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Total dollars donated by personnel to 

community outreach activities
Outcome 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage of personnel participating in 

community outreach activities

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of community outreach opportunities 

offered to employees

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of internal training courses offered to 

SCDOR employees

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage increase in knowledge resulting from 

SCDOR's Audit Mentor Program
Efficiency 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage of employees reporting an excellent 

satisfaction rate for internal training classes 

attended

Efficiency 
Agency 

Selected
July - June

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 138



34 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Performance Measure
Type (as 

determined 

by agency)

Required or 

Selected?

Time 

Period

Time 

Period 1

Time 

Period 2

Time 

Period 3

Time 

Period 4

Time Period 5  

(last completed)

Time Period 

6  (current)

Target: DNE DNE DNE 457 457 400

Actual: DNE DNE DNE 441 400

Target: DNE DNE DNE DNE DNE 13%

Actual: 12.88% 10.65% 12.06% 14.10% 13.24%

Target: DNE DNE DNE 95% 95% 96%

Actual: 94.6% 94.5% 93.9% 95.4% 96%
Average monthly equal opportunity goal met Efficiency 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Number of employees who participated by 

providing feedback for Strategic and Annual 

Business Planning

Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Percentage employee turnover rate
Input/ 

Activity 

Agency 

Selected
July - June

Table Note: 
DNE = Does/did not exist 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 139



35 
 

STUDY PROCESS 
 

Agency Selection 
 
DOR is an agency subject to legislative oversight.36  On December 19, 2017, during the 122nd General 
Assembly, the Committee prioritizes the agency for study.37   
 
As the Committee encourages collaboration in its legislative oversight process, the Committee notifies the 
following individuals about the agency study:  Speaker of the House, standing committee chairs in the 
House, members of the House, Clerk of the Senate, and Governor. 
 
 

Subcommittee Membership 
 

The Economic Development, Transportation, and Natural Resources Subcommittee of the House Legislative 
Oversight Committee studies the agency during the 122nd General Assembly.38  Throughout the study, the 
Honorable Bruce W. Bannister serves as chair.  Other Subcommittee Members include: 

 The Honorable Neal A. Collins; 

 The Honorable Mandy Powers Norrell; and 

 The Honorable Robert L. Ridgeway, III. 

 
Agency Reports to Legislative Oversight Committee 
 

During the legislative oversight process, the Committee asks the agency to conduct self-analysis by requiring 
it to complete and submit annual Restructuring Reports, a Seven-Year Plan for cost savings and increased 
efficiencies, and a Program Evaluation Report.  The Committee posts each report on the agency page of 
the Committee’s website.  
 
 Restructuring Report  
  
The Annual Restructuring Report fulfills the requirement in S.C. Code Ann. § 1-30-10(G)(1) that annually 
each agency report to the General Assembly “detailed and comprehensive recommendations for the 
purposes of merging or eliminating duplicative or unnecessary divisions, programs, or personnel within 
each department to provide a more efficient administration of government services.”  The report, at a 
minimum, includes information in the following areas: history, mission and vision, laws strategic plan, 
human and financial resources, performance measures, and restructuring recommendations.  
 
DOR submits its Annual Restructuring Reports on April 14, 2015, and January 12, 2016.39  Starting in 
September 2016, the Annual Accountability Reports the agency has submitted to the Governor and General 
Assembly serve as its Annual Restructuring Reports.40 
 
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 140



36 
 

 Seven-Year Plan for Cost Savings and Increased Efficiencies 
 
SC Code §1-30-10 requires agencies to submit “a seven year plan that provides initiatives and/or planned 
actions that implement cost savings and increased efficiencies of services and responsibilities within the 
projected seven-year period.”41  DOR submits its plan on April 14, 2015.42 
 
  
 Program Evaluation Report 
 
When an agency is selected for study, the Committee may acquire evidence or information by any lawful 
means, including, but not limited to, "requiring the agency to prepare and submit to the investigating 
committee a program evaluation report by a date specified by the investigating committee."  S.C. Code 
Ann. § 2-2-60 outlines what an investigating committee's request for a program evaluation report must 
contain.  Also, it provides a list of information an investigating committee may request.  The Committee 
sends guidelines for DOR’s Program Evaluation Report (PER) on January 23, 2018.  The agency submits its 
report on May 31, 2018.43  
 
The PER includes information in the following areas: agency successes and challenges, legal directives, 
strategic plan, resources, performance, agency ideas/recommendations, agency organization, and 
additional documents submitted by the agency.  The Program Evaluation Report serves as the base 
document for the Subcommittee’s study of the agency. 
 
 

Information from the Public 
 

Public input is a cornerstone of the House Legislative Oversight Committee’s process.  There are a variety of 
opportunities for public input during the legislative oversight process.  Members of the public have an 
opportunity to participate anonymously in a public survey, provide comments anonymously via a link on 
the Committee’s website, and appear in person before the Committee.44  During the study, media articles 
related to the agency are compiled for member review. 
 
 Public Survey 
 
From January 23 - March 1, 2018, the Committee posts an online survey to solicit comments from the public 
about DOR and five other agencies.  The Committee sends information about this survey to all House 
members to forward to their constituents.  Additionally, in an effort to communicate this public input 
opportunity widely, the Committee issues a statewide media release.45   
 
There are 501 responses to the survey, with 226 of these relating to DOR.  The responses relating to the 
agency come from 26 of South Carolina’s 46 counties.46  These comments are not considered testimony.47  
As the survey notes, “input and observations from those citizens who [chose] to provide responses are very 
important . . . because they may help direct the Committee to potential areas for improvement with these 
agencies.”48  The Committee posts the survey results on the Committee’s website.  The public is informed 
it may continue to submit written comments about agencies online after the public survey closes.49   

 
 
  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 141



37 
 

A majority of respondents report a positive or very positive opinion of DOR.50 

 
Figure 4.  January 2018 public survey respondent opinion of DOR.  

 
Over three-quarters of respondents base their opinions on personal or business experience with the 
agency.  A majority of those responding about DOR indicate that they are state employees.  Many of the 
comments provided relate to human resources, including concerns about unfair hiring and promotion of 
employees, inequitable or insufficient salaries, and employee morale.51 
 
 Public Input via Committee Website 
 
Throughout the course of the study, people are able to submit comments anonymously on the Committee 
website.  The Committee posts comments verbatim to the website, but they are not the comment or 
expression of the House Legislative Oversight Committee, any of its Subcommittees, or the House of 
Representatives.52 
 
The Committee receives 38 comments about DOR in this manner.  Similar to the comments provided in the 
public survey, many of these relate to human resources issues.  They also include concerns about agency 
management.53 
   
 Public Input via In-Person Testimony 
 
During the study, the Committee offers the opportunity for the public to appear and provide sworn 
testimony.54  A press release announcing this opportunity is sent to media outlets statewide on February 
9, 2018.55  The Committee holds a meeting dedicated to public input about DOR and other agencies on 
March 1, 2018.56  Further detail on the public input meeting is in the meetings section of this report.   
 
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 142



38 
 

Meetings Regarding the Agency 
 

The Committee meets with, or about, the agency on two occasions, and the Subcommittee meets with, or 
about, the agency on four occasions.  All meetings are open to the public and stream live online; also, the 
videos are archived and the minutes are available online.  A timeline of meetings is set forth in Figure 2. 
 
122nd General Assembly (2017-2018) 
 

December 2017 
 
On December 19, 2017, the full Committee selects the agency for study.57   
 

March 2018 
 
On March 1, 2018, the full Committee holds Meeting 1 with DOR to receive public testimony about it and 
the Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation and the Department of Parks, Recreation and Tourism.58  
One person, Mr. Jeff Davis of Greenville County, testifies about DOR.  He relates a negative experience he 
has had with the agency during an audit and shares his belief that the agency needs more oversight.  DOR 
Director W. Hartley Powell makes brief comments to the Committee.   
 

June 2018 
 
On June 18, 2018, the Economic Development, Transportation, and Natural Resources Subcommittee holds 
Meeting 2 with the agency.59  Director Powell provides an overview of the agency, including its history, 
mission, strategic goals, stakeholders, resources, and organization.  He also explains major functions of the 
agency, including revenue collections, tax processing, external and internal audits, and taxpayer appeals.  
He concludes with a discussion of the agency’s successes, challenges, and emerging issues and an 
explanation of the law changes recommended by the agency.  During his testimony, he responds to 
questions from Subcommittee members about collection of local taxes, taxpayer refunds, average tax 
assessments, electronic filing, alcohol beverage licensing, retail licensing, bankruptcies and foreclosures, 
tax refund fraud, and conformity to the federal tax code. 
 

July 2018 
 
On July 10, 2018, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 3 with the agency.60  Director Powell reviews his 
testimony from the previous meeting, and then the following agency deputy directors provide overviews 
of their respective divisions: 

 Mr. Meredith Cleland – Government Services Division 

 Ms. Sherrie McTeer – Taxpayer and Business Services Division 

 Mr. Mike Sayles – Security and Information Technology Services Division 

 Mr. Jason Luther – Litigation Division 
During and after this testimony, agency representatives respond to questions from Subcommittee 
members about the calculation of the Index of Taxpaying Ability, property tax exemptions, collection of 
local taxes, the taxpayer advocate, payment plans for overdue taxes, revenue officers, the Financial 
Institution Data Match program, bankruptcies, hazards of litigation, prosecution of criminal cases, and 
other topics. 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 143



39 
 

August 2018 
 
On August 13, 2018, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 4 with the agency.61  Director Powell and Ms. McTeer, 
Deputy Director of Taxpayer and Business Services, make comments about the new performance measures 
for collections staff.  They respond to questions from Subcommittee members about employee caseload, 
assignment of cases, and visits to businesses.  Subcommittee members ask a number of other questions 
related to public comments received during the study, including those received through the public survey 
and the Committee’s website.  Director Powell and other agency representatives respond to these 
questions, the topics of which include management structure, information security, the agency’s third-
party payment processor, employee morale, hiring and promotion practices, employee turnover, and an 
allegation of retaliation against an employee.  At the conclusion of these questions, the following agency 
deputy directors provide overviews of their respective divisions: 

 Mr. Andy Smith – Field Operations Division 

 Ms. Laura Watts – Administrative Services Division 

 Mr. Joe Dusenbury – Policy, Privacy, and Procurement Division 

 Ms. Ashley Thomas – Communications and Strategic Initiatives Division 
During and after this testimony, agency representatives respond to questions from Subcommittee 
members about audits, appeals, social media messaging, carry forward funds, and other topics.  Director 
Powell also responds to questions from Subcommittee members about the agency’s recommendations to 
amend state laws related to the collection of sales tax by online marketplace retailers and the creation of 
a statewide tax lien filing system.62   
 

September 2018 
 
On September 10, 2018, the Subcommittee holds Meeting 5 with the agency.63  At the request of a 
Subcommittee member, Director Powell responds to a legislator’s concerns related to taxation of out-of-
state internet retailers in the wake of the recent Supreme Court decision in South Dakota v. Wayfair.64  
Then, the Subcommittee reviews the agency’s seven recommendations for statutory changes and, after 
discussion with Director Powell, adopts some of them as Subcommittee recommendations.65  The 
Subcommittee also makes an additional recommendation to the agency (see the Recommendations 
section).  Then, Subcommittee Chair Bannister directs Committee staff to draft the study report with the 
Subcommittee’s recommendations. 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 144



40 
 

Study Process Completion 
 
Pursuant to Committee Standard Practice 12.4, Subcommittee members may provide a separate written 
statement for inclusion with the Subcommittee’s study report.  After receipt of any written statements, the 
Subcommittee Chair, pursuant to Committee Standard Practice 12.5, notifies the Committee Chair in 
writing that a Subcommittee Study is available for consideration by the full Committee. 
 
Once the Committee Chair receives written notice from the Subcommittee Chair, the Committee Chair, 
pursuant to Committee Standard Practice 13.1, includes the Subcommittee Study on the agenda for a full 
committee meeting.  During a full Committee meeting at which the Subcommittee Study is discussed, the 
Committee may vote, pursuant to Committee Standard Practice 13.2, to (1) refer the study and 
investigation back to the Subcommittee for further evaluation; (2) approve the Subcommittee’s study; or 
(3) further evaluate the agency as a full Committee, utilizing any of the resources of legislative oversight 
available. 
 
When the Committee approves a study, any member of the Committee may provide a written statement for 
inclusion with the study.  The study, and written statements, are published online and the agency, as well 
as all House Standing Committees, receive a copy.  The Committee shall offer at least one briefing to 
members of the House about the contents of the final oversight study approved by the Committee.66  The 
Committee Chair may provide briefings to the public about the final oversight study.67 
 
To support the Committee’s ongoing oversight by maintaining current information about the agency, the 
agency may receive an annual Request for Information. 
  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 145



41 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
General Information  
 
The following recommendations include areas the Subcommittee identifies for potential improvement.  
These recommendations are based on the agency’s self-analysis requested by the Committee, discussions 
with the agency during multiple meetings, and analysis of the information obtained by the Subcommittee.  
This information, including, but not limited to, the Program Evaluation Report, Accountability Report, 
Restructuring Report and videos of meetings with the agency, is available on the Committee’s website.   
 
Continue  

 
The Subcommittee has six recommendations to continue agency programs with revisions.  All 
recommendations are adopted at the Subcommittee meeting on September 10, 2018.68  The first five 
recommendations are for the General Assembly and involve statutory changes.  The sixth recommendation 
is for DOR.  These recommendations are summarized in Table 14.  Further details on each recommendation 
follow the table. 
 
Table 14.  Summary of recommendations arising from the study process. 

Topic  Recommendations for . . . 

 . . . General Assembly  

Financial Institution Data 
Match Program  

1. Allow DOR to participate in the multistate Financial Institution Data 
Match program to share data files with financial institutions to 
identify financial assets of debtors with past due liabilities by 
amending S.C. Code Ann. § 12-54-265. 

Centralized Tax Lien 
System 

2. Allow DOR to implement a centralized system of filing and indexing 
of tax liens that is accessible to the public through DOR’s website by 
amending S.C. Code Ann. § 12-54-122(G). 

Alcohol Liability Coverage 
for Government Entities 

3. Allow the liability coverage provided by the Tort Claims Act for 
governmental entities to satisfy the liability coverage required for a 
governmental entity to hold an alcohol beverage on 
premise consumption license by amending S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-
145. 

Tax Credit for Energy 
Efficient Vehicles 

4. Provide clear guidelines to determine eligibility for the income tax 
credit for the purchase of new energy efficient vehicles by amending 
S.C. Code Ann. Title 12, Chapter 6. 

Taxation of Online Third- 
Party Sales 

5. Ensure that online third-party sales will be subject to tax by 
amending definitions in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-70. 

 . . . Department of Revenue 

Collection of Local Sales 
Taxes through MyDORWAY 

6. Investigate the costs and benefits of giving local governments the 
option of collecting local taxes through the MyDORWAY system and 
update the Committee on its findings within six months of the 
publication of the full Committee report. 

 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 146



42 
 

Recommendation 1  
That the General Assembly amend S.C. Code § 12-54-265 to allow DOR to participate in the Financial 
Institution Data Match program to share data files with financial institutions to identify financial assets of 
debtors with past due liabilities (see draft language below). 
 

Discussion In its PER, DOR asserts that participating in the Financial Institution Data Match (FIDM) 
program would allow it to share data files with financial institutions to identify 
financial assets of debtors with past due liabilities in order to streamline the collection 
process.69  In response to Subcommittee questioning, the agency indicates it 
anticipates collecting $105 million of outstanding debt through this program, and 
there is no cost to the agency of participating.  Any fees to participating financial 
institutions would be paid from collected funds.  Further, DOR reports sixteen other 
states’ revenue agencies participate in this program.70  The South Carolina 
Department of Social Services currently is permitted to participate in FIDM in order to 
collect child support obligations.71  This recommendation was adopted by the 
Subcommittee on September 10, 2018.  All members present voted in favor.72  
 

Draft Language Chapter 54 of Title 12 is amended by adding the following section:  

SECTION 1.  Section 12-54-265.    Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the 
department may submit to a financial institution, as defined in Section 63-17-
2310(A)(2), information that identifies a debtor named on a warrant for distraint that 
has been issued and filed by the department or whose debt has been submitted to 
the department for collection under the provisions of Section 12-4-580. For purposes 
of debts named on warrants for distraint, the debt must be at least one hundred eighty 
days old from the date of assessment.  The department may submit the information 
to the financial institution on a quarterly basis or, with the agreement of the financial 
institution, on a more frequent basis.  A financial institution that receives the 
information must conduct a data match.  The financial institution must then provide 
to the department, in a manner and form prescribed by the department, information 
concerning the debtor for purposes of collecting outstanding debts.  The information 
provided to the department must include, but is not limited to, the information 
required pursuant to Section 63-17-2320(A).  The financial institution must be paid a 
reasonable fee out of the collected funds not to exceed actual cost.  

SECTION 2. This Act takes effect upon the signature of the Governor.  
 
 

Recommendation 2  
That the General Assembly amend S.C. Code Ann. § 12-54-122(G) to allow DOR to implement a centralized 
system of filing and indexing of tax liens that is accessible to the public through DOR’s website (see draft 
language below). 
 

Discussion DOR reports filing approximately 56,213 tax liens across South Carolina’s 46 counties 
in FY 17-18.73  The South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce (DEW) 
reports filing over 9,000 tax liens in 2017.74  As provided by S.C. Code Ann. § 8-21-
300(20)(a), DOR and DEW pay a $10 fee to the county for each lien.  Liens filed in any 
county are public records, and many counties provide online access.  However, these 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 147

http://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t12c054.php#12-54-265
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t63c017.php#63-17-2310
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t63c017.php#63-17-2310
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t12c004.php#12-4-580
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t63c017.php#63-17-2320


43 
 

documents generally must be accessed through each county’s website and there may 
be a fee to view documents online.75  DOR anticipates saving over $600,000 annually 
if allowed to implement a statewide tax lien filing system instead of filing its liens with 
counties.  Most of the savings would be in the $10 recording fee it would no longer 
owe for each lien.76  This change would also increase the ease of public access to these 
documents, as all of DOR’s tax liens would be available to the public on a single 
website.  This recommendation was adopted by the Subcommittee on September 10, 
2018.  All members present voted in favor.77 
 

Draft Language Section 12-54-122(G) of the 1976 Code is amended by adding an appropriately 
numbered item at the end to read:  

SECTION    1.  Instead of filing a tax lien notice pursuant to item (1), the department 
may implement a system of filing and indexing liens which must be accessible to the 
public over the Internet or through other means as the department considers 
appropriate.  A lien filed pursuant to this item is effective statewide from the date and 
time it is recorded and encumbers all the taxpayer's property and rights to property 
as provided in Section 12-54-120, regardless of the property's location.  A lien filed 
pursuant to item (1) remains effective from the date and time it was recorded.  
Nothing in this item may be construed so as to extend the effectiveness of a lien 
beyond ten years from the date of filing, as provided in Section 12-54-120.  

SECTION    2.    This act takes effect July 1, 2019.  
 
 
 
 

Recommendation 3  
That the General Assembly amend S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-145 to allow the liability coverage provided by the 
Tort Claims Act for governmental entities to satisfy the liability coverage required for a governmental entity 
to hold an alcohol beverage on premise consumption license (see draft language below). 
 

Discussion DOR reports that S.C. Code Ann § 61-2-145 currently requires any entity licensed to 
sell alcoholic beverages for on-premises consumption that does so after five o’clock 
p.m. to maintain liability insurance coverage of one million dollars.78  However, the 
Tort Claims Act limits the liability of South Carolina governmental entities to $600,000 
in most cases.79  This statutory change is expected to save money for governmental 
entities that hold a license to sell alcoholic beverages for on-premises consumption 
and do so after five o’clock p.m.80  This recommendation was adopted by the 
Subcommittee on September 10, 2018.  Two of the members present voted in favor, 
and the third abstained.81 
 

Draft Language Section 61-2-145 is amended by adding an appropriately numbered item at the end 
to read: 
 
SECTION 1.  During the period of the biennial permit or license, a governmental entity 
licensed or permitted to sell alcoholic beverages for on premises consumption, which 
remains open after five o'clock p.m. to sell alcoholic beverages for on premises 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 148



44 
 

consumption, is required to maintain a tort insurance policy that does not exclude 
liquor liability. 
 
SECTION 2.  This Act takes effect upon the signature of the Governor.   

 
 
 
 

Recommendation 4  
That the General Assembly amend S.C. Code Ann. Title 12, Chapter 6 to provide clear guidelines to 
determine eligibility for the income tax credit for the purchase of new energy efficient vehicles (see draft 
language below). 
 

Discussion DOR reports that South Carolina law allows for an income tax credit for those who 
claim a federal tax credit for the purchase of new qualified fuel cell motor vehicles, 
advanced lean burn technology motor vehicles, or hybrid motor vehicles.  However, 
this federal tax credit is no longer available.  This addition to statute would provide 
clear guidelines for the administration of this tax credit independent of federal 
requirements.82  This recommendation was adopted by the Subcommittee on 
September 10, 2018.  All members present voted in favor.83 
 

Draft Language Amend Title 12, Chapter 6 by adding the following new section:  
 

SECTION 1.  (A)   For tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and before January 
1, 2021, a resident individual taxpayer is allowed an income tax credit for the purchase 
of a new motor vehicle that meets the requirements of subsection (D). The credit must 
be claimed for the tax year in which the new motor vehicle is purchased. 
 

(B)   The credit amount for any new motor vehicle is: 
 

(1)   one hundred dollars for each new motor vehicle for which the mileage is at least 
forty-five but less than fifty-five; or 
 

(2)   three hundred dollars for each new motor vehicle for which the mileage is at least 
fifty-five. 
 

(C)   The credit allowed by this section is nonrefundable.  If the amount of the credit 
exceeds the taxpayer’s income tax liability for the applicable tax year, any unused 
credit may be carried forward for five years.  
 

(D)   For purposes of this section: 
 

(1)   'new motor vehicle' means a car or truck that: 
 

(a)   is classified as a 'private passenger motor vehicle' pursuant to Section 56-3-630; 
 

(b)   is registered for operation upon the highways in this State; and 
 

(c)   has incurred five thousand or fewer miles at the time of purchase. 
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 149



45 
 

(2)   'mileage' means the combined miles per gallon of gasoline (“MPG”) or miles per 
gallon of gasoline equivalent (“MPGe”) for the make and model of the vehicle as 
published in the Fuel Economy Guide for the applicable model year. 
 

(3)   'Fuel Economy Guide' means the annual Fuel Economy Guide published by the 
United States Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable 
Energy, and the United States Environmental Protection Agency. 
 
SECTION   2.   This act takes effect upon approval by the Governor and applies to 
income tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and before January 1, 2021.  

 
 
 
 

Recommendation 5  
That the General Assembly amend definitions in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-70 to ensure that online third-party 
sales will be subject to tax (see draft language below). 
 

Discussion DOR reports that this statutory change would allow it to force internet marketplace 
retailers, such as Amazon and eBay, to collect and remit sales tax on items sold by 
third-party vendors through the marketplace sites.  Without this ability, DOR would 
have the right to collect sales tax directly from some third-party sellers, but it predicts 
that the significant administrative burden of collecting from so many individuals and 
companies would result in a large percentage of these taxes going uncollected.  As an 
example of the potential impact of this statutory change on sales tax revenues, DOR 
estimates that, if there had been a law like this in 2016, Amazon’s additional sales tax 
liability for that year would have been $57 million.84  This recommendation was 
adopted by the Subcommittee on September 10, 2018.  All members present voted in 
favor.85 
 

Draft Language SECTION 1  
 
The General Assembly finds that the South Carolina Sales and Use Tax Act requires any 
person engaged in business as a retailer to remit the sales and use tax on all retail 
sales of tangible personal property not otherwise excluded or exempted from the tax. 
This requirement applies to all retail sales of tangible personal property by the retailer, 
whether the tangible personal property is owned by the retailer or another person. 
Retailers selling tangible personal property at retail on consignment, by auction, or in 
any other manner must remit the sales and use tax on such retail sales.  
 
The General Assembly further finds that Internet marketplaces where a person sells 
tangible personal property at retail by listing or advertising, or allowing the listing or 
advertising of another person’s products on an online marketplace, and collects or 
processes the payment from the customer are retailers required to remit the sales 
and use tax on such retail sales under the provisions of the South Carolina sales and 
use tax law.  
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 150



46 
 

The General Assembly also finds, with the changing economy and ever expanding role 
of the Internet in the retail market, that the longstanding requirement in the sales and 
use tax law that a retailer remit the tax on retail sales of tangible personal property 
owned by another person must apply to all retailers, including both Internet retailers 
and brick and mortar retailers.  
 
Therefore, to ensure retailers selling another person’s tangible personal property on 
the Internet clearly understand, and are complying with, the sales and use tax law in 
the same manner as retailers selling another person’s tangible personal property in a 
brick and mortar store, the following provisions, which do not represent a change in 
policy, are enacted to further set forth South Carolina’s longstanding position: 
 
 
SECTION 2  
 
Amend code section 12-36-70 to add item (3) as follows: 
 
SECTION 12-36-70.  “Retailer” and “seller”. 
 
“Retailer” and “seller” include every person: 
 
(1)(a) selling or auctioning tangible personal property whether owned by the person 
or others; 
 
(b) furnishing accommodations to transients for a consideration, except an individual 
furnishing accommodations of less than six sleeping rooms on the same premises, 
which is the individuals place of abode; 
   
(c) renting, leasing, or otherwise furnishing tangible personal property for a 
consideration; 
   
(d) operating a laundry, cleaning, dyeing, or pressing establishment for a 
consideration; 
   
(e) selling electric power or energy; 
   
(f) selling or furnishing the ways or means for the transmission of the voice or of 
messages between persons in this State for a consideration.  A person engaged in the 
business of selling or furnishing the ways or means for the transmission of the voice 
or messages as used in this subitem (f) is not considered a processor or manufacturer; 
  
(2)(a) maintaining a place of business or qualifying to do business in this State; or 
   
(b) not maintaining an office or location in this State but soliciting business by direct 
or indirect representatives, manufacturers agents, distribution of catalogs, or other 
advertising matter or by any other means, and by reason thereof receives orders for 
tangible personal property or for storage, use, consumption, or distribution in this 
State; or 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 151



47 
 

  
(3) operating as a marketplace facilitator, as defined in Code Section 12-36-71. 
 
 The department, when necessary for the efficient administration of this 
chapter, may treat any salesman, representative, trucker, peddler, or canvasser as the 
agent of the dealer, distributor, supervisor, employer, or other person under whom 
they operate or from whom they obtain the tangible personal property sold by them, 
regardless of whether they are making sales on their own behalf or on behalf of the 
dealer, distributor, supervisor, employer, or other person. The department may also 
treat the dealer, distributor, supervisor, employer, or other person as a retailer for 
purposes of this chapter. 
 
 
Add new code section 12-36-71 to read: 
 
SECTION 12-36-71: Marketplace facilitator 
 
(A) “Marketplace facilitator” means any person engaged in the business of facilitating 
a retail sale of tangible personal property by: 
 
(1) listing or advertising, or allowing the listing or advertising of, the products of 
another person in any marketplace where sales at retail occur; and  
 
(2) collecting or processing payments from the purchaser, either directly or indirectly 
through an agreement or arrangement with a third party; 
 
regardless of whether the marketplace facilitator receives compensation or other 
consideration in exchange for its services. 
 
(B) A marketplace may be physical or electronic and includes, but is not limited to, any 
space, store, booth, catalog, website, television or radio broadcast, or similar place, 
medium, or forum. 
 
(C) For purposes of subsection (A), a marketplace facilitator includes any related 
entities assisting the marketplace facilitator in sales, storage, distribution, payment 
collection, or in any other manner with respect to the marketplace.   
 
(D) When a marketplace facilitator is comprised of multiple entities, the entity that 
lists or advertises, or allows the listing or advertising of, the products sold at retail in 
the marketplace is the entity responsible for remitting the sales and use tax to the 
State.   
 
 
Amend code section 12-36-90(1)(a) to read: 
 
SECTION 12-36-90.  “Gross proceeds of sales”. 
  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 152



48 
 

Gross proceeds of sales, or any similar term, means the value proceeding or accruing 
from the sale, lease, or rental of tangible personal property. 
  
(1) The term includes: 
   
(a) the proceeds from the sale of property sold on consignment by the taxpayer of 
property of another person, including proceeds from property sold on consignment 
and property sold through a marketplace by a marketplace facilitator. 
 
 
Amend code section 12-36-130(1) to read: 
 
SECTION 12-36-130. “Sales price”. 
  
“Sales price” means the total amount for which tangible personal property is sold, 
without any deduction for the cost of the property sold, the cost of the materials used, 
labor or service cost, interest paid, losses, or any other expenses. 
  
(1) The term includes: 
   
(a) any services or transportation costs that are a part of the sale, whether paid in 
money or otherwise; and 
   
(b) any manufacturers or importers excise tax imposed by the United States; and, 
   
(c) the proceeds from the sale of property sold on consignment by the taxpayer of 
property of another person, including proceeds from property sold on consignment 
and property sold through a marketplace by a marketplace facilitator. 
 
 
Amend code section 12-36-1340 as follows: 
 
Each seller making retail sales of tangible personal property for storage, use, or other 
consumption in this State shall collect and remit the tax in accordance with this 
chapter and shall obtain from the department a retail license as provided in this 
chapter, if the retail seller:  
 
(1) maintains a place of business;  
 
(2) qualifies to do business;  
 
(3) solicits and receives purchases or orders by an agent, independent contractor, 
representative, Internet website, or any other means  or salesman; or  
 
(4) distributes catalogs, or other advertising matter, and by reason of that distribution 
receives and accepts orders from residents within the State; or 
 
(5) operates as a marketplace facilitator; or  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 153



49 
 

 
(6) meets constitutional standards for economic nexus with South Carolina for 
purposes of the sales and use tax. 
 
 
SECTION 3  
 
This Act takes effect on July 1, 2019. 
 

 
 
 

Recommendation 6  
That the Department of Revenue investigate the costs and benefits of giving local governments the option 
of collecting local taxes through the MyDORWAY system and update the Committee on its findings within 
six months of the publication of the full Committee report. 
 

Discussion MyDORWAY is DOR’s new online tax portal, designed to allow taxpayers to manage 
and pay their taxes online.86  In response to questions from Subcommittee members, 
agency representatives testify that they have not examined the possibility of allowing 
local governments to collect property taxes through MyDORWAY, in part because DOR 
is not responsible for collecting those taxes.87  Discussions during subcommittee 
meetings revealed an interest in this possibility due to the potential for increased 
security and convenience for taxpayers.88  This recommendation was adopted by the 
Subcommittee on September 10, 2018.  All members present voted in favor.89 
 

 
 
 
Curtail and Eliminate 
 
There are no specific recommendations with regards to curtailing or eliminating agency programs.     
 
  

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 154



50 
 

SELECTED AGENCY INFORMATION 
 

Department of Revenue.  “Program Evaluation Report, 2018.”  
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpag
es/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF (accessed September 19, 2018).  

 
Department of Revenue.  “Restructuring and Seven-Year Plan Report, 2015.”   

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2015AgencyRe
structuringandSevenYearPlanReports/2015%20Department%20of%20Revenue.pdf (accessed 
September 19, 2018).   

 
Department of Revenue.  “Agency Accountability Report, FY 2016-2017.” 

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpag
es/DOR/Reports%20&%20Audits%20-%20Reports%20and%20Reviews/Accountability%20Report%20-
%202016-2017.pdf (accessed September 19, 2018).  

 
S.C. House of Representatives, Legislative Oversight Committee.  “January-March 2018 Survey Results.”   

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpag
es/LLR/Public_Survey_January_February_2018.PDF (accessed September 19, 2018).  

 
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 155

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2015AgencyRestructuringandSevenYearPlanReports/2015%20Department%20of%20Revenue.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2015AgencyRestructuringandSevenYearPlanReports/2015%20Department%20of%20Revenue.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/Reports%20&%20Audits%20-%20Reports%20and%20Reviews/Accountability%20Report%20-%202016-2017.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/Reports%20&%20Audits%20-%20Reports%20and%20Reviews/Accountability%20Report%20-%202016-2017.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/Reports%20&%20Audits%20-%20Reports%20and%20Reviews/Accountability%20Report%20-%202016-2017.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/LLR/Public_Survey_January_February_2018.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/LLR/Public_Survey_January_February_2018.PDF


51 
 

APPENDIX: ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
The Subcommittee accepts for information purposes only the following agency recommendation:90 
 

That the General Assembly amend S.C. Code Title 61, Chapter 2 to provide consistent statutory 
guidance for DOR and the courts in applying penalties for alcohol licensing violations. 
 
Draft Language Amend Title 61, Chapter 2 by adding the following section: 

 
SECTION 1. (A) Notwithstanding any other provision in Title 61, the 
Department has the sole authority to revoke or suspend any license issued 
under Title 61 for any violation of this title. 
 
(B) Should the Department not use the authority allowed in subsection (A) of 
this section the following penalties shall be imposed for any violation of this 
Title: 
 
(1) First offense there shall be imposed a penalty on the license holder of 

not less than five hundred dollars; 

(2) Second offense there shall be imposed a penalty on the license holder of 
not less than one thousand dollars; 

(3) Third offense there shall be imposed a penalty of suspension of the 
license issued under this Title of not less than forty-five days; 

(4) Fourth offense there shall be imposed a penalty of revocation of the 
license issued under this Title. 

The Department shall review the prior three years from the date of the 
most recent violation to determine which offense applies. 

 
SECTION 2. This Act takes effect upon the signature of the Governor. 
 

 
 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 156



52 
 

CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
Committee Contact Information 
 

Physical: 
South Carolina House of Representatives 
Legislative Oversight Committee 
1105 Pendleton Street, Blatt Building Room 228 
 
Mailing: 
Post Office Box 11867 
Columbia, South Carolina 29211 
 
Telephone:   803-212-6810 
 

Online: 
You may visit the South Carolina General Assembly Home Page 
(http://www.scstatehouse.gov) and click on "Citizens’ Interest" then click on 
"House Legislative Oversight Committee Postings and Reports".  This will list the 
information posted online for the Committee; click on the information you would 
like to review.  Also, a direct link to Committee information is 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommi
ttee.php. 

 

Agency Contact Information 
 

Address: 
Department of Revenue 
300A Outlet Pointe Boulevard 
Columbia, SC  29210 
 
 

Telephone:   803-898-5000 
Online:                https://dor.sc.gov/ 
  https://mydorway.dor.sc.gov/  

 

  

ENDNOTES 
1 Visual Summary Figure 1 is compiled from information in the Department of Archives and History study materials available 
online under “Citizens’ Interest,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee Postings and Reports,” and then under 
“Department of Revenue” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/DOR.php (accessed 
September 11, 2018). 
2 S.C. Code Ann. § 2-2-20(C). 
3 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Program Evaluation Report (May 31, 2018),” under 
“Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” and under “Department of Revenue”   
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-
DOR.PDF  (accessed September 11, 2018). Hereinafter, “Agency PER (May 31, 2018).” 
4 Act 99 of 1915, Section 1. 
5 Acts 478 and 502 of 1922. 
6 Act 181 of 1993. 
7 Act 181 of 1993. 
8 Act 459 of 1996;  
  Act 458 of 1996, Part II, Section 88. 
9 S.C. Department of Revenue, “SC Department of Revenue Responds to Cyber Attack, Will Provide Credit Monitoring and Identity 
Theft Protection to Taxpayers” (October 26, 2012); 
   Act 104 of 2013. 
10 For information on the taxes and fees administered by DOR, see: 
    S.C. Department of Revenue, “Tax Index,” https://dor.sc.gov/tax (Accessed September 26, 2018).  
11 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), p. 114. 
12 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), p. 114. 
13 S.C. Code Ann. § 12-4-30. 
14 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), p. 13. 
15 Agency PER (May 31, 2018). 

                                                           

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 157

http://www.scstatehouse.gov/
https://dor.sc.gov/
https://mydorway.dor.sc.gov/
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/DOR.php
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://dor.sc.gov/tax
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF


53 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
16 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Agency Presentation” (June 18, 2018), under 
“Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” and under “Department of Revenue” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/6.18.18_DOR_Pow
erPoint.pdf (accessed September 11, 2018), slide 15. Hereinafter, “Agency Presentation (June 18, 2018).” 
17 Agency Presentation (June 18, 2018), slide 15. 
18 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), p. 101. 
19 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Meeting Packet” (July 10, 2018), under “Committee 
Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” and under “Department of Revenue” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/7.10.18_Meeting_
Packet_EDTNR.PDF (accessed September 12, 2018). Hereinafter, “Meeting Packet (July 10, 2018)”; 
    S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Meeting Packet” (August 13, 2018), under 
“Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” and under “Department of Revenue” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/8.13.18_Meeting_
Packet_EDTNR-DOR&LLR.pdf (accessed September 12, 2018). Hereinafter, “Meeting Packet (August 13, 2018)”; 
   Agency PER (May 31, 2018). 
20 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), p. 141. 
21 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 14-15. 
22 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), Laws Chart. 
23 S.C. Department of Revenue, “Homestead Exemption,” https://dor.sc.gov/lgs/homestead-exemption (accessed September 22, 
2018). 
24 S.C. Secretary of State, “High Growth Small Business Job Creation Act,” under “Business Filings,” 
http://www.sos.sc.gov/High_Growth_Small_Business_Job_Creation_Act (accessed September 22, 2018). 
25 Department of Revenue, “Fiscal Year 2016-17 Accountability Report,” under “Publications,” under “Current State Agency 
Reports,” under “State Agency Accountability Reports for Fiscal Year 2016-2017,” and under “Revenue, Department of” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/reports/aar2017/R440.pdf (accessed September 12, 2018), pp. 55-56. Hereinafter, “FY 2016-17 
Agency Accountability Report” 
26 FY 2016-17 Agency Accountability Report. 
27 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 111-113;  
     FY 2016-17 Agency Accountability Report, pp. 3-9. 
28 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 114-118. 
29 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 111-118. 
30 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 114-118. 
31 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 111-118. 
32 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 114-118. 
33 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 111-118. 
34 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 114-118. 
35 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 111-118. 
36 SC Code Ann. § 2-2-10(1). 
37 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Meeting Minutes” (December 19, 2017), under 
“Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” and 
under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/12.19.17_Meeting
_Minutes_Full_Comm.pdf (accessed September 18, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=7461. Hereinafter, “12/19/17 Meeting Minutes and Video.” 
38 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Subcommittees ‐2018,” under “Committee 
Information,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/Subcommittee_2018_71518.pdf (accessed 
September 18, 2018). 
39 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Restructuring and Seven Year Plan Report” (April 14, 
2015), under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Department of 
Revenue,” and under “Other Reports, Reviews, and Audits,”   
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2015AgencyRestructuringandSevenYearPla
nReports/2015%20Department%20of%20Revenue.pdf (accessed September 26, 2018); 
    S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “2016 Annual Restructuring Report” (January 12, 2016), 
under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Department of Revenue,” and 
under “Other Reports, Reviews, and Audits,”   
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2016%20ARR/2016%20ARR%20-
%20DOR.PDF (accessed September 26, 2018). 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 158

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/6.18.18_DOR_PowerPoint.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/6.18.18_DOR_PowerPoint.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/6.18.18_DOR_PowerPoint.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/7.10.18_Meeting_Packet_EDTNR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/7.10.18_Meeting_Packet_EDTNR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/8.13.18_Meeting_Packet_EDTNR-DOR&LLR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/8.13.18_Meeting_Packet_EDTNR-DOR&LLR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://dor.sc.gov/lgs/homestead-exemption
http://www.sos.sc.gov/High_Growth_Small_Business_Job_Creation_Act
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/reports/aar2017/R440.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/reports/aar2017/R440.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/reports/aar2017/R440.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/12.19.17_Meeting_Minutes_Full_Comm.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/12.19.17_Meeting_Minutes_Full_Comm.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=7461
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/Subcommittee_2018_71518.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2015AgencyRestructuringandSevenYearPlanReports/2015%20Department%20of%20Revenue.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2015AgencyRestructuringandSevenYearPlanReports/2015%20Department%20of%20Revenue.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2016%20ARR/2016%20ARR%20-%20DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2016%20ARR/2016%20ARR%20-%20DOR.PDF


54 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
40 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Oversight Reports” under “Committee Postings and 
Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” and under “Other Reports, Reviews, 
and Audits,” https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/DOR.php 
(accessed September 18, 2018).  
41 S.C. Code Ann. § 1-30-10. 
42 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Restructuring and Seven-Year Plan Report” under 
“Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” and 
under “Other Reports, Reviews, and Audits,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2015AgencyRestructuringandSevenYearPla
nReports/2015%20Department%20of%20Revenue.pdf (accessed September 18, 2018). 
43 Agency PER (May 31, 2018). 
44 A brochure about the House Legislative Oversight’s Committee process is available online 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/Brochure%205.18.17.pdf (accessed September 
18, 2018).   
   Also, there are ongoing opportunities to request notification when meetings are scheduled and to provide feedback about state 
agencies under study that can be found on the Committee’s website at 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee.php (accessed September 18, 2018). 
45 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Press Release announcing Public Survey (January 23, 
2018),” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department 
of,” and under “Public Survey and Public Input,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/Press_Release_An
nouncing_Public_Survey_1.23.18.PDF (accessed September 18, 2018).  Hereinafter, “Press Release announcing Public Survey 
(January 23, 2018).” 
46 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Survey Results (January 23 – March 1, 2018),” under 
“Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” and 
under “Public Survey and Public Input,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/LLR/Public_Survey_Janu
ary_February_2018.PDF (accessed September 18, 2018).  Hereinafter, “Survey Results (January 23 – March 1, 2018).” 
47 Committee Standard Practice 10.4. 
48 This text is included in the online survey as seen by survey respondents, and is not available after the survey closes. 
49 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Submit Public Input,” under “Committee Postings and 
Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” and under “Public Participation” 
https://www.research.net/r/ProvideInputtotheSCHouseLegislaitveOversightCommittee (accessed September 18, 2018).    
50 Survey Results (January 23 – March 1, 2018). 
51 Survey Results (January 23 – March 1, 2018). 
52 Committee Standard Practice 10.4.2 allows for the redaction of profanity. 
53 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Public Input received via House Legislative Oversight 
Committee webpage” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under 
“Revenue, Department of,” and under “Public Survey and Public Input,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/DOR.php (accessed 
September 18, 2018). 
54 Also, the chair of any Committee or Subcommittee meeting has the discretion to allow testimony during meetings.   
55 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Statewide Media Release Inviting the Public to Provide 
Testimony about Six Agencies Under Study (February 9, 2018)” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House 
Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” and under “Public Survey and Public Input,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/ETV/Statewide%20Medi
a%20Release%20Inviting%20the%20Public%20to%20Provide%20Testimony%20about%20Six%20Agencies%20Under%20Study%
20(February%209,%202018).pdf (accessed September 18, 2018).   
56 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Meeting Minutes” (March 1, 2018), under “Committee 
Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” and under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/3.1.18_Meeting_M
inutes_HLOC_Full.pdf (accessed September 18, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=7820. Hereinafter, “3/1/18 Meeting Minutes and Video.” 
57 12/19/17 Meeting Minutes and Video. 
58 3/1/18 Meeting Minutes and Video. 
59 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Meeting Minutes” (June 18, 2018), under “Committee 
Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” and under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/EconomicSub/6.18.

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 159

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/DOR.php
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2015AgencyRestructuringandSevenYearPlanReports/2015%20Department%20of%20Revenue.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/2015AgencyRestructuringandSevenYearPlanReports/2015%20Department%20of%20Revenue.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/Brochure%205.18.17.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee.php
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/Press_Release_Announcing_Public_Survey_1.23.18.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/Press_Release_Announcing_Public_Survey_1.23.18.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/LLR/Public_Survey_January_February_2018.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/LLR/Public_Survey_January_February_2018.PDF
https://www.research.net/r/ProvideInputtotheSCHouseLegislaitveOversightCommittee
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/LLR/Public_Survey_January_February_2018.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/LLR/Public_Survey_January_February_2018.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/DOR.php
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/ETV/Statewide%20Media%20Release%20Inviting%20the%20Public%20to%20Provide%20Testimony%20about%20Six%20Agencies%20Under%20Study%20(February%209,%202018).pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/ETV/Statewide%20Media%20Release%20Inviting%20the%20Public%20to%20Provide%20Testimony%20about%20Six%20Agencies%20Under%20Study%20(February%209,%202018).pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/ETV/Statewide%20Media%20Release%20Inviting%20the%20Public%20to%20Provide%20Testimony%20about%20Six%20Agencies%20Under%20Study%20(February%209,%202018).pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/3.1.18_Meeting_Minutes_HLOC_Full.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/3.1.18_Meeting_Minutes_HLOC_Full.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=7820
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/12.19.17_Meeting_Minutes_Full_Comm.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=7461
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/FullCommitteeMinutes/3.1.18_Meeting_Minutes_HLOC_Full.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=7820
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/EconomicSub/6.18.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf


55 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf (accessed September 18, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8454. Hereinafter, “6/18/18 Meeting Minutes and Video.” 
60 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Meeting Minutes” (July 10, 2018), under “Committee 
Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” and under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/EconomicSub/7.10.
18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf (accessed September 18, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8475. Hereinafter, “7/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video.” 
61 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Meeting Minutes” (August 13, 2018), under 
“Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” and 
under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/EconomicSub/8.13.
18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf  (accessed September 22, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8509. Hereinafter, “8/13/18 Meeting Minutes and Video.” 
62 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 28, 33-35. 
63 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Meeting Minutes” (September 10, 2018), under 
“Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” and 
under “Meetings,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_
EDTNR.pdf  (accessed October 5, 2018).  A video of the meeting is available at 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531. Hereinafter, “9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video.” 
64 The concerns were raised in Rep. Garry Smith’s emails to Meredith Cleland (DOR staff), which were copied to all House 
members and staff, on August 21 and August 29, 2018. 
65 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 27-35. 
66 Committee Standard Practice 14.1. 
67 Committee Standard Practice 14.2. 
68 9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video. 
69 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), p. 27. 
70 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “DOR Response to Subcommittee (July 31, 2018)” 
under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” 
and under “Correspondence,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/DOR_Response_7.
31.18.PDF (accessed September 19, 2018). Hereinafter, “DOR Response to Subcommittee (July 31, 2018)”; 
   9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video at 2:22:40; 
   Email correspondence between Virginia Wetzel (DOR staff) and Kendra Wilkerson (Legislative Oversight Committee staff), 
September 20, 2018. 
71 S.C. Code Ann. § 63-17-2320. 
72 9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video.  Members present at the time of this vote: Rep. Neal A. Collins, Rep. Robert L. Ridgeway, 
III, and Rep. Bruce W. Bannister. 
73 S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “DOR Response to Subcommittee (August 31, 2018)” 
under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under “Revenue, Department of,” 
and under “Correspondence,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/DOR_Response_to
_Follow-Up-8.31.18.PDF (accessed September 19, 2018). Hereinafter, “DOR Response to Subcommittee (August 31, 2018).” 
74 Telephone conversation between Kendra Wilkerson and Jennifer Dobson (Legislative Oversight Committee Staff) and Mark 
Hendrick (DEW Director of Governmental Affairs) and other DEW personnel, August 23, 2018. 
75 Examples of counties that provide free online access:  

Charleston (https://www.charlestoncounty.org/departments/rmc/index.php#deeds);  
Greenville (https://www.greenvillecounty.org/rod/searchrecords.aspx)  
Barnwell, Cherokee, Chesterfield, Edgefield, Georgetown, Hampton, Kershaw, Williamsburg 

(https://www.sclandrecords.com/sclr/)  
Spartanburg (http://search.spartanburgdeeds.com/)  
Lexington (http://www.lex-co.com/rod/public/viewer.aspx)  

     Example of county that charges for online access:  
Richland (http://www.richlandcountysc.gov/Online-Services/Online-Data-Services)  

76 DOR Response to Subcommittee (August 31, 2018). 
77 9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video. Members present at the time of this vote: Rep. Neal A. Collins, Rep. Robert L. Ridgeway, 
III, and Rep. Bruce W. Bannister. 
78 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), p. 31. 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 160

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/EconomicSub/6.18.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8454
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/EconomicSub/7.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/EconomicSub/7.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8475
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/EconomicSub/8.13.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/EconomicSub/8.13.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8509
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/DOR_Response_7.31.18.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/DOR_Response_7.31.18.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/DOR_Response_to_Follow-Up-8.31.18.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/DOR_Response_to_Follow-Up-8.31.18.PDF
https://www.charlestoncounty.org/departments/rmc/index.php#deeds
https://www.greenvillecounty.org/rod/searchrecords.aspx
https://www.sclandrecords.com/sclr/
http://search.spartanburgdeeds.com/
http://www.lex-co.com/rod/public/viewer.aspx
http://www.richlandcountysc.gov/Online-Services/Online-Data-Services
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/DOR_Response_to_Follow-Up-8.31.18.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF


56 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
79 S.C. Code Ann. 15-78-120. 
80 9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video at 2:33:55. 
81 9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video. Members present at the time of this vote: Rep. Neal A. Collins, Rep. Robert L. Ridgeway, 
III, and Rep. Bruce W. Bannister. 
82 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), p. 32. 
    See also: S.C. Code § 12-6-3377; 26 USCA § 30B 
83 9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video. Members present at the time of this vote: Rep. Neal A. Collins, Rep. Robert L. Ridgeway, 
III, and Rep. Bruce W. Bannister. 
84 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 7-8; 33; 
     S.C. House of Representatives, House Legislative Oversight Committee, “Revision: Agency Law Recommendation #7 
(September 6, 2018)” under “Committee Postings and Reports,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee,” under 
“Revenue, Department of,” and under “Other Reports, Reviews, and Audits,” 
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.6.18_PER_Revisi
on-Rec7.PDF (accessed September 19, 2018). 
     9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video at 2:45:00. 
85 9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video. Members present at the time of this vote: Rep. Neal A. Collins, Rep. Robert L. Ridgeway, 
III, and Rep. Bruce W. Bannister. 
86 S.C. Department of Revenue, “MyDORWAY,” https://mydorway.dor.sc.gov/_/ (Accessed September 19, 2018); 
    Agency PER (May 31, 2018), p. 2. 
87 7/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video at 00:27:30. 
88 9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video at 2:52:40. 
89 9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video. Members present at the time of this vote: Rep. Neal A. Collins, Rep. Robert L. Ridgeway, 
III, and Rep. Bruce W. Bannister. 
90 Agency PER (May 31, 2018), pp. 31-32; 
     9/10/18 Meeting Minutes and Video. 

 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 161

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.6.18_PER_Revision-Rec7.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.6.18_PER_Revision-Rec7.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://mydorway.dor.sc.gov/_/
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/SubcommitteeMinutes/EconomicSub/7.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8475
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/PER-CompletePDF-DOR.PDF
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyWebpages/DOR/9.10.18_Minutes_EDTNR.pdf
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/video/archives.php?key=8531


Committee Mission
Determine if agency laws and programs are being implemented and carried out in 
accordance with the intent of the General Assembly and whether they should be 

continued, curtailed or eliminated. Inform the public about state agencies.

Website: http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/
HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee.php

Phone Number: 803-212-6810

Email Address: HCommLegOv@schouse.gov

Location: Blatt Building, Room 228
 
 

LOC Meeting Packet 10.23.18, Page 162

http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee.php
mailto:HCommLegOv@schouse.gov

	Contents
	Agenda
	Minutes from Previous Meeting
	DDSN Subcommittee Study
	Contents
	Agency Snapshot
	Figure 1.  Snapshot of agency that includes its history, mission, resources, successes, challenges, and emerging issues. Challenges, successes, and emerging issues presented are identified by the agency.0F

	Executive Summary
	Purpose of Oversight Study
	Study Process
	Figure 2.  Summary of key dates and actions of the study process.

	Recommendations
	Table 1.  Summary of recommendations arising from the study process.


	Agency Overview
	History
	Legal Obligations
	Statute
	Regulation

	Purpose, Mission, and Vision
	Purpose
	Mission
	Vision

	Agency Organization
	Governing Body
	Table 2.  Agency commission members (current as of September 20, 2018).

	Agency Organizational Units
	Table 3.  DDSN organizational units (current as of May 2017).

	Organizational Chart
	Figure 3.  Organizational chart provided by the agency.  (Current as of October 5, 2018).22F

	Internal Audit Process
	Provider Network Structure
	Table 4.  Characteristics of county-based local DSN boards and private qualified providers.
	Figure 4.  System organization.


	Strategic Resource Allocation and Performance
	Goal 1: Prevent disabilities and ameliorate impact of disabilities
	Table 5.  Goal one (Prevent disabilities and ameliorate impact of disabilities) 2015-16 consumers served, FTEs, and amount spent; 2016-17 FTEs and amount budgeted.
	Table 6.  Goal one associated performance measures.

	Goal 2: Provide services in community integrated and least restrictive settings and promote individual independence
	Table 7.  Goal two (Provide services in community integrated and least restrictive settings and promote individual independence) 2015-16 consumers served, FTEs, and amount spent; 2016-17 FTEs and amount budgeted.
	Table 8.  Goal two associated performance measures.

	Goal 3 Protect health, safety, and welfare of individuals served
	Table 9.  Goal three (Protect health, safety, and welfare of individuals served) 2015-16 consumers served, FTEs, and amount spent; 2016-17 FTEs and amount budgeted.
	Table 10.  Goal three associated performance measures.

	Goal 4: Meet the needs of the maximum number of eligible individuals through efficient and effective use of available resources
	Table 11.  Goal 4 (Meet the needs of the maximum number of eligible individuals through efficient and effective use of available resources) 2015-16 consumers served, FTEs, and amount spent; 2016-17 FTEs and amount budgeted.
	Table 12.  Goal 4 associated performance measures.

	Human Resources
	Table 13.  DDSN Authorized FTE Positions (FY 2013-FY 2017).
	Table 14.  DDSN Actual FTE Positions (FY 2013-FY 2017).
	Table 15.  DDSN Filled FTE Positions (FY 2013-FY 2017).
	Figure 5.  Total Authorized and Filled FTEs (FY 2013-FY 2017).
	Figure 6.  Total Filled FTEs and Total Salary Associated with FTEs (FY 2013-FY 2017).



	Study Process
	Agency Selection
	Subcommittee Membership
	Agency Reports to Legislative Oversight Committee
	Restructuring Report
	Seven-Year Plan for Cost Savings and Increased Efficiencies
	Program Evaluation Report

	Information from the Public
	Public Survey
	Figure 7.  Public opinion of DDSN from public survey.

	Public Input via Committee Website
	Public Input via In-Person Testimony

	Meetings Regarding the Agency
	122nd General Assembly (2017-2018)
	January 2017
	March 2017
	September 2017
	October 2017
	November 2017
	February 2018
	July 2018
	August 2018

	Study Process Completion

	Recommendations
	Selected Agency Information
	Appendices
	Appendix A.  Statutory Change Recommendations
	Appendix B.  Agency Recommendations Received for Information Purposes Only
	Recommendations Internal Changes Included in PER
	1. Internal Change: Evaluation of Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation (ANE) reporting and follow up system.
	2. Internal Change: Changes to the Tracking and Reporting of Critical Incidents
	3. Internal Change: Direct Service Operations – DDSN to develop and directly operate six small community based group homes for eighteen individuals with significant behavioral challenges.
	4. Internal Change: Plan Review and Service Authorization - Move the approval of the Case Management Annual Support Plan and Medicaid Waiver Service Requests away from Case Management providers and to the DDSN Central Office.
	5. Internal Change: DDSN Outcome-based Provider Evaluation
	Agency Recommendations for Regulatory Changes (PER Addendum, October 8, 2017)
	1. License requirement for facilities and programs
	2. Scope
	3. Recreational Camp
	4. Applications for License
	5. Waivers
	6. Definitions
	7. Recreational Camps for Persons with Intellectual Disability.
	8. Personnel
	9. Evaluations
	10. Programs
	11. Records
	12. Application for License of an Unclassified Program.
	13. Determination by the Department.
	Additional Agency Recommendations for Internal Changes (submitted August 2018)


	Member Statement
	The Honorable Phyllis J. Henderson Member Statement for the Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee Study of the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs


	DOR Subcommittee Study
	Contents
	Agency Snapshot
	Figure 1.  Snapshot of agency’s history, mission, organizational units, Fiscal Year 2017-18 resources, successes, and challenges.

	Executive Summary
	Purpose of Oversight Study
	Figure 2.  Summary of key dates and actions of the study process.

	Recommendations
	Table 1.  Summary of recommendations arising from the study process.


	Agency Overview
	History
	Creation of the Tax Commission
	Evolution of the Tax Commission
	Reorganization of the Tax Commission
	Creation of the Department of Revenue

	Purpose, Mission, and Vision
	Agency Organization
	Governing Body
	Table 2.  DOR directors since 1995, as reported by DOR in its PER.

	Agency Organizational Units
	Figure 3.  DOR divisions.  (Current as of June 18, 2018.)
	Table 3.  Employee information by major program, as reported by DOR.
	Table 4.  Division information, as reported by DOR.

	Organizational Chart
	Figure 3.  Organizational chart provided by the agency.  (Current as of May 31, 2018.)

	Internal Audit Process

	Legal Obligations
	Table 5.  Summary of laws applicable to DOR, as provided by the agency in its PER.

	Customers
	Strategic Resource Allocation and Performance
	Table 6.  Goal 1 (Fairly administer and enforce the revenue and regulatory laws of the state of South Carolina): Allocation of resources, as reported by DOR in its PER.
	Table 7.  Goal 1: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER.
	Table 8.  Goal 2 (Ensure taxpayer security by utilizing state-of-the-art technology): Allocation of resources, as reported by DOR in its PER.
	Table 9.  Goal 2: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER.
	Table 10.  Goal 3 (Maintain a positive customer service experience for all stakeholders): Allocation of resources, as reported by DOR in its PER.
	Table 11.  Goal 3: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER.
	Table 12.  Goal 4 (Promote and maintain a competent, productive, and diverse workforce): Allocation of resources, as reported by DOR in its PER.
	Table 13.  Goal 4: Performance measures, as reported by DOR in its PER.


	Study Process
	Agency Selection
	Subcommittee Membership
	Agency Reports to Legislative Oversight Committee
	Restructuring Report
	Seven-Year Plan for Cost Savings and Increased Efficiencies
	Program Evaluation Report

	Information from the Public
	Public Survey
	Figure 4.  January 2018 public survey respondent opinion of DOR.

	Public Input via Committee Website
	Public Input via In-Person Testimony

	Meetings Regarding the Agency
	122nd General Assembly (2017-2018)
	December 2017
	March 2018
	June 2018
	July 2018
	August 2018
	September 2018


	Study Process Completion

	Recommendations
	General Information
	Continue
	Table 14.  Summary of recommendations arising from the study process.
	Recommendation 1
	Recommendation 2
	Recommendation 3
	Recommendation 4
	Recommendation 5
	Recommendation 6

	Curtail and Eliminate

	Selected Agency Information
	Appendix: Additional Information
	Contact Information
	Endnotes

	Contact Information



